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February 14, 2025 
 
Honorable Chairman Anthony Rodriguez 
Honorable Members of the Board of County Commissioners 
Honorable Daniella Levine Cava, Mayor 
Juan Fernandez-Barquin, Esq., Clerk of Courts and Comptroller 
Residents of Miami-Dade County 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 
The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report of the Miami-Dade Aviation Department (Aviation Department or 
MDAD) for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, is hereby submitted.  Responsibility for both the accuracy 
and completeness and fairness of presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the Aviation Department.   
To provide a reasonable basis for making these representations, management of the Aviation Department has 
established a comprehensive internal control framework that is designed both to protect the government’s assets 
from loss, theft, or misuse and to compile sufficient reliable information for the preparation of the Aviation 
Department’s financial statements in conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP).  Because 
the cost of internal controls should not outweigh their benefits, the Aviation Department’s comprehensive 
framework of internal controls has been designed to provide reasonable rather than absolute assurance that the 
financial statements will be free from material misstatement.  This report presents fairly, and discloses fully, in all 
material respects, the financial position and results of operations of the Aviation Department.  
 
The Aviation Department is also required to be audited in accordance with the provisions of the Single Audit Act of 
1984 and the Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200 Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, Audits of States, Local Governments and Non-Profit 
Organizations, and the Florida Single Audit Act requirement.  Information related to the single audit, including the 
schedule of expenditures of federal awards and state financial assistance, schedule of findings and questioned 
costs, and the reports of independent auditor, are reported under a separate cover.   
 
GAAP requires that management provide a narrative overview and analysis to accompany the financial statements 
in the form of Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A).  This letter of transmittal should be read in 
conjunction with the MD&A, which can be found immediately following the report of the independent auditor in 
the Financial Section of this report. 
 

Profile Overview  
 
The Aviation Department operates as an enterprise fund of Miami-Dade County (the County).  An enterprise fund 
is used to account for the financing of services to the general public on a continuing basis with costs recovered 
primarily through user charges.  The County owns Miami International Airport (MIA or the Airport), three general 
aviation airports, and one training airport (collectively - “the Airport System”), all of which are operated by the 
Aviation Department.  
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The County operates the Airport System through the Aviation Department with policy guidance from the Mayor 
and the Board of County Commissioners of Miami-Dade County, Florida (the Board).

 

Economic Conditions and Outlook 
 

MIA, Americas busiest airport for international freight and the second busiest for international passengers, is the 
leading economic engine for Miami-Dade County and the State of Florida’s top economic driver.  The most recent 
economic impact study indicated that MIA and the four general aviation airports in the Miami area, together 
generated business revenue of approximately $118 billion state-wide and supported nearly 700,000 direct, 
indirect, induced, and related jobs across Florida. 
 
The Airport stimulates a host of industries such as tourism, the cruise industry, and international banking and 
commerce.  In terms of trade, the most recent Department of Commerce data showed that the Airport handled 
90% of the dollar value of the State’s total air imports and exports, and 40% of the State’s total air and sea trade 
with the world.  In 2018, MDAD gained final approval from the U.S. Department of Commerce to designate MIA as 
a Foreign Trade Zone (FTZ) magnet site creating new synergies and opportunities for on-airport businesses, and in 
2023, LATAM Airlines Group became the first approved operator within MIA’s FTZ magnet site.  MIA also became 
the first International Air Transport Association (IATA) designated “Pharma Hub Airport” in North America for 
developing a Center of Excellence for Independent Validators (CEIV) community of companies.  This designation 
underscores MIA’s leading role as both a safe and efficient global logistics hub for high-value, temperature-
sensitive pharmaceuticals.  Working with MIA, a total of nine companies have obtained the IATA CEIV pharma 
certification.  
 
MIA offers an extensive air service network, enhanced by multiple daily scheduled and non-scheduled flights to 
over 79 domestic and 107 international destinations.  It’s the premier international gateway to Florida and a major 
transshipment point by air for the Americas.  During calendar year 2023, the most recent year for which such 
information is available, the Airport handled nearly 60% of Florida’s total international passenger traffic, 82% of all 
air imports and 76% of all air exports between the USA and the Latin American/Caribbean region.  MIA’s stronghold 
market, the Latin America/Caribbean region, was served by more passenger flights from the airport than from any 
other U.S. airport.   
  
Ranked number one among the fastest growing hub-airport in the U.S. and the eighth busiest airport in the U.S., 
MIA handled 52.3 million total passengers in calendar year 2023, up 3.3% or 1.6 million passengers over the 
previous year’s record of 50.7 million travelers.  International traffic grew 8.5% to 23.2 million passengers, while 
domestic traffic, which fell slightly by 0.6%, accounted for 29.1 million travelers.  Cargo operations also surged to 
a new high of 2.8 million tons in calendar year 2023, up 1.0% or 28,395 tons over 2022.  Domestic freight grew 
7.6% to 0.6 million tons while internationally, freight tonnage fell 0.5% to 2.2 million tons.  
 
The airport is trending towards another record-breaking year, and to keep pace with long-term forecasted growth, 
MIA will invest an unprecedented $9.0 billion in capital improvements over the next 15 years, including $1.7 billion 
in maintenance upgrades, paving the way for future growth in passenger and cargo traffic, projected to reach  
77 million travelers and more than 4 million tons of freight by 2040.  Through the Modernization in Action (M.I.A.) 
Plan, infrastructure such as roofs, passenger boarding bridges, public access restrooms, elevators, moving 
walkways, and escalators are being renovated in phases over the next 5-7 years.  Additionally, public-private 
partnership agreements were executed to build a new privately funded 450-room, $240 million Westin Hotel 
connected to the North Terminal and a Vertically Integrated Cargo Community (VICC). The MIA VICC, a four-level, 
highly automated, and robotic-powered cargo warehouse will house 1.4 million square feet of cargo processing 
space, and the facility which will include 10 aircraft parking positions with hydrant fueling is expected to handle  
1.8 million metric tons of cargo.  
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Passenger Activity 
 
During fiscal year 2024, 55.7 million passengers travelled through MIA, an 8.0% increase compared to fiscal year 
2023, and an all-time high for the Airport.  Domestic traffic increased by 7.3% to 30.8 million or 55.2% of the total 
traffic.  International traffic accounted for 44.8% of the traffic or 24.9 million passengers, an increase of 9.0% over 
the prior fiscal year.  The phenomenal passenger growth rate for the third consecutive year was largely due to 
American Airlines, MIA’s hub carrier, which handled 31.1 million passengers in fiscal year 2024, and increased its 
year-over-year seat capacity by 10% during the 2023 winter season.  American Airlines accounted for 55.9% of the 
enplaned passengers at the Airport during fiscal year 2024, and together with its affiliate, Envoy (previously known 
as American Eagle Airlines), approximately 60.2% of all enplaned passengers during such period.  The Airport is 
American Airlines’ largest international hub operation, for international passengers, and in calendar year 2023, MIA 
was ranked second in the U.S. behind New York’s John F. Kennedy Airport for international passengers.     
 
Delta Air Lines also expanded its service and continues to be the second largest carrier at MIA, representing 
approximately 7.0% of the enplaned passenger traffic.  MIA also added ten new routes and welcomed five new 
carriers during fiscal year 2024, expanding its portfolio to 96 passenger and cargo airlines, the highest among all 
U.S. airports.   
 
Cargo Activity 
 
MIA remains the number one airport in the U.S. for international freight.  In fiscal year 2024, cargo (mail and freight) 
tonnage totaled 2.9 million tons, resulting in an increase of 5.3%.  Cargo activity generates different types of 
revenues for the Aviation Department including landing fees, cargo warehouse rentals, aircraft apron rentals, and 
ground rentals.  Cargo carriers represented 25% of the landed weight in fiscal year 2024, which is a slight decrease 
from the 25.7% in the prior fiscal year. 
 

Airline Agreements 
 
In August 2018, the County entered into separate but identical Airline Use Agreements (AUA) with the airlines using 
MIA.  The AUA, which is a 15-year agreement expiring in 2033, provides that the County, acting through its Board 
of County Commissioners, has the right to calculate landing fees using an airport system residual cost methodology 
so that the revenues from landing fees, together with revenues from other sources, will be sufficient to meet the 
rate covenant and other requirements. 
 
Under the 2018 AUA, there were two significant changes: (i) all fees associated with international arriving 
passengers will be charged under an International Facility Fee and will no longer be recovered through the base 
Concourse Use Fee, and (ii) preferential gate assignment and usage will be allowed for airlines that meet certain 
operational qualifications and all non-preferentially use gates will continue to be common use gates. The 
International Facility Fee and Preferential Gate Use Fee took effect on October 1, 2019, and October 1, 2020, 
respectively. 
 
The County has entered into separate but substantially similar Terminal Building Lease Agreements with its airline 
tenants.  Under these agreements, airlines have no obligations to make real property investments in tenant 
improvements to their premises and in personal property to support their operations.  
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    Passenger Facility Charges (PFC) 
 
The Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) authorized the Aviation Department to impose a Passenger Facility 
Charge (PFC) of $3 per passenger commencing November 1, 1994.  Subsequently, on October 21, 2001, the FAA 
approved a revised PFC collection level of $4.50 with an effective date of January 1, 2002.  In December 2002, the 
FAA approved a PFC application that enables the Aviation Department to use PFC revenues to pay debt service 
related to the bonds that were issued to finance the construction of the North and South Terminals at MIA. 
 
Per FAA regulations, net receipts from PFCs are restricted to use only on these FAA approved capital projects and 
related financing costs.  The Aviation Department has been authorized to collect PFCs in the estimated aggregate 
amount of approximately $2.7 billion including interest.  The authorization is expected to expire October 1, 2039.  
The amount of PFC collections from inception through September 30, 2024, was approximately $1.9 billion and 
with interest, approximately $2.0 billion.  Of this amount, the Aviation Department has expended $1.7 billion, and 
as of September 30, 2024, the Aviation Department had a cash balance of $285.8 million in the PFC account.  

 
    Capital Projects 
 

In fiscal year 2015, the Aviation Department created a near to mid-term Capital Improvement Program (CIP) that 
addressed facilities in need of renovations.  The CIP started with an approved budget of $0.7 billion through a 
Majority-In-Interest (MII) review process (by a majority of the 11 Signatory Airlines that represent the MIA 
Signatory Airlines as members of the Miami Airport Affairs Committee) in July 2015.  As a result of the Airport’s 
changing needs and long-term forecasted passenger and cargo growth, MDAD increased the CIP to $7.5 billion in 
fiscal year 2024, through several MII review processes held between 2017 and 2024, and exempt projects that do 
not meet the requirements for an MII need.  Grouped into twenty-four (24) subprograms, the CIP currently includes 
over 220 future-ready projects created to address the airport’s future capacity and operational needs.  
 
The map below depicts the locations of third-party developments and key MIA projects included in MDAD’s 
adopted capital budget and multi-year capital plan: 
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The terminal projects are designed to expand and modernize the facilities, optimize aircraft parking, improve 
aesthetics, and meet current life-safety, maintenance, and security requirements.  Projects such as the renovation 
of Concourse E, including Satellite E and Concourse D and E connector, revamping of the Automated People Mover 
connecting Lower Concourse E and Satellite E, installation of a new Automated Checked Bag Inspection System in 
South and Central Terminals, renovation of Concourse E Federal Inspection Services (FIS) and Customs and Border 
Protection processing areas, and ticket counter renovations in Concourse G and H are complete. Among the 
projects planned or underway are: 
 

Concourse D West Extension and Gate Optimization – Concourse D gates will be renovated to accommodate 
additional wide-and narrow-body aircraft, as well as larger regional jets.  The projects include: 
 

• A three-level expansion of the existing regional commuter facility at Gate D-60 to facilitate larger aircrafts and 
provide adequate hold room space.  

• Reconfiguration of 17 ground-boarding handstand gates to 19 contact gates with boarding bridges, of which 
16 will continue to serve narrow body aircraft.  The gates will also be upgraded to integrate cutting edge 
biometric boarding technology, allowing passengers to board international flights with the touchless click of a 
camera. 

• A new boarding area and expanded baggage system, additional Skytrain vehicles, apron fueling system 
adjustments, and upgrading of air systems. 

 
South Terminal and Apron Extension – With an estimated cost of $746 million, this project includes a three-level 
expansion of the South Terminal to the east (Concourse K).  It will increase post-security concessions space and 
add six domestic narrow-body aircraft gates with their associated hold rooms and facilities along with three 
handstands position.  The new facility will include: 
 

• New baggage systems and connections to the existing Central and South Terminals baggage screening system.  

• Shell space along the third level for future club/lounges and future sterile circulation that will connect to the 
South Terminal FIS processing area, allowing MDAD in the future to convert three of the initial domestic gates 
to international arrival capable positions.  

• A new General Support Equipment (GSE) facility along with its associated parking, replacing the existing South 
terminal GSE that currently sits within the new apron/handstand limits.  

 

This project is in the bidding phase and groundbreaking is expected in 2025, with an estimated completion date in 
Fall 2029.  
 
Central Terminal Redevelopment - Phase 1 of the Central Terminal redevelopment project is scheduled for 
completion in 2031 at an estimated cost of $373 million.  The four-level expansion includes a post-security corridor 
that will provide secure and sterile interconnectivity between Concourse E and F and increase the number of post 
security concessions.  Phase 2 of the project is scheduled for completion in 2033 at an estimated cost of  
$372 million, and includes: 
 

• Renovation and improvements to the main terminal areas between Concourse E and F. 

• Elevating the existing ceiling and roof to bring natural light into the center of the existing terminal. 

• A new vertical circulation core with escalators and elevators. 

• Consolidation of the existing TSA checkpoints in Concourse E and F into a new centralized checkpoint, rerouting 
passenger circulation and increasing the square footage of post-security concessions.  

• Renovation of the second level departure curbside façade, blending appearance from North to South. 
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Flamingo Garage Expansion - In February 2024, MIA broke ground for a new state-of-the-art, seven-level,  
2,240 space parking garage, increasing the airport’s capacity for passengers and employees to over 10,400 spaces.  
The $136 million facility, scheduled for completion by the end of 2025, will include high-tech tracking systems to 
monitor traffic flow and elevator movement, vehicular and pedestrian connections to the existing Flamingo garage, 
electric vehicle charging stations, 34 spaces for oversized vehicles, energy-efficient LED lighting fixtures throughout, 
and a Parksmart Silver Certification design, the global certification program that defines, measures, and recognizes 
high performing, sustainable garages.   
 
Airport-Wide Restroom Modernization - This modernization project includes the renovation of 203 public access 
restrooms located on all three levels of MIA’s terminal and concourses.  Phase 1, which includes renovation of  
10 restrooms in Concourse H is complete and phase 2, scheduled for completion in Fall 2026, is moving forward 
with most of the first sets of 52 restrooms in Central, North and South Terminals already completed and in use, 
and the remaining under construction.  A third phase of 141 restrooms is under design and is scheduled for 
completion over the next 6 years.  So far 48 bathrooms have been fully renovated and open to the public. 
 
Passenger Boarding Bridges and Conveyance Units Replacement – A modernization plan is underway to fully rebuild 
or replace the 616 conveyance units (escalators, elevators and moving walkways) at MIA.  Elevators have been 
prioritized with 8 completed, 32 upgraded and another 38 under contract.  Similarly, all 126 passenger boarding 
bridges throughout the terminal will be replaced, including the design, fabrication, transportation, and installation 
of pre-conditioned air units, baggage chutes, and ground support equipment for each boarding bridge.  The first 
32 bridges from phase 1, including two glass bridges, have been installed and another ten, that will be all-glass 
designs, are under contract, and it is estimated that all 126 bridges will be replaced within the next 6 to 7 years.  
 
Terminal-Wide Roof Replacement and Lighting Upgrades – Over the next 5 years, all 450,000 square feet of existing 
terminal roof will be replaced, drainage and lighting systems will be improved, and solar panels will be installed on 
the roofs.  The project is expected to begin in the first quarter of 2026. 
 
Airfield/Airside, Cargo and Non-Terminal Buildings, Landside/Roadways and Fuel Facilities - Outside the Terminal 
buildings, the CIP also contemplates major improvements under various sub-programs, with key projects such as:  
 

• Installation of advanced visual guidance docking system at the gates, an innovative device that automatically 
guides the pilot to park without the need of an aircraft marshal.  

• Runway 9-27 rehabilitation and widening to include lighting and lighting infrastructure upgrades, and 
implementation of Runway Incursion Mitigation Hot Spot 5 to leverage Geographical Information System 
runway incursion data.  This project is currently under design. 

• Demolition and replacement of buildings, office and tenant relocations, and apron and airside improvements. 

• Construction of a new GSE facility for the North Terminal to house GSE operators and maintenance functions 
for American Airlines. 

• Building 702 apron and airside improvements to convert facility from belly cargo to a freight cargo facility. 

• Exterior cladding of the parking garages. 

• Construction a new perimeter road bridge over the Tamiami Canal, changing the configuration from a single 
lane in each direction to double lanes in each direction. 

• Installation of security fence, including concrete barrier, on the south side of the Airport. 

• Design and construction of two additional 95,600 gallons fuel tank at MIA’s fuel storage facility. 
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General Aviation Airports – Projects include: 
 

• Rehabilitation of Runway 9-27 at Miami-Opa Locka Executive Airport (OPF), including pavement reconstruction 
and airfield-lighting system renovation.  Also, at OPF, construction of a jet blast detection fence and a run-up 
pad, ensuring safety and effectiveness during routine aircraft maintenance activities. 

• New Air Operations Area (AOA) fence at Miami-Homestead General Aviation Airport (X51), as well as additional 
security enhancements such as new access controls, high mast lighting, security cameras, and airside to 
landside gates.   

• Runway Incursion Mitigation (RIM) at Miami Executive Airport (TMB), which is complete.  Taxiways and 
runways on the south side of TMB were reconfigured to improve traffic and mitigate current flight pattern 
conflicts between Runway 9R-27L and Runway 13-31.  

• Expansion of the south apron at TMB for a new taxi lane and construction of a new 130-foot-high Air Traffic 
Control Tower funded by the FAA. 

 
Other critical projects included in the CIP are acquiring land east and west of the Airport as it become available to 
facilitate MIA’s expansion, rehabilitation of bridges throughout the airport for structural safety, recertification of 
114 buildings in accordance with County Code Section 8-11(f), which is in progress, replacement and/or 
refurbishment of all elevators, escalators, and moving walkways at MIA, many of which are over 40 years, also in 
progress, a study to determine future electrical needs throughout MIA, installation of grease and oil separators at 
MIA terminal, installation of a $6.2 million perimeter intrusion detection system (funded by the Transportation 
Security Administration), which detects unauthorized movement along the fence line in real time, and 
refurbishment or replacement of electrical and mechanical systems throughout MIA, to ensure long-term 
sustainability and safety of the Airport’s infrastructure. 
 
In June 2015, the Aviation Department issued $75.0 million in Aviation Revenue Bonds under the Trust Agreement 
to begin the bond financing portion (including financing costs) of the CIP.  In May 2019, the Aviation Department 
issued $282.2 million in Aviation Revenue Bonds to continue to fund the CIP.  Most of the proceeds were used to 
pay off $170 million in outstanding Aviation Commercial Paper Notes for the Commercial Paper program that 
expired on March 2, 2021.  In March 2021, the Aviation Department issued $200 million in Aviation Commercial 
Paper Notes for the purpose of providing temporary funding for the CIP. 
 
Tenant Financed Facilities 
 
The Aviation Department has decided, as a matter of policy, to permit tenants of airside facilities to construct some 
buildings with private financing or private funding.  Accordingly, certain hangars and cargo facilities (including those 
for Federal Express, UPS, LAN Airlines, and Centurion Air Cargo) have been constructed with private financing.  
Ownership to improvements constructed by a tenant is typically retained in the tenant’s name for a stated period 
of time or until expiration of the lease agreement.  If the tenant remains in possession following either of these 
dates, the tenant is obligated to pay building rent in addition to ground rent or depending on the condition of the 
improvements, MDAD reserves the right to require the tenant to demolish the improvement(s).

 
Major Initiatives and Long-Term Financial Planning  
 
In 2019, the Aviation Department unveiled its proposed future CIP, which was approved by the Board of County 
Commissioners on June 4, 2019.  Over the years, the CIP has grown to a long-term and bigger program designed to 
address all the airport’s future capacity and operational needs.  The CIP will fund twenty-four (24) sub-programs 
that will be constructed over a period of 5-15 years through 2035 and beyond and the program has been structured 
to facilitate the “phasing in” and “phasing out” of capital projects in order to adjust to emerging airline needs or 
changing conditions, and to allow for the utilization of MIA during construction.   
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To create the projects under these sub-programs, an in-depth assessment of the County's Airport System (including 
general aviation airports) considered factors such as demand for growth, operational needs (airside, landside, 
cargo, and terminal) and funding capacity.  Recommendations from the Aviation Department’s Supplemental 
Airport Master Planning (“SMP”) Study completed in 2020 was also incorporated into the development of projects 
under the sub-programs.  The SMP addressed the 20-year capacity and operational needs for the Airport and the 
County’s four general aviation airports and evaluated MIA’s longer-range needs for a strategic planning horizon 
that extended to 2050.  The SMP Study refined the Aviation Department’s overall approach to implementing the 
long-term capital needs for its airports, so as to continue providing a high level of service to the surrounding 
communities. 
 
Impacted by the airport’s current urgent needs, post-COVID market conditions, escalation costs, and inflationary 
pressures, the fiscal year 2025 Adopted Capital Budget and Multi-Year Capital Plan totals $7.5 billion, of which 
$459.6 million will be spent in fiscal year 2025.  The CIP includes projects and funding sources from fiscal year 2015 
through fiscal year 2035, and concurrent with the development of the CIP, the Aviation Department is in the 
process of defining new projects and funding sources to grow the program.  The funding sources for planned capital 
improvement expenditures are allocated as follows (in thousands):  

Capital Budget FY 2025 Multi-Year Capital Plan

Sources of Funds Amount Percent Amount Percent

Debt Proceeds 53,416$           11.6 % 657,876$        8.8 %

Aviation Operating Funds -                         -                         2,172               0.0 %

Passenger Facility Charge 12,791             2.8 % 160,895           2.2 %

Federal Grants 27,218             5.9 % 496,240           6.6 %

State Grants -                         -                         107,855           1.5 %

Inprovement Fund 57,752             12.6 % 140,276           1.9 %

Claims Construction Fund 1,122               0.3 % 9,395               0.1 %

Reserve Maintenance Fund 175,662           38.2 % 508,620           6.8 %

Future Financing 131,667           28.6 % 5,383,240       72.1 %

Total 459,628$        100.0 % 7,466,569$     100.0 %

 
Fiscal year 2024 was a historical year of accomplishments at MIA.  In the U.S., MIA was number one for international 
freight, number two for international passengers, second only to JFK Airport, number three for total cargo, number 
nine for total aircraft operations, and number ten for total passengers.  Other noteworthy achievements included 
strategic land and office building acquisitions, groundbreaking for the new state-of-the-art parking garage, 
rehabilitation of taxiways R, S, and T, extension of taxiway R, replacement of ticket counters between Concourse F 
and H, integration of cutting-edge biometric boarding technology at all 60 gates in Concourse D, modernization of 
38 conveyance units and 48 restrooms, and the installation of 32 passenger boarding bridges, including two glass 
bridges, across the airport. 
 
Over 40 projects are scheduled to commence in fiscal year 2025, including checkpoint upgrades to add the latest 
technology designed to streamline the screening process, modernization of the North Terminal public restrooms, 
recertifications of buildings to bring them to code, AAR hangar expansion to add a fourth maintenance bay and 
supporting shop space, and the design of Concourse D gates and the new four-level Central Terminal.  It is also 
estimated that 48 of the 61 projects underway will be completed in 2025, including but not limited to, replacement 
of passenger boarding bridges in Concourse E, Central Base Apron expansion, building recertifications and 
demolition at MIA, rehabilitation of Runway 9L/27R at OPF, and the security enhancements at X51.   

 
On July 8, 2020, the Board of County Commissioners approved an ordinance authorizing issuance of not to exceed 
$5 billion aggregate principal amount of Miami-Dade County, Florida, Aviation Revenue Bonds.  As of September 
30, 2024, the Aviation Department has the entire $5 billion authorized available.  The Department is planning on 
issuing approximately $500 million of Aviation Revenue Bonds by the end of March 2025.   
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Independent Audit 
 
The financial statements for fiscal year 2024 were audited by Cherry Bekaert LLP, and the opinion resulting from 
their audit is included in this Annual Comprehensive Financial Report.  Their audit was made in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial 
audits contained in Government Auditing Standards. 

 
    Awards 

 
The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of 
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the Department for its Annual Comprehensive Financial 
Report for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023.  The Certificate of Achievement is a prestigious national award 
recognizing conformance with the highest standards for preparation of state and local government financial 
reports.  
 
In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, the Department was required to publish an easily readable 
and efficiently organized Annual Comprehensive Financial Report.  This Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
must satisfy both accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and applicable legal requirements.    
 
A Certificate of Achievement is valid for one year only.  The Department has received a Certificate of Achievement 
for the last 32 consecutive fiscal years (1992-2023).  It believes the current report continues to conform to the 
Certificate of Achievement program requirements, and as such it is being submitted to GFOA.
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Report of Independent Auditor 
 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members 
The Board of County Commissioners 
Miami-Dade County 
Miami, Florida 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Miami-Dade County Aviation Department 
(“Aviation Department”), an enterprise fund of Miami-Dade County, Florida (the “County”), as of and for the years 
ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements as listed in the table of 
contents. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Aviation Department as of September 30, 2024 and 2023, and the changes in its financial position 
and cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America, and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by 
the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to 
be independent of the County and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical 
requirements relating to our audits. We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
As discussed in Note 1.a., the financial statements present only the Aviation Department and do not purport to, 
and do not, present fairly the financial position of the County as of September 30, 2024 and 2023, the changes in 
its financial position, or, where applicable, its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this 
matter. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and, therefore, is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are 
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence 
the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
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In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing 
Standards, we: 
 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Aviation Department’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters that 
we identified during the audit. 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis and required supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents, be presented 
to supplement the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a 
part of the financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to 
be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the financial statements in an appropriate operational, 
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary 
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which 
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express 
an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Information 
Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other information is comprised 
of the introductory and statistical sections but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information, and we do not express an 
opinion or any form of assurance thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and consider 
whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the financial statements, or the other 
information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work performed, we conclude that an 
uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated February 14, 2025, on 
our consideration of the Aviation Department’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, and other matters. The 
purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Aviation 
Department’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Aviation Department’s internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
Tampa, Florida 
February 14, 2025 
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Introduction 
 
The following discussion and analysis of the financial performance and activity of the Miami-Dade County Aviation 
Department (the Aviation Department) is to provide an introduction and understanding of the financial statements 
of the Aviation Department for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023. This discussion has been prepared 
by management and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and the notes thereto, which 
follow this section. 
 
The Aviation Department operates an airport system consisting of Miami International Airport (“MIA”), four general 
aviation airports: Miami-Opa Locka Executive Airport, Miami Homestead General Aviation Airport, Miami 
Executive Airport, and the Dade-Collier Training and Transition Airport. 
 
The Aviation Department operates as an enterprise fund of Miami-Dade County, Florida (the “County”). The 
Aviation Department is self-supporting, using aircraft landing fees, fees from terminal and other rentals, and 
revenue from concessions to fund operating expenses. The Board of County Commissioners approved a Capital 
Improvement Program (“CIP”) on June 4, 2019, that is primarily funded by bonds, federal and state grants, 
Passenger Facility Charges (“PFC”), and monies set aside from the Reserve Maintenance Fund and Improvement 
Fund. The CIP will fund twenty sub-programs that will be built during the period of 5 to 15 years through 2035 and 
beyond.  
 
Required Financial Statements 
 
The Aviation Department’s financial report includes three financial statements: the statement of net position, 
statement of revenue, expenses, and changes in net position, and statement of cash flows. The financial 
statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles as promulgated by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”). The Aviation Department is structured as a single 
enterprise fund with revenue recognized when earned and expenses recognized when incurred. Capital asset 
costs, with the exception of land and construction in progress, are capitalized and depreciated over their estimated 
useful lives. Certain net position balances are restricted for debt service, construction activities, and major 
maintenance-type activities. 
 
The statement of net position includes all of the Aviation Department’s assets, deferred outflows of resources, 
liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources, and provides information about the nature and amounts of 
investments in resources (assets) as well as obligations to creditors and investors (liabilities). These statements 
also provide the basis for evaluating the capital structure of the Aviation Department and assessing liquidity and 
financial flexibility. 
 
The statement of revenue, expenses, and changes in net position report the operating revenue and expenses and 
nonoperating revenue and expenses of the Aviation Department for the fiscal year with the difference being 
combined with any capital contributions to arrive at the change in net position for the fiscal year. These statements 
capture the amount of operating revenue the Aviation Department earned for the fiscal year along with the amount 
of operating expenses that were incurred during the same period, thus determining whether the Aviation 
Department was able to cover its operating obligations with its operating income. 
 
The statements of cash flows provide information about the Aviation Department’s cash receipts and payments 
during the reporting period. These statements report cash receipts, cash payments, and net changes in cash 
resulting from operating, investing, and capital and noncapital financing activities, and provide an insight regarding 
sources providing cash and activities using cash. 
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Operational Highlights 
 
During fiscal year 2024, MIA surpassed 55 million passengers for the first time in its history. Passenger volumes 
surged past 2023 record shattering 51.6 million travelers to a new high of 55.7 million passengers, up 8.0% or  
4.1 million passengers over fiscal year 2023. Domestic and international passenger volumes soared to new highs, 
up 7.3% or 2.1 million passengers and 9.0% or 2.1 million passengers, respectively, over fiscal year 2023, largely 
due to the addition of five new carriers and ten additional routes in fiscal year 2024. Enplaned passengers totaled 
27.9 million, an 8.3% increase compared to fiscal year 2023.  
 
Likewise, in fiscal year 2023, passenger volumes soared past 2022 record shattering 49.7 million travelers to a 
new high of 51.6 million passengers, up 3.7% year-over-year. MIA welcomed 28.7 million domestic passengers 
in fiscal year 2023, down 3.5% or 1.0 million passengers, year-over-year, but up 22.7% or 5.3 million passengers 
over fiscal year 2019. By contrast, international traffic rose to 22.9 million passengers in fiscal year 2023, up 14.3% 
or 2.9 million passengers versus fiscal year 2022 and 2.0% or 0.4 million travelers over fiscal year 2019, as foreign 
flag carriers resumed and/or increased services to MIA, with the lifting of global travel restrictions and testing 
requirements for inbound travelers. Enplaned passengers totaled 25.8 million, a 3.3% increase compared to fiscal 
year 2022. 
 
Landed weight, which represents the total weight of commercial aircrafts that landed at MIA, increased by 6.8% 
and 0.8%, respectively, as compared to fiscal years 2023 and 2022. Similarly, total aircraft operations (departures 
and arrivals), surged past 2023 levels to a new high of 480,250 flights, up 6.0% or 27,183 flights, as domestic and 
international operations grew 6.7% or 16,604 flights and 5.1% or 10,579 flights, respectively, when compared to 
the previous year. By contrast, total aircraft operations fell 4,087 flights, or 0.9% in fiscal year 2023 versus 2022. 
Domestic operations also declined, down 7.2% or 19,154 flights in fiscal year 2023 as compared to 2022, while 
international operations grew 7.9% or 15,067 flights over 2022.  
  
Below is a comparison of these activities at MIA by fiscal year:  
 

2024 2023 2022

Enplanements 27,884,707       25,751,310       24,937,982       

Total passengers 55,702,982       51,563,044       49,733,342       

Domestic passengers 30,753,760       28,665,209       29,694,216       

International passengers 24,949,222       22,897,835       20,039,126       

Aircraft operations 480,250           453,067           457,154           

Domestic aircraft operations 263,166           246,562           265,716           

International aircraft operations 217,084           206,505           191,438           
Landed weight (1,000 pounds) 45,091,302       42,221,451       41,894,203       
Enplaned cargo (in tons) 1,199,891         1,099,254         1,176,178         

 
Financial Highlights 
 

 As of September 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded 
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources by $1.2 billion, $1.1 billion, and $0.9 billion, respectively. 

 
 Net position increased by $79.6 million, $192.0 million, and $64.1 million, respectively, in fiscal years  

2024, 2023, and 2022. In fiscal year 2023, the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) grant receipts of  
$130.2 million accounted for 67.8% of the increase in net position. 
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 Total liabilities declined by $190.9 million to $5.8 billion in fiscal year 2024, $100.7 million to $6.0 billion 
in fiscal year 2023, and $32.2 million to $6.1 billion in fiscal year 2022, due primarily to scheduled revenue 
bond principal payments and premium amortization. 

 
 Operating revenue in fiscal years 2024, 2023, and 2022 totaled $954.9 million, $927.7 million, and  

$900.5 million, respectively, an increase of $27.3 million, $27.2 million, and $250.8 million, respectively, 
as compared to fiscal years 2023, 2022, and 2021. The significant increase in revenue in 2022 is primarily 
attributed to the rebound in leisure air travel and increase in passenger volumes after the pandemic. 
 

 Operating expenses, excluding depreciation and amortization, also increased, up $55.4 million to   
$642.9 million in fiscal year 2024, $53.4 million to $587.4 million in fiscal year 2023, and $53.3 million to 
$534.1 million in 2022. 

 
 Nonoperating revenue declined by $116.8 million in fiscal year 2024, as compared to 2023, largely due 

to lower ARPA reimbursements, which fell by $130.2 million, year-over-year. By contrast, nonoperating 
revenue, which totaled $316.3 million in fiscal year 2023, increased by $171.2 million over fiscal year 
2022. The increase is primarily attributable to higher ARPA reimbursements and interest rates. Interest 
expense, on the other hand, fell $5.9 million and $5.6 million, respectively, when compared to fiscal years 
2023 and 2022. 

 
The table below shows a comparative summary of assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred 
inflows of resources, and net position as of September 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022 (in thousands): 
 

2024 2023 2022(1)

Assets:
Unrestricted 651,260$          666,167$          477,791$          
Restricted 1,014,406         997,450            923,256            
Capital asset, net 5,268,453         5,316,744         5,479,199         
Other assets 210,115            167,187            163,527            

Total assets 7,144,234         7,147,548         7,043,773         

Deferred outflows of resources 99,121             119,113            131,065            

Liabilities:
Unrestricted 98,551$            103,673$          99,776$            
Restricted 303,025            302,144            258,145            
Long term liabilities 5,372,107         5,558,791         5,707,378         

Total liabilities 5,773,683         5,964,608         6,065,299         

Deferred inflows of resources 260,813            172,827            172,326            

Net Position:
Net investment in capital assets (58,456)$           (28,766)$           24,800$            
Restricted 916,323            812,072            717,754            
Unrestricted 350,992            345,920            194,659            

Total net position 1,208,859$       1,129,226$       937,213$          

(1)  Amounts for fiscal year 2022 have not been restated for the adoption of GASB No. 94 and 96.  
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Capital assets, net as of September 30, 2024 were $5.3 billion, $48.3 million lower than at September 30, 2023. 
Net capital assets also declined in fiscal years 2023 and 2022, down $162.5 million to $5.3 billion in 2023 and  
$175.5 million to $5.5 billion in 2022. The decrease in each year was due primarily to current year depreciation 
and amortization expense exceeding capital asset additions.  
 
As of September 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022, net position was $1.2 billion, $1.1 billion, and $0.9 billion, respectively, 
an increase of approximately $79.6 million, $192.0 million, and $64.1 million, respectively, over fiscal years 2023, 
2022, and 2021. Net investment in capital assets had a deficit of $58.5 million and $28.8 million, in fiscal years 
2024 and 2023, respectively, and a balance of $24.8 million in 2022, a decline of $29.7 million, $53.6 million, and 
$107.7 million, respectively, versus fiscal years 2023, 2022, and 2021, as depreciation and amortization expense 
exceeded debt repayments, resulting in total capital borrowings surpassing net capital assets in each year.  
 
Changes in net position can be determined by reviewing the following summary of revenue, expenses, and 
changes in net position for the years ended September 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022 (in thousands): 
 

2024 2023 2022(1)

Total operating revenues 954,940$          927,684$          900,466$          

Total operating expenses 925,731            870,800            814,229            

Operating income 29,209             56,884             86,237             

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):

Passenger facility charges 120,511            110,336            100,363            
Investment income 66,413             64,810             2,349               
Interest expense (199,980)           (205,847)           (211,442)           
Lease and PPP interest income 9,542               7,116               6,412               
Federal relief grant receipts -                      130,159            34,588             
Other 3,085               3,888               1,410               

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) (429)                 110,462            (66,320)            

Income before capital contributions 28,780             167,346            19,917             
Capital contributions 50,853             24,667             44,191             

Increase in net position 79,633             192,013            64,108             
Net position, beginning of year 1,129,226         937,213            873,105            

Net position, end of year 1,208,859$       1,129,226$       937,213$          

(1)  Amounts for fiscal year 2022 have not been restated for the adoption of GASB No. 94 and 96.  
 
Total revenue for fiscal year 2024 was $1.2 billion, a decline of $89.5 million or 7.2%, as compared to fiscal year 
2023. Contributing to the significant decline were ARPA reimbursements, down $130.2 million versus 2023. 
Operating revenue, on the other hand, increased by $27.3 million or 2.9% to $954.9 million in 2024. Increased 
passenger volumes, additional carriers and routes, return of foreign-flag airlines, and reopening of concession stores 
that temporarily suspended operations during the pandemic, resulted in the increase in revenue across some income 
streams, such as rental, concessions, and passenger facility charges, over fiscal year 2023. 
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The following chart reflects the major sources and percentage of operating revenues for fiscal years ended 
September 30, 2024 and 2023:  
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A summary of total revenues for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 is as follows (in thousands): 

Increase Percentage
2024 2023 (Decrease)  Change

Operating revenues:
Aviation fees:

Landing fees 73,576$        68,996$        4,580$          6.6 %
Concourse, international facility,
 and loading bridge fees 257,273        269,611        (12,338)         (4.6)%
Aircraft parking fees 17,288          17,925          (637)             (3.6)%
Baggage and screening fees 72,548          72,463          85                0.1 %
Other aviation fees 1,586            1,714            (128)             (7.5)%

Total aviation fees 422,271        430,709        (8,438)           (2.0)%

Rent 187,429        179,876        7,553            4.2 %
Concessions, including car rental 232,032        205,808        26,224          12.7 %
Parking and ground transportation 62,833          62,055          778              1.3 %
Hotel 15,458          15,722          (264)             (1.7)%
Fuel service and products 19,164          17,045          2,119            12.4 %
Other operating revenue 15,753          16,469          (716)             (4.3)%

Total operating revenues 954,940        927,684        27,256          2.9 %

Nonoperating revenues:

Passenger facility charges 120,511        110,336        10,175          9.2 %

Investment income 66,413          64,810          1,603            2.5 %

Lease and PPP interest income 9,542            7,116            2,426            34.1 %

Federal relief grant receipts -                   130,159        (130,159)       (100.0)%

Other 3,085            3,888            (803)             (20.7)%

Total nonoperating revenues 199,551        316,309        (116,758)       (36.9)%

Total revenues 1,154,491$    1,243,993$    (89,502)$       (7.2)%
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Total aviation fees, which accounted for 44.2% of total operating revenue in 2024, fell $8.4 million or 2.0%, as 
compared to fiscal year 2023, driven primarily by lower international facility fees, down $18.6 million or 11.6%   
versus 2023, due to lower rates, which fell by $2.20 per international arriving seat in 2024. The decline is partially 
offset by higher landing and concourse use fees, up $4.6 million or 6.6%, and $5.0 million or 5.3%, respectively, 
due to the return of foreign-flag airlines and new carriers and routes. Concession and rental revenue also 
increased, up 12.7% and 4.2% respectively, due to the higher rental rates, reopening of more retail stores that 
temporarily suspended operations during the pandemic, and increased passenger volumes. 
 
Non-operating revenue declined by $116.8 million or 36.9%, as compared to fiscal year 2023. Contributing to the 
significant decline were ARPA reimbursements, down $130.2 million, which was partially offset by higher PFC 
income, up $10.2 million or 9.2%, due to higher passenger volumes and interest rates. 
 
Total revenue for fiscal year 2023 was $1.2 billion, an increase of $198.4 million or 19.0%, as compared to fiscal 
year 2022. Operating revenue in fiscal year 2023 was $927.7 million, an increase of $27.2 million, or 3.0%, as 
compared to fiscal year 2022. Increased leisure air travel, additional carriers and routes, and the return of foreign-
flag airlines with the lifting of global travel restrictions and testing requirements for inbound travelers during fiscal 
year 2023, resulted in the substantial increase in revenue across most income streams over 2022. 
 
The following chart reflects the major sources and percentage of operating revenues for fiscal years ended 
September 30, 2023 and 2022:  
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A summary of total revenues for the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 is as follows (in thousands): 
 

Increase Percentage
2023 2022 (Decrease)  Change

Operating revenues:
Aviation fees:

Landing fees 68,996$        68,881$        115$             0.2 %
Concourse, international facility,
 and loading bridge fees 269,611        259,279        10,332          4.0 %
Aircraft parking fees 17,925          16,823          1,102            6.6 %
Baggage and screening fees 72,463          95,295          (22,832)         (24.0)%
Other aviation fees 1,714            3,052            (1,338)           (43.8)%

Total aviation fees 430,709        443,330        (12,621)         (2.8)%

Rent 179,876        172,591        7,285            4.2 %
Concessions, including car rental 205,808        180,029        25,779          14.3 %
Parking and ground transportation 62,055          49,496          12,559          25.4 %
Hotel 15,722          14,137          1,585            11.2 %
Fuel service and products 17,045          20,935          (3,890)           (18.6)%
Other operating revenue 16,469          19,948          (3,479)           (17.4)%

Total operating revenues 927,684        900,466        27,218          3.0 %

Nonoperating revenues:
Passenger facility charges 110,336        100,363        9,973            9.9 %
Investment income 64,810          2,349            62,461          2,659.0 %
Lease and PPP interest income 7,116            6,412            704              11.0 %
Federal relief grant receipts 130,159        34,588          95,571          276.3 %

Other 3,888            1,410            2,478            175.7 %

Total nonoperating revenues 316,309        145,122        171,187        118.0 %

Total revenues 1,243,993$    1,045,588$    198,405$      19.0 %

 
Total aviation fees, which accounted for 46.4% of total operating revenue, fell $12.6 million or 2.8%, as compared 
to fiscal year 2022, driven primarily by lower per passenger baggage claim and security screening fees, down 
$13.1 million or 26.8% and $9.7 million or 21.0%, respectively, versus 2022, due to lower rates in fiscal year 2023. 
The decline is partially offset by higher international facility fees, up $10.6 million or 7.1%, due to the return of 
foreign-flag airlines. By contrast, parking and ground transportation revenue went up 25.4% due to increased rates 
and enplanements. Concession and rental revenue also increased, up 14.3% and 4.2% respectively, due to the 
higher rental rates, reopening of more retail stores that temporarily suspended operations during the pandemic, 
and increased passenger volumes. 
 
Non-operating revenue increased by $171.2 million or 118.0%, as compared to fiscal year 2022. Contributing to 
the significant increase were ARPA reimbursements, up $100.2 million, and investment and PFC interest income, 
up $62.5 million and $7.3 million, respectively, due to higher interest rates. 
 
Total expenses, including depreciation and amortization, for fiscal year 2024 were $1.1 billion, an increase of 
$49.1 million or 4.6%, as compared to fiscal year 2023. Operating expenses in fiscal year 2024, excluding 
depreciation and amortization, were $642.9 million, an increase of $55.4 million, or 9.4%, as compared to fiscal 
year 2023.  
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The following chart reflects the major sources and percentage of operating expenses for fiscal years ended 
September 30, 2024 and 2023:  
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A summary of operating expenses for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 is as follows (in thousands): 
 

Increase Percentage
2024 2023 (Decrease)  Change

Operating expenses:

Salaries and benefits 189,480$      200,730$      (11,250)         (5.6)%
Contractual services 116,250        104,779        11,471          10.9 %
Services provided by other 

County departments 115,618        96,319          19,299          20.0 %
Maintenance and repairs 122,356        85,540          36,816          43.0 %
Utilities 62,283          69,051          (6,768)           (9.8)%
Materials and supplies 12,549          12,526          23                0.2 %
Insurance 12,114          10,624          1,490            14.0 %
Other 12,224          7,873            4,351            55.3 %

Total operating expenses before
depreciation and amortization 642,874        587,442        55,432          9.4 %

Depreciation and amortization 282,857        283,358        (501)             (0.2)%

Total operating expenses 925,731        870,800        54,931          6.3 %

Nonoperating expenses:

Interest expense 199,980        205,847        (5,867)           (2.9)%

Total nonoperating expenses 199,980        205,847        (5,867)           (2.9)%

Total expenses 1,125,711$    1,076,647$    49,064$        4.6 %

 
The increase in operating expenses is primarily attributed to higher maintenance and repairs cost for elevators, 
buildings, and the automated people mover and system (APM), up $13.3 million, $10.3 million, and $4.8 million, 
respectively, due to aging equipment and facilities, structural repairs to the APM in concourse D, and higher 
contract cost. Police, fire, and security services provided by the County also increased, up $6.0 million,  
$6.0 million, and $2.0 million, respectively, as compared to fiscal year 2023, due to the 3% cost of living adjustment 
(COLA) and higher overtime payments in 2024. The decline in salaries and benefits was largely due to lower 
pension expense, down $21.1 million, as compared to fiscal year 2023, which was partially offset by the 3% COLA 
in 2024. 
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Total expenses, including depreciation and amortization, for fiscal year 2023 were $1.1 billion, an increase of 
$51.0 million or 5.0%, as compared to fiscal year 2022. Operating expenses in fiscal year 2023, excluding 
depreciation and amortization, were $587.4 million, an increase of $53.4 million, or 10.0%, as compared to fiscal 
year 2022.  
 
The following chart reflects the major sources and percentage of operating expenses for fiscal years ended 
September 30, 2023 and 2022:  
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A summary of operating expenses for the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 is as follows (in thousands): 
 

Increase Percentage
2023 2022 (Decrease)  Change

Salaries and benefits 200,730$      179,989$      20,741          11.5 %
Contractual services 104,779        102,385        2,394            2.3 %
Services provided by other 

County departments 96,319          105,389        (9,070)           (8.6)%
Maintenance and repairs 85,540          59,860          25,680          42.9 %
Utilities 69,051          59,335          9,716            16.4 %
Materials and supplies 12,526          11,260          1,266            11.2 %
Insurance 10,624          8,967            1,657            18.5 %
Other 7,873            6,869            1,004            14.6 %

Total operating expenses before
depreciation and amortization 587,442        534,054        53,388          10.0 %

Depreciation and amortization 283,358        280,175        3,183            1.1 %

Total operating expenses 870,800        814,229        56,571          6.9 %

Nonoperating expenses:
Interest expense 205,847        211,442        (5,595)           (2.6)%

Total nonoperating expenses 205,847        211,442        (5,595)           (2.6)%

Total expenses 1,076,647$    1,025,671$    50,976$        5.0 %

 
The increase in operating expenses is primarily attributed to higher maintenance and repairs cost for elevators, 
automated people mover and system, and buildings, up $7.2 million, $8.1 million, and $6.6 million, respectively, 
due to aging equipment and facilities and higher contract cost, utilities, up $9.7 million, and salaries and fringe 
benefits, up $20.7 million, over fiscal year 2022. The increase in salaries and benefits was largely due to higher 
pension expense, up $14.6 million, as compared to fiscal year 2022. 
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In accordance with the amended and restated Trust Agreement (the “Trust Agreement”), the Aviation Department 
is required to meet its rate covenant, which means the Aviation Department is required to maintain, charge, and 
collect rates and charges for the use of, and for the services and facilities provided to, all users of these facilities. 
In addition, these rates and charges are to provide revenue sufficient to pay current expenses: to make the 
required Reserve Maintenance Fund annual deposits as recommended by the Consulting Engineers and to make 
deposits to the Sinking Fund, which comprises the Bond Service Account, the Reserve Account, and the 
Redemption Account, of not less than 120% of the Principal and Interest Requirements of the Outstanding bonds, 
as defined in the Trust Agreement (all capitalized terms referenced in the last few sentences are defined terms in 
the Trust Agreement). The Aviation Department uses an airport system residual cost recovery methodology to set 
its landing fee rate. The manner in which the residual landing fee is calculated enables the Aviation Department 
to establish rates to meet its rate covenant. 
 
Capital Assets, Capital Improvement Program, and Debt Administration 
 
Capital Assets 
 
As of September 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the Aviation Department had $5.3 billion, $5.3 billion, and $5.5 billion, 
respectively, invested in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Assets totaling  
$123.6 million were capitalized in fiscal year 2024, including $45.6 million for land acquisition, $43.4 million for 
corporate office building acquisition, $12.8 million for taxiways and runways rehabilitation and $2.9 million for new 
passenger boarding bridges. Assets totaling $132.4 million were capitalized in fiscal year 2023, including $82.9 
million for taxiways and runways rehabilitation and $21.8 million for new passenger boarding bridges.  
 
The following table summarizes the composition of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and 
amortization, as of September 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022 (in thousands): 
 

2024 2023 2022

Land 192,525$          146,906$          146,906$          
Buildings, improvements, and systems 3,885,248         4,018,263         4,191,211         
Infrastructure 525,710            549,100            499,601            
Furniture, machinery, and equipment 436,019            483,615            510,181            
Right-to-use lease assets

Buildings 5,572               6,167               6,761               
Subscription assets 1,399               1,904               -                      

5,046,473         5,205,955         5,354,660         
Construction in progress 221,980            110,789            124,539            

Total capital assets, net 5,268,453$       5,316,744$       5,479,199$       

 
The Aviation Department adopted GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology 
Arrangements, and for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, recognized subscription assets of 
$1.4 million and $1.9 million, respectively, net of accumulated amortization of $1.0 million and $0.5 million, 
respectively. 
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Capital Improvement Program 
 
The Aviation Department has adopted a Capital Improvement Program (“CIP”), that will fund up to $7.5 billion in 
airport-wide modernization projects over the next 15 years, and a Modernization in Action (M.I.A) Plan that will 
fund $1.7 billion in maintenance upgrades. The CIP  is designed to  address all the airport’s future capacity and 
operational needs and include upgrades to the terminal facilities to meet growing passenger demand and enhance 
the overall traveler experience, accommodate larger aircrafts, optimize aircraft parking, improve aesthetics, and 
meet current life safety and security requirements, as well as maintenance needs. Approximately, $4.2 billion will 
be used to construct a new state-of-the-art parking garage, that will add more than 2,200 spaces across seven 
levels, completely redesign the Central Terminal, including Concourses E and F, expand the South Terminal to 
include a new Concourse K, renovate Concourse D gates to accommodate additional wide-and narrow-body 
aircraft, as well as larger regional jets, and expand aircraft parking positions and warehouses for cargo operations. 
Through the M.I.A. plan, all 126 passenger loading bridges, 203 public restrooms, and 616 conveyance units 
(elevators, escalators, and moving walkways) are being renovated in phases over 5 to 7 years. 
 
The CIP consists of 225 capital projects grouped into 24 subprograms, and cumulative expenditures through 
September 30, 2024, totaled $1.2 billion. Some notable projects completed in fiscal year 2024 were the 
rehabilitation of taxiways R, S, and T, with extension of taxiway R and connector taxiway M5, modernization of 
the South Terminal public restrooms, installation of new Satellite E elevator and new passenger loading bridges 
terminal-wide, and strategic land and building acquisition such as, Building 7200 West of MIA and the Borek 
property at Tamiami Executive Airport. Strategic capital investments in fiscal year 2025 are set to elevate the 
airport’s infrastructure, and some noteworthy initiatives include the integration of cutting-edge biometric boarding 
technology at all 60 gates in Concourse D, modernization of elevators, escalators, and moving walkways, the 
continued revamping of public restrooms and passenger boarding bridges throughout all the terminals, the 
recertification of buildings to bring them to code, and Runway 9L/27R rehabilitation at Opa-locka Airport.  
 
As of September 30, 2024, 102 projects totaling $4.2 billion are in the planning and design phase, 21 projects 
totaling $1.1 billion in bid and award, 37 projects totaling $0.4 billion are under construction, and 65 projects 
totaling $1.1 billion are completed and pending close-out. 
 
Additional information on the Aviation Department’s capital assets can be found in Note 5 to the financial 
statements of this report. 
 
Debt Administration 
 
The following is a comparative summary of long-term debt outstanding as of September 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022 
(in thousands): 
 

2024 2023 2022
Bonds payable, including premium on issuance

Revenue bonds 4,964,209$       5,189,188$       5,335,420$       
General obligation bonds 179,443            188,752            192,490            

Commercial paper notes 120,000            40,000             30,000             
Financed purchase liability 49,863             54,879             59,569             
Lease and subscription liabilities 7,593               8,491               6,968               

Total long-term debt 5,321,108$       5,481,310$       5,624,447$       

 
As of September 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022 the Aviation Department had a total of $5.3 billion, $5.5 billion, and 
$5.6 billion, respectively, in long-term debt outstanding, a decline of $160.2 million, $143.1 million, and  
$105.4 million, respectively, as compared to fiscal years 2023, 2022, and 2021, largely due to scheduled principal 
payments and bond premium amortization. 
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The long-term debt consists primarily of Aviation Revenue Bonds issued under the Trust Agreement, Double-
Barreled Aviation Bonds issued by the County, and Commercial Paper Notes. Maturity dates range from 2025 to 
2050, and the interest rates range from 1.229% to 5.500%. Both principal and interest for the Aviation Revenue 
Bonds are payable solely from net revenue generated from the airport facilities constructed under the provisions 
of the Trust Agreement. These Aviation Revenue Bonds do not constitute debt of the County or a pledge of the 
full faith and credit of the County. In addition to net revenue, the Aviation Department used $54.0 million,  
$60.0 million, and $80.0 million of PFC revenue to pay principal and interest due in fiscal year 2024, 2023, and 
2022, respectively. In 2024, the Aviation Department also used $39.5 million from the improvement fund to pay 
principal and interest due in fiscal year 2024.  
 
On August 1, 2024, the Aviation Department issued $779.7 million and $138.5 million of Aviation Refunding 
Bonds, at a premium of $65.5 million and $17.0 million, respectively (Series 2024A and Series 2024B).  
The Series 2024A and 2014B refunding bonds bear stated interest of 5.00%, which is payable semiannually on 
April 1 and October 1 each year. The net proceeds were placed in an irrevocable trust account to partially refund 
$261.7 million of the Revenue Bond Series 2014 outstanding principal, fully refund $580.1 million of the Revenue 
Bond Series 2014A outstanding principal, fully refund $154.8 million of the Revenue Bond Series 2014B 
outstanding principal. The Series 2014, 2014A, and 2014B bonds will mature on October 30, 2024, and as of 
September 30, 2024, the Irrevocable Escrow Account for the refunding had approximately $1.0 billion.   
 
The Aviation Department recorded a deferred gain on refunding totaling $42.1 million at August 1, 2024, resulting 
from the difference between the net carrying amount of the refunded debt and the reacquisition price. The amount 
is being amortized over the life of the new bond using the weighted-average method and for the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2024, the Aviation Department reported a deferred gain on refunding, net of amortization, of 
approximately $41.3 million, included in deferred inflow of resources on the accompanying statements of net 
position. The refunding also resulted in a net present value savings of approximately $83.7 million. 
 
The refunded principal portion of the Aviation Revenue Bond Series 2014, 2014A and 2014B are considered 
defeased and the liability for these bonds were removed from long-term debt. Accordingly, the related assets and 
liabilities for the portion of the refunded series are not included in the Aviation Department’s financial statements. 
 
Some issues of General Aviation Revenue Bonds are insured by various original monoline insurance companies 
whose credit ratings reflect the financial capacity of these companies. The purchase of insurance at the time the 
debt was issued, elevated bond ratings by Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s Investor Service, and Fitch Ratings to 
AAA, Aaa, and AAA, respectively, and lowered the interest rate on the related debt. The Trust Agreement requires 
that insurers have certain minimum ratings in order to insure County bonds. The policies provide that insurers will 
make debt service payments in the unlikely event the County is unable to do so. Since the insured bonds were 
issued, the ratings of the various monoline insurers have been lowered or withdrawn by the rating agencies. The 
rating downgrades do not necessarily affect the insurance companies’ ability to pay claims, and the various 
insurance policies remain in effect. However, the Reserve Account was affected by the rating downgrades of the 
Surety policies that were purchased in lieu of cash funding the Debt Service Reserve Requirement. The Aviation 
Department funded the reserve requirement shortfall by funding the difference over a specified time period. As a 
result, the Aviation Department has a fully funded cash reserve along with potentially viable but unusable Surety 
policies unless the ratings of the Reserve Surety Providers are upgraded to “AA/Aa” or higher. The County’s cash 
flow and its ability to pay its debt service obligation have not been affected. 
 
As of September 30, 2024, the public underlying ratings for the Aviation Department’s outstanding General 
Aviation Revenue Bonds were A+ with a stable outlook, AA- with a stable outlook, and A+ with a stable outlook 
per Standard & Poor’s, Kroll Bond Rating Agency, and Fitch Ratings, respectively.  
 
Additional information on the Aviation Department’s debt administration can be found in Note 6 of this report. 
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Economic Factors and Outlook 
 
For the third consecutive year, MIA passenger traffic, which fell to an all-time low during fiscal year 2020, 
rebounded past 2019 levels to record highs, as did the economy of the metropolitan area of Miami-Dade County, 
which principally serves MIA. Because the residents in Miami-Dade County serve as a portion of the MIA 
passenger traffic, the health of the local economy affects the Airport’s revenue. One of the local economic factors 
that affects MIA is the (not seasonally adjusted) unemployment rate, which increased from 1.8% in September 
2023 to 2.1% in September 2024.  
 
Total non-farm employment for the Miami-Fort Lauderdale-West Palm Beach, Florida metropolitan area 
outperformed the national average, increasing by 2.2% compared to 1.5% nationwide. The education and health 
services sectors recorded the highest growth rate, adding over 14,600 employees in 2024, a 3.2% increase  
year-over-year compared to 3.8% nationally. Home prices also trended upwards, increasing by 3.9% from 
September 2023 to September 2024 according to the Standard & Poor/Case-Shiller Home Price Index, which is 
a decrease from the 5.0% growth rate experienced in fiscal year 2023. 
 
MIA soared to unprecedented heights in fiscal year 2024, marking a historic year of accomplishments in passenger 
and cargo traffic, as well as substantial investments in maintenance and capital improvements. MIA achieved its 
highest ever annual passenger total, welcoming 55.7 million travelers in 2024 compared to 51.6 million in 2023, 
as noted in the table below.  
 

Total Percentage
Fiscal Year Passengers Change

2015 43,347,129       6.1 %
2016 44,901,753       3.6 %
2017 43,758,409       (2.5)%
2018 44,938,486       2.7 %
2019 45,811,583       1.9 %
2020 25,382,384       (44.6)%
2021 30,219,088       19.1 %
2022 49,733,342       64.6 %
2023 51,563,044       3.7 %
2024 55,702,982       8.0 %

 
Contributing to MIA’s phenomenal growth rate and post COVID recovery were hub carrier American Airlines and 
its subsidiary Envoy, the joint venture relationship between LATAM and Delta, new low-cost U.S. carriers, 
Southwest Airlines, JetBlue Airways, and Spirit Airlines, new international carriers, and the addition of over  
15 domestic and international routes. Low-cost carriers, including Frontier Airlines, carried 5.0 million passengers 
in fiscal year 2024, which was 9.1% of total MIA’s traffic.   
 
Since Concourse D was completed in 2010, American Airlines has been able to grow its hub operation at MIA. 
American Airlines, along with its regional airline, Envoy, has significantly increased service to MIA, which is 
represented by its 36.1% enplaned passenger growth rate from fiscal years 2010 to 2024. American Airlines and 
its affiliates continued to be the leading carriers at MIA, representing 60.1% of total passengers in fiscal year 2024, 
as passenger volumes grew by 7.7% or 2.4 million passengers in 2024 as compared to 2023, after a slight decline 
of 1.4% or 431,212 passengers in 2023 versus 2022. As a result of the joint venture relationship established in 
November 2022, LATAM and Delta also recorded significant passenger growth in fiscal year 2024, up 18.1% and 
17.2%, respectively, over fiscal year 2023. LATAM and Delta airlines passenger traffic also increased in 2023, up 
48.1% and 16.1%, respectively, over fiscal year 2022. The JV’s mission is to significantly enhance travel 
connectivity between North and South America. 
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The financial strength and stability of the airlines serving MIA may affect future airline passenger traffic. While 
passenger demand at the Airport is expected to increase in the future, there can be no assurance given as to the 
levels of aviation activity that will be achieved at the Airport in the future. Any financial or operational difficulties 
incurred by American Airlines or any other major air carriers at the Airport could have a material, adverse effect 
on the Airport as well as any natural disasters such as hurricanes or pandemics, although the Aviation Department 
would take measures to mitigate these potential effects as it has done for the recent pandemic. 
 
In fiscal year 2024, air cargo tonnage at MIA increased by 5.3%, as compared to fiscal year 2023, but declined by 
1.3% in fiscal year 2023 versus 2022, as the air cargo industry stabilized after the significant growth experienced 
in fiscal years 2022 and 2021. The air cargo industry cratered in the early days of the pandemic but returned to 
pre-pandemic levels due to a number of reasons, including congestion in the ocean freight market and the 
increase in e-commerce.  
 
In terms of air cargo tonnage at MIA, the numbers are noted in the following table. 
 

Total Percentage
Fiscal Year Cargo (Tons) Change

2015 2,206,306         0.9 %
2016 2,219,606         0.6 %
2017 2,247,913         1.3 %
2018 2,368,617         5.4 %
2019 2,346,241         (0.9)%
2020 2,301,051         (1.9)%
2021 2,645,956         15.0 %
2022 2,807,140         6.1 %
2023 2,770,981         (1.3)%
2024 2,917,093         5.3 %

 
As shown in the table above, air cargo tonnage at MIA tends to fluctuate on an annual basis. However, the carriage 
of cargo in the belly of the aircraft is a key source of operating revenue for many passenger airlines serving MIA, 
particularly the foreign-flag airlines, and an important contributor to the viability of their passenger flights.  
In addition, MIA benefits from its geographic location because MIA acts as a transshipment location with a major 
portion of the goods being shipped beyond MIA. During calendar year 2023, the Airport handled 82% of all air 
imports and 76% of all air exports between the United States and the Latin American/Caribbean region. 
Additionally, in calendar year 2023, MIA led all U.S. airports in perishable cargo, handling 68% of all perishable 
product imports. 
 
Airline Rates and Charges – In previous years, airline rates and charges at MIA had significantly increased 
primarily due to the large amount of new money Aviation Revenue Bonds that was issued between 1994 and 
2010. The additional debt translated into higher annual debt service costs and resulted in MIA becoming one of 
the more expensive U.S. airports from an airline rates and charges perspective. Under the Aviation Department’s 
airline rate methodology, these debt service costs are passed along to the MIA air carriers, mostly through aviation 
fees and terminal rental rates.  
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The increase in the airline costs due to the higher annual debt service has been mitigated in prior years for the 
reasons noted below: 

1) The higher than anticipated surplus revenue (i.e., realizing higher than budgeted revenue and spending 
less than budgeted expenses), which is used to offset the residual landing fee related costs in the 
subsequent fiscal year. In fact, the landing fee rate has stayed below fiscal year 2014 landing fee rate for 
the last eight years, $1.75 in fiscal year 2014 with the subsequent fiscal years being no higher than $1.68 
and the last four fiscal years (2019-2024) being $1.62. 

 
2) The refunding of the Aviation Revenue Bonds and the Double-Barreled General Obligation Bonds that were 

issued between 1994 and 2024. These refunding transactions have resulted in a net present value savings 
of $870.8 million based on a par amount of $7.1 billion for the refunded bonds; an overall net present value 
savings of 12.2%.  
 

3) The Aviation Department has controlled its budgeted (and thereby the actual) operating expenses as shown 
by a moderate increase in operating expenses (excluding depreciation and amortization) over the last few 
years. The higher than anticipated nonairline revenue in various years has also offset the airline costs under 
the residual rate methodology. Although, the Aviation Department increased its fiscal year 2024 operating 
budget by 13.6%, other measures taken and the significant increase in MIA departing seats (used as a 
denominator for most of the aviation fee calculations) offset the increase, such that most of the major fiscal 
year 2024 rates and charges remained flat, if not less, than fiscal year 2023 rates and charges. 
 

4) Assistance from the federal government in the form of grants that reimbursed operating costs and debt 
service costs through the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act), the 
Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriation Act (CRRSA Act), and the American Rescue 
Plan Act (ARP Act), which were created as federally funded pandemic relief programs. In fiscal years 2023, 
2022, 2021, and 2020, the Aviation Department received $134.7 million, $30 million, $58.1 million, and 
$184.1 million, respectively, for a total of $406.9 million in grant reimbursements from these programs.  

 
Request for Information 
 
This financial report is designed to provide customers, creditors, and other interested parties with a general 
overview of the Aviation Department’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in the report 
or requests for additional financial information should be addressed in writing to the Chief Financial Officer, 
Miami-Dade County Aviation Department, 4200 N.W. 36th Street, Suite 300, Miami, Florida 33122. 
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2024 2023
ASSETS
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 579,088$          457,381$          
Investments, including interest receivable 8,788               156,574            
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of

$3,553 and $3,643, respectively 42,994             36,352             
Lease receivable 5,325               4,315               
Inventories, prepaid expenses, and other current assets 14,984             10,943             
Due from County Agencies 81                    602                  

Total Current Unrestricted Assets 651,260            666,167            

Restricted Assets:
Current Restricted Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 209,531            46,723             
Investments, including interest receivable 91,884             255,421            
Government grants receivable 13,497             4,774               
Passenger facility charges receivable 10,462             15,886             

Total Current Restricted Assets 325,374            322,804            

Total Current Assets 976,634            988,971            

Noncurrent Assets:
Restricted Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 689,032            674,646            

Total Noncurrent Restricted Assets 689,032            674,646            

Lease receivable, net of current portion 157,719            159,212            
PPP receivable 52,396             7,975               

Capital assets:
Nondepreciable capital assets 414,505            257,695            
Depreciable capital assets, net 4,853,948         5,059,049         

Total capital assets, net 5,268,453         5,316,744         

Total Noncurrent Assets 6,167,600         6,158,577         

Total Assets 7,144,234$       7,147,548$       

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension 27,122$            25,934$            
OPEB 3,792               6,053               
Loss on debt refundings 68,207             87,126             

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 99,121$            119,113$          

See accompanying notes to financial statements.  
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2024 2023
LIABILITIES 
Current Liabilities Payable from Unrestricted Assets:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 41,363$            43,139$            
Security deposits 25,876             25,826             
Environmental remediation liability 4,530               8,600               
Compensated absences 12,367             11,179             
Total OPEB liability 1,163               697                  
Rent advances 2,645               3,294               
Lease and subscription liabilities 962                  898                  
Financed purchase liability 5,357               5,016               
Due to County Agencies 4,288               5,024               

Total Current Liabilities Payable from Unrestricted Assets 98,551             103,673            

Current Liabilities Payable from Restricted Assets:
Accounts and contracts payable and other liabilities 43,851             29,474             
Bonds Payable within One Year:

Bonds payable 172,185            165,440            
Interest payable 86,989             107,230            

Total Current Liabilities Payable from Restricted Assets 303,025            302,144            

Total Current Liabilities Payable 401,576            405,817            

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Bonds and loans payable after one year 4,971,467         5,212,500         
Commercial paper notes 120,000            40,000             
Environmental remediation liability, net of current portion 31,650             33,580             
Compensated absences, net of current portion 26,148             25,176             
Rent advances 37,282             37,722             
Lease and subscription liabilities, net of current portion 6,631               7,593               
Financed purchase liability, net of current portion 44,506             49,863             
Total OPEB liability, net of current portion 18,227             27,783             
Net pension liability 116,196            124,574            

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 5,372,107         5,558,791         

Total Liabilities 5,773,683$       5,964,608$       

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension 11,306$            3,226$             
OPEB 2,127               3,644               
Leases 155,304            158,133            
PPP 50,825             7,824               
Gain on debt refundings 41,251             -                      

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 260,813$          172,827$          

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets (58,456)$           (28,766)$           
Restricted for:

Debt service 383,869            374,618            
Reserve maintenance 178,590            145,809            
Construction 353,864            291,645            

Unrestricted 350,992            345,920            

Total Net Position 1,208,859$       1,129,226$       

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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2024 2023(1)

OPERATING REVENUES:
Aviation fees 422,271$          430,709$          
Rentals 187,429            179,876            
Commercial Operations:

Management agreements 97,455             94,822             
Concessions 232,032            205,808            

Other 9,753               12,569             
Other – environmental remediation 6,000               3,900               

Total Operating Revenue 954,940            927,684            

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Salaries and wages 189,480            200,730            
Contractual services 116,250            104,779            
Services provided by other County departments 115,618            96,319             
Maintenance and repairs 122,356            85,540             
Utilities 62,283             69,051             
Materials and supplies 12,549             12,526             
Insurance 12,114             10,624             
Other 12,224             7,873               

Total Operating Expenses Before Depreciation
and Amortization 642,874            587,442            

Depreciation and amortization 282,857            283,358            

Operating Income 29,209             56,884             

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):
Passenger facility charges 120,511            110,336            
Interest expense (199,980)           (205,847)           
Investment income 66,413             64,810             
Lease and PPP interest income 9,542               7,116               
Federal relief grant receipts -                      130,159            
Other revenue 3,085               3,888               

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) (429)                 110,462            

Income before capital contributions 28,780             167,346            
Capital contributions 50,853             24,667             

Change in net position 79,633             192,013            
Net position, beginning of year 1,129,226         937,213            

Net position, end of year 1,208,859$       1,129,226$       

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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2024 2023
Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from customers and tenants 943,383$          948,374$          
Cash paid to suppliers for goods and services (468,374)           (395,258)           
Cash paid to employees for services (177,718)           (164,714)           

Net cash provided by operating activities 297,291            388,402            

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Reimbursements received from ARPA grants -                      130,159            
Reimbursements received from government grants 3,424               4,263               

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 3,424               134,422            

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Proceeds from bonds and commercial paper 1,370,673         250,000            
Principal paid on bonds and commercial paper (1,450,761)        (365,575)           
Interest paid on bonds, loans, and commercial paper (234,251)           (222,443)           
Bond issuance costs (5,352)              -                      
Purchase and construction of capital assets (229,510)           (113,198)           
Proceeds from sale of property 432                  -                      
Capital contributed by federal and state governments 42,130             28,461             
Passenger facility charges 125,935            109,146            
Lease and PPP interest received 7,412               7,109               
Principal paid on lease and subscription liabilities (898)                 (886)                 
Interest paid on lease and subscription liabilities (344)                 (360)                 
Principal paid on financed purchase (5,016)              (4,690)              

Net cash (used) by capital and related financing activities (379,550)           (312,436)           

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of investments (1,750,371)        (1,665,441)        
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 2,067,248         1,661,881         
Interest and dividends on investments 60,859             34,998             

Net cash provided by investing activities 377,736            31,438             

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 298,901            241,826            
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,178,750         936,924            

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 1,477,651$       1,178,750$       

Cash and cash equivalents reconciliation:
Unrestricted assets 579,088$          457,381$          
Restricted assets

Current 209,531            46,723             
Noncurrent 689,032            674,646            

Cash and cash equivalents 1,477,651$       1,178,750$       

See accompanying notes to financial statements.  
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2024 2023 
Reconciliation of operating income to net cash
 provided by operating activities: 
Operating income 29,209$   56,884 $   

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to
 net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 282,857     283,358   
Provision for uncollectible accounts (90)     822    
Loss on sale of property 17     109    
Bond issuance costs 5,352     -    
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

Accounts receivable (6,552)    7,390    
Lease receivable and related deferred inflows (2,346)    (2,963)     
PPP receivable and related deferred inflows (1,420)    (151)     
Inventories, prepaid expenses, and other assets (1,911)    2,035    
Due from County agencies 521     428    
Accounts and contracts payable and accrued expenses 7,101     11,161    
Security deposits 50     2,188    
Due to County agencies (736)     (4,831)     
Rent advances (1,089)    16,767    
Liability for compensated absences 2,160     (3,262)     
OPEB liability and related deferred outflows/inflows (8,346)    2,743    
Net pension liability and related deferred outflows/inflows (1,486)    19,624    
Environmental remediation liability (6,000)    (3,900)     

Total adjustments 268,082     331,518   

Net cash provided by operating activities 297,291 $   388,402$   

Noncash investing, capital, and financing activities:

Increase in fair value of investments 4,285 $  15,814 $   

Increase in construction in progress accrual 5,505 $  5,405 $   

Subscription assets -$   2,409 $   

Gain on debt refundings 40,764$   -$  

Decrease in deferred loss on refundings (18,117)$  -$  

Decrease in premium from bonds (72,911)$  (24,395) $   

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Note 1—General 
 
a. Description – Miami-Dade County, Florida (the “County”) is a chartered political subdivision of the state of 
Florida and is granted home rule county powers by the Constitution of the state of Florida and Florida Statutes. 
The Board of County Commissioners (the “Board” or the “BCC”) is the legislative and governing body of the 
County. The Miami-Dade County Aviation Department (the “Aviation Department”), established on  
February 6, 1973, is included as an enterprise fund in the County’s annual comprehensive financial report as part 
of the County’s reporting entity. 
 
These financial statements present only the Aviation Department and do not purport to, and do not, present fairly 
the financial position of the County as of September 30, 2024 and 2023, and the changes in its financial position 
and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
(“U.S. GAAP”). 
 
Pursuant to the general laws of Florida, the County owns Miami International Airport (“MIA”), three general aviation 
airports, and two training airports, one of which has been closed (collectively, the “Airports”), all of which are 
operated by the Aviation Department. 
 
b. Basis of Presentation – The Aviation Department operates as an enterprise fund of the County. An enterprise 
fund is used to account for the financing of services to the general public, since substantially all of the costs 
involved are paid in the form of charges by users of such services. Accordingly, the Aviation Department’s financial 
statements have been prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis of 
accounting. Revenue is recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred, 
regardless of when the related cash flows take place. 
 
c. Authority to Fix Rates – Under the provisions of the Trust Agreement, amended and restated dated 
December 15, 2002 by the County, The Bank of New York, successor in interest to JP Morgan Chase Bank, New 
York, New York, as trustee (the Trustee), and U.S. Bank National Association (successor in interest to Wachovia 
Bank, National Association, Miami, Florida) as co-trustee (the ”Co-Trustee”) (the “Trust Agreement”), which 
amended and restated the Trust Agreement dated as of October 1, 1954 with the Chase Manhattan Bank 
(predecessor-in-interest to the Trustee) and First Union National Bank of Miami (predecessor-in-interest to the 
Co-Trustee), as amended and supplemented (the Original Trust Agreement), the Aviation Department is required 
to maintain, charge, and collect rates and charges for the use and services provided, which will provide revenue 
sufficient to: 
 
 Pay current expenses, as defined in the Trust Agreement. 

 
 Make the Reserve Maintenance Fund (the Reserve Maintenance Account) deposits recommended by the 

Consulting Engineers. 
 

 Make deposits to the Interest and Sinking Fund (the Sinking Fund Account) comprising the Bond Service 
Account, the Reserve Account, and the Redemption Account of not less than 120% of the principal and 
interest requirements of the Trust Agreement Aviation Revenue Bonds, as defined in the Trust Agreement. 

 
Any remaining balance in the Revenue Fund, after meeting the requirements noted above, is deposited to the 
Improvement Fund (the Improvement Account), as defined in the Trust Agreement. 
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Note 1—General (continued) 
 
d. Agreements with Airlines – The Airline Use Agreement (“AUA”), which became effective in August 2018, 
establishes an airport system residual landing fee such that all costs not recovered through other revenue will be 
recovered from the landing fee revenue. Pursuant to the requirements of the AUA, remaining money residing in 
the Improvement Fund at the end of the fiscal year in excess of $7.6 million, adjusted annually by the Consumer 
Price Index (“CPI”), is to be transferred to the Revenue Fund in the subsequent fiscal year, thus reducing the 
amounts otherwise to be paid by the MIA air carriers in that fiscal year. The $7.6 million annual contribution is 
deposited into a separate account that has a cumulative cap of $22.8 million also subject to a CPI adjustment and 
can be used for any discretionary airport related purpose. As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, the excess deposit, 
which was transferred to the Revenue Fund annually by March, was approximately $84.1 million and $79.8 million, 
respectively. 
 
e. Relationship with County Departments – The Aviation Department reimburses the County’s General Fund for 
its portion of the direct administrative service cost, such as audit and management services, the Board, Clerk of 
the Courts, computer services and information systems, fire, police, personnel, and others. For the years ended 
September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Aviation Department recorded an expense in the amount of approximately 
$3.5 million and $3.3 million, respectively, for the indirect administrative services cost reimbursement in 
accordance with the formula developed as a result of the cost allocation study completed in fiscal year 2017, using 
administrative costs for fiscal year 2015. 
 
In addition, the Aviation Department pays other County departments directly for most services provided such as 
fire, police, legal, and general services administration. The total cost to the Aviation Department for these services 
was approximately $112.1 million and $93.0 million for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. 
 
As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Aviation Department owes the County approximately $4.3 million and 
$5.0 million, respectively, for various services. For this same period, the Aviation Department has receivables due 
from the County in the amount of approximately $0.1 million and $0.6 million, respectively. 
 
Note 2—Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
a. Basis of Accounting – The financial statements are presented on the accrual basis of accounting. Under this 
method, revenue is recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when incurred. 
 
b. Cash and Cash Equivalents – Cash includes cash on hand, amounts in demand deposits, and positions in 
investment pools that can be deposited or withdrawn without notice or penalty. Cash equivalents are short-term, 
highly liquid securities with known market values and maturities, when acquired, of less than three months. 
 
c. Investments – Investments consist primarily of U.S. government securities and are carried at fair value based 
on quoted market prices. 
 
d. Leases – The lease receivable and liability are measured at the present value of the fixed lease payments 
expected to be received or made during the lease term, using the Aviation Department’s weighted average 
incremental borrowing rate. The deferred inflow of resources and intangible right-to-use assets are equal to the 
lease receivable and liability, respectively, adjusted for payments received or made at or before the lease 
commencement date. Subsequently, the lease receivable is reduced by the principal portion of lease payments 
received, and the deferred inflow of resources is recognized as revenue over the life of the lease term. The lease 
liability is reduced by the principal portion of the lease payments made and the right-to-use asset is amortized on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease liabilities are included in lease and subscription liabilities and the 
right-to-use assets are reported with capital assets on the accompanying statement of net position. 
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Note 2—Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
The Aviation Department remeasures the lease receivable and lease liability, right-to-use assets and deferred 
inflow of resources, if certain changes occur that are expected to significantly affect the amount of the lease 
receivable or lease liability. 
 
e. Subscription Based Information Technology Agreements – The Aviation Department recognizes a 
subscription liability and an intangible right-to-use subscription asset at the commencement of the term. The 
subscription liability is measured at the present value of future payments and the intangible right-to-use asset is 
equal to the liability, adjusted for payments made at the start of the subscription term. The liability is reduced by 
the principal portion of payments made and the asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over the lease term, 
Subscription liabilities are included in lease and subscription liabilities and the intangible assets are reported with 
capital assets on the accompanying statement of net position. 
 
f. Inventories – Inventories, consisting of building materials/supplies and spare parts, are valued at cost using 
the first-in, first-out method. 
 
g. Capital Assets, Depreciation and Amortization – Property acquired with an initial individual cost of $1,000 or 
more and an estimated useful life in excess of one year is capitalized at cost. Capital assets are recorded at cost, 
except for contributions by third parties, which are recorded at acquisition value at the date of contribution. 
Expenditures for maintenance, repairs, minor renewals, and betterments are expensed as incurred. When 
property is disposed of, the cost and related, accumulated depreciation is eliminated from the accounts, and any 
gain or loss is reflected in the statement of revenue, expenses, and changes in net position. 
 
The Aviation Department depreciates assets using the straight-line method of depreciation over the assets’ 
estimated useful lives as follows: 
 
Buildings, improvements, and systems 40 years 
Infrastructure 20-30 years 
Furniture, machinery, and equipment 5-16 years 
 
Management evaluates whether there has been a significant, unexpected decline in the utility of a capital asset 
that could indicate an impairment in the capital asset. If there is an indication an asset may be impaired, the 
Aviation Department determines whether an impairment should be recognized. The Aviation Department 
concluded that no impairment exists as of September 30, 2024 and 2023. 
 
Right-to-use lease assets with an initial value of $200,000 or more, are recorded at the present value of future 
expected minimum lease payments, plus any payments made at or before the commencement date and are 
amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the related lease term. 
 
h. Interest on Indebtedness – Interest is charged to expense as incurred.   
 
i. Restricted Assets – Assets required to be reserved for airport maintenance and debt service pursuant to the 
Trust Agreement are classified as restricted assets and are not available for payment of current expenses. In 
accordance with the terms of the Trust Agreement, assets of the Reserve Maintenance Account are restricted for 
unusual or extraordinary maintenance or repairs, renewals, and replacements, the cost of replacing equipment, 
and premiums on insurance required to be carried under the provisions of the Trust Agreement and are not 
available for the payment of current expenses. 
 
Unexpended Passenger Facility Charges (“PFC”) revenue and accumulated interest earnings are restricted to be 
used on Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”) approved capital projects and are classified as restricted assets. 
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Note 2—Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Aviation Department’s policy to use 
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as needed. 
 
j. Compensated Absences – The Aviation Department accounts for compensated absences by accruing a 
liability for employees’ compensation of future absences. The Aviation Department’s policy permits employees to 
accumulate unused vacation and sick pay benefits that will be paid to them upon separation from service. The 
Aviation Department recognizes a liability and expense in the period vacation and sick pay benefits are earned. 
As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, liabilities related to compensated absences were approximately $38.5 million 
and $36.4 million, respectively, of which an estimated $12.4 million and $11.2 million, respectively, is payable 
within a year.  
 
k. Rent Advances – Rent payments that apply to future periods are recorded as rent advances, when received. 
See Note 6 to the financial statements for additional information.  
 
l. Environmental Remediation – Both environmental remediation expenses that relate to current operations and 
environmental remediation expenses that relate to an existing condition caused by past operations, and which do 
not contribute to current or future revenue generation, are expensed. Assets acquired for environmental 
remediation are capitalized as appropriate. 
 
m. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources – The statement of net position reports a separate section for deferred 
outflows of resources in addition to assets. Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of net assets 
that applies to future periods. As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Aviation Department reported deferred 
outflows of resources for pension related items as discussed in Note 11, for other postemployment benefits 
(“OPEB”) related items as discussed in Note 13, and for deferred losses on refundings.  
 
The statement of net position reports a separate section for deferred inflows of resources in addition to liabilities. 
Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net assets that applies to future periods. As of 
September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Aviation Department reported deferred inflows of resources for public-private 
partnerships as discussed in Note 8, leases as discussed in Note 9, pension related items as discussed in Note 11,  
OPEB related items as discussed in Note 13, and for deferred gains on refundings as discussed in Note 6b. 
 
The deferred (gain) loss on refundings results from the difference in the carrying value of the refunded debt and 
its reacquisition price. This amount is deferred and amortized over the shorter of the life of the refunded or the 
refunding debt as a component of interest expense using the weighted-average method, since the results are not 
significantly different from the effective-interest method, over the remaining life of the old debt or the life of the 
new debt, whichever is shorter. 
 
n. Bond Discount/Premium and Issuance Costs – Discount/premium on bonds are amortized over the life of the 
related bond using the effective interest method. Bond issuance costs are expensed as incurred, except any 
portion related to prepaid insurance costs, which are amortized. 
 
o. Pension Plan – The Aviation Department contributes to the Florida Retirement System (FRS) pension plan, a 
cost-sharing, multi-employer plan. For the purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of 
resources, and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and pension expense, information about the 
fiduciary net position of FRS and the Retiree Health Insurance Subsidy (HIS) Program, and additions 
to/deductions from FRS and HIS’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are 
reported by FRS and HIS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are 
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 
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Note 2—Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
p. Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) – The Aviation Department contributes to a single-employer, 
defined-benefit healthcare plan administered by the County. The postretirement health benefits are funded on a 
pay-as-you-go basis (i.e., the County funds on a cash basis as benefits are paid).  
 
q. Net Position Classifications – Net position is classified and displayed in three components: 
 

Net Investment in Capital Assets – Consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced 
by the outstanding balances of any bonds, notes, or other borrowings and deferred outflows of resources that 
are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. 
 
Restricted Net Position – Consists of net position with constraints placed on the use either by: (1) external 
groups, such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or (2) law 
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 
 
Unrestricted Net Position – All other net position that does not meet the definition of “restricted” or “net 
investment in capital assets”. 

 
r. Operating vs. Nonoperating Revenues and Expense – The Aviation Department distinguishes operating 
revenues and expenses from nonoperating items in its statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net 
position. The Aviation Department defines operating revenues and expenses as revenues earned and expenses 
incurred from aviation operations and services provided to customers and tenants. Nonoperating revenues and 
expenses include investment earnings, interest expense, government grants and contributions, and PFC 
collections. 
 
The components of the major revenue captions are as follows: 
 

Aviation Fees – Landing fees, concourse use charges, loading bridge use charges, baggage claim use 
charges, screening fees, airplane parking fees, and other similar facilities and service use fees and charges. 
 
Rentals – Rentals of land, buildings, and machinery and equipment. 
 
Management Agreements – Revenue from the automotive parking fees, the Airport Hotel, and the Fuel Farm. 
 
Concessions – Revenue from the sale of duty-free merchandise, rental car companies, and various services 
provided by terminal complex concessionaires. 

 
s. Grants from Government Agencies – Grants received to cover costs for operating expenses, debt obligations, 
and relief for concessionaires are recorded as nonoperating other revenue, when earned. The Aviation 
Department received FAA Airport grant awards under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act 
(“CARES Act”), Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act (“CRRSA Act”) and the 
American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 (“ARP Act”) totaling approximately $207.2 million, $39.5 million, and  
$160.1 million, respectively. During fiscal year 2023, the Aviation Department recorded approximately  
$130.2 million in grants under the FAA ARP Act programs to aid with costs related to debt obligations, operating 
expenses and concessions rent relief. There were no drawdowns in fiscal year 2024 as the full award was 
liquidated in fiscal year 2023. 
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Note 2—Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Grants received for the acquisition or construction of capital assets are recorded as capital contributions when all 
eligibility requirements have been met. Grants are earned when costs relating to such expenses, debt obligations, 
and capital assets, which are reimbursable under the terms of the grants, have been incurred. During fiscal years 
2024 and 2023, the Aviation Department recorded approximately $50.9 million and $24.7 million, respectively, in 
grants relating to contributions consisting of federal and state grants in aid of construction. Grant receivables 
relating to the contributions as of September 30, 2024 and 2023 were approximately $13.5 million and $4.8 million, 
respectively. 
 
t. Passenger Facility Charges – Effective January 1, 2002, the FAA authorized the Aviation Department to 
collect PFC of $4.50 per eligible enplaning, revenue-generating passengers in the aggregate amount not to 
exceed approximately $2.7 billion including interest. The latest application, approved by the FAA in April 2022, 
authorized the Aviation Department to collect PFCs through January 1, 2039. PFC revenue is reported as 
nonoperating revenue and the net receipts are restricted to be used for funding FAA-approved capital projects 
and debt service attributable to such approved capital projects. PFCs earned from inception through 
September 30, 2024 and 2023, was approximately $2.0 billion and $1.9 billion, respectively, including interest. 
 
u. Use of Estimates – The preparation of the financial statements requires management of the Aviation 
Department to make a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reported amounts of assets and 
deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources and the disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses 
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.  
 
v. Implementation of New Accounting Standards – In April 2022, GASB issued Statement No. 99, Omnibus 
2022. This statement addresses specific issues that have been identified during implementation of various 
standards. The requirements related to financial guarantees and the classification and reporting of derivative 
instruments within the scope of Statement 53 are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2023. 
The adoption of these requirements in fiscal year 2024 did not impact the Aviation Department’s financial 
statements and related disclosures. 
 
In June 2022, GASB issued Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections – an amendment of 
GASB Statement No. 62, which is effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2023. This statement 
establishes criteria for reporting accounting changes and error corrections in previously issued financial 
statements. The adoption of GASB Statement No. 100 in fiscal year 2024 did not impact the Aviation Department’s 
financial statements and related disclosures. 
 
w. Future Accounting Standards – In June 2022, GASB issued Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences, 
which is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2023. The statement updates the recognition 
and measurement guidance for compensated absences, requiring that liabilities for compensated absences be 
recognized for leave that has not been used and leave that has been used but not yet paid in cash or settled 
through noncash means. It also establishes guidance for measuring a liability for leave that has not been used. 
The Aviation Department is still in the process of determining what effect, if any, the above statement will have on 
the financial statements and related disclosures. 
 
In January 2024, GASB issued Statement No. 102, Certain Risk Disclosures, which is effective for reporting 
periods beginning after June 15, 2024. The statement requires governments to assess whether a concentration 
or constraint makes the government vulnerable to the risk of a substantial impact. Governments are required to 
assess whether an event or events associated with a concentration or constraint could cause the substantial 
impact to have occurred, have begun to occur or are more likely than not to begin to occur within twelve months 
of the date of the issuance of the financial statements. The Aviation Department is still in the process of 
determining what effect, if any, the above statement will have on the financial statements and related disclosures. 
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Note 2—Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
In April 2024, GASB issued Statement No. 103, Financial Reporting Model Improvements, which is effective for 
reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2025. The objective of the statement is to improve key components of 
the financial reporting model to enhance its effectiveness in providing essential information for decision making 
and assessing a government’s accountability. The standard requires certain changes to the presentation of 
unusual or infrequent items, presentation of the proprietary fund statement of revenues, expenses, and changes 
to net position, major component unit information, budgetary comparison information, and management’s 
discussion and analysis. The Aviation Department is still in the process of determining what effect, if any, the 
above statement will have on the financial statements and related disclosures. 
 
In September 2024, GASB issued Statement No. 104, Disclosure of Certain Capital Assets, which is effective for 
reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2025. The statement requires certain types of capital assets, such as 
capital assets held for sale, intangible assets, lease assets, and subscription assets to be disclosed separately by 
major class of underlying asset in the capital asset note disclosures. The Aviation Department is still in the process 
of determining what effect, if any, the above statement will have on the financial statements and related 
disclosures. 
 
Note 3—Cash, cash equivalents, and investments 
 
The County is authorized through Florida Statutes Section 218.415, Ordinance No. 84-47, Resolution R-31-09 
and its Investment Policy to make certain investments. The Investment Policy was updated and adopted on 
January 22, 2009, in response to current and possible uncertainties in the domestic and international financial 
markets. The County’s overall investment objectives are, in order of priority, the safety of principal, liquidity of 
funds, and maximizing investment income. 
 
As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, total unrestricted and restricted cash and cash equivalents and investments 
comprise the following (in thousands): 
 

2024 2023
Cash and cash equivalents 1,477,651$       1,178,750$       
Investments, including interest receivable 100,672            411,995            

1,578,323$       1,590,745$       

 
The carrying amounts of the Aviation Department’s local deposits were approximately $62.8 million and 
$58.2 million as of September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. All deposits are fully insured by Federal 
Depository Insurance and are held in qualified, public depositories pursuant to Florida Statutes Chapter 280, 
Florida Security for Public Deposits Act (the “Act”). Under the Act, all qualified public depositories are required to 
pledge eligible collateral having a market value equal to or greater than the average daily or monthly balance of 
all public deposits times the depository’s collateral pledging level. The pledging level may range from 50% to 
125% depending upon the depository’s financial condition and establishment period. All collateral must be 
deposited with an approved financial institution. Any losses to public depositors are covered by applicable deposit 
insurance, sale of securities pledged as collateral, and, if necessary, assessments against other qualified public 
depositories of the same type as the depository in default. 
 
As a rule, the Aviation Department intends to hold all purchased securities until their final maturity date. There 
may be occasional exceptions, including, but not limited to, the need to sell securities to meet unexpected liquidity 
needs. 
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Note 3—Cash, cash equivalents, and investments (continued) 
 
Cash, cash equivalents, and investments as of September 30, 2024 and 2023 are summarized as follows 
(in thousands): 
 

2024 2023

Cash deposits 62,792$            58,184$            

U.S. government securities 1,218,015         1,146,872         
Treasury bills 121,612            180,358            
Commercial paper 119,869            156,378            
Money market 56,035             48,953             

Total cash equivalents and investments 1,515,531         1,532,561         

Total cash, cash equivalents, and investments 1,578,323$       1,590,745$       

 
At September 30, 2024 and 2023, the carrying value of cash equivalents and investments included the following 
(in thousands): 
 

2024 2023
Investment Type

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 155,608$          101,902$          
Federal Home Loan Bank 718,049            748,108            
Federal Farm Credit Bank 68,547             171,043            
Federal National Mortgage Association 275,811            125,819            
Treasury bills 121,612            180,358            
Commercial paper 119,869            156,378            
Money market 56,035             48,953             

1,515,531$       1,532,561$       

 
a. Credit Risk – The Aviation Department’s Investment Policy (the “Policy”) minimizes credit risk by restricting 
authorized investments to: Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund or any intergovernmental investment 
pool authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal Cooperation Act; Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) 
registered money market funds with the highest credit quality rating from a nationally recognized rating agency; 
interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts in qualified public depositories, pursuant to Florida Statutes 
Section 280.02, which are defined as banks, savings bank, or savings association organized under the laws of 
the United States with an office in this state that is authorized to receive deposits, and has deposit insurance 
under the provisions of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act; direct obligations of the U.S. Treasury; federal agencies 
and instrumentalities; securities of, or other interest in, any open-end or closed-end management-type investment 
company or investment trust registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, provided the portfolio is 
limited to the obligations of the U.S. government or any agency or instrumentality thereof and to repurchase 
agreements fully collateralized by such U.S. government obligations, and provided such investment company or 
investment trust takes delivery of such collateral either directly or through an authorized custodian; commercial 
paper of prime quality with a stated maturity of 270 days or less from the date of its issuance, which has the 
highest letter and numerical rating as provided for by at least one nationally recognized rating service; banker 
acceptances that have a stated maturity of 180 days or less from the date of its issuance, and have the highest 
letter and numerical rating as provided for by at least one nationally recognized rating service, and are drawn on 
and accepted by commercial banks and that are eligible for purchase by the Federal Reserve Bank; and 
investments in Repurchase Agreements (“Repos”) collateralized by securities authorized by this policy. 
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Note 3—Cash, cash equivalents, and investments (continued) 
 
All Repos shall be governed by a standard SIFMA Master Repurchase Agreement; municipal securities issued by 
U.S., state, or local governments, having at time of purchase, a stand-alone credit rating of AA or better assigned 
by two or more recognized credit rating agencies or a short-term credit rating of A1/P1 or equivalent from one or 
more recognized credit rating agencies. 
 
The table below summarizes the investments by type and credit ratings as of September 30, 2024: 
 

Investment Type S&P Moody’s Fitch
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation AA+/A-1+ Aaa/P-1 AAA/F-1+ 

Federal Home Loan Bank AA+/A-1+ Aaa/P-1 N/A
Federal Farm Credit Bank AA+/A-1+ Aaa/P-1 AA/F1+
Federal National Mortgage Association AA+/A-1+ Aaa/P-1 AA/F1+
Treasury bills AA+u/A-1+u Aaa/P-1 AA+u/F1+u
Commercial paper NA/A-1+ NA/P-1 NA/F1+

Money market AAAm Aaa-mf AAAmmf

Credit Rating

 
The table below summarizes the investments by type and credit ratings as of September 30, 2023: 
 

S&P Moody’s Fitch
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation AA+/A-1+ Aaa/P-1 AAA/F-1+ 
Federal Home Loan Bank AA+/A-1+ Aaa/P-1 N/A
Federal Farm Credit Bank AA+/A-1+ Aaa/P-1 AAA/F1+
Federal National Mortgage Association AA+/A-1+ Aaa/P-1 AAA/F1+
Treasury bills AA+u/A-1+u Aaa/P-1 AAA/F1+
Commercial paper NA/A-1+ NA/P-1 NA/F1
Money market AAAm Aaa-mf AAAmmf

Credit Rating
Investment Type

 
b. Custodial Credit Risk – The Policy requires that bank deposits be secured per Chapter 280, Florida Statutes. 
This requires local governments to deposit funds only in financial institutions designated as qualified, public 
depositories by the Chief Financial Officer of the state of Florida and creates the Public Deposits Trust Fund, a 
multiple financial institution pool with the ability to assess its member financial institutions for collateral shortfalls 
if a default or insolvency has occurred. As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, all of the County’s bank deposits 
were in qualified public depositories. 
 
The Policy requires the execution of a Custodial Safekeeping Agreement for all purchased securities and shall be 
held for the credit of the County in an account separate and apart from the assets of the financial institution. 
 
c. Concentration of Credit Risk – The Policy establishes limitations on portfolio composition by investment type 
and by issuer to limit its exposure to concentration of credit risk. The Policy provides that a maximum of 50% of 
the portfolio may be invested in the state of Florida Local Government Surplus Trust Fund (the “Pool”); however, 
bond proceeds may be temporarily deposited in the Pool until other investments have been purchased. Prior to 
any investment in the Pool, approval must be received from the Board. A maximum of 30% of the portfolio may 
be invested in SEC-registered money market funds with no more than 10% to any single money market fund. 
A maximum of 20% of the portfolio may be invested in interest-bearing time deposits or demand accounts with 
no more than 5% deposited with any one issuer. 
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Note 3—Cash, cash equivalents, and investments (continued) 
 
There is no limit on the percentage of the total portfolio that may be invested in direct obligations of the 
U.S. Treasury or federal agencies and instrumentalities, with no limits on individual issuers (investment in 
agencies containing call options shall be limited to a maximum of 25% of the total portfolio). A maximum of 5% of 
the portfolio may be invested in open-end or closed-end funds. A maximum of 50% of the portfolio may be in prime 
commercial paper with a maximum of 5% with any one issuer. A maximum of 25% of the portfolio may be invested 
in bankers’ acceptances with a maximum of 10% with any one issuer, but a maximum of 60% of the portfolio may 
be invested in both commercial paper and bankers’ acceptances. A maximum of 20% of the portfolio may be 
invested in repurchase agreements with the exception of one (1) business day agreement, with a maximum of 
10% of the portfolio in any one institution or dealer with the exception of one (1) business day agreement. 
Investments in derivative products shall be prohibited by the County. A maximum of 25% of the portfolio may be 
directly invested in municipal obligations, up to 5% with any one municipal issuer. 
 
As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, the following issuers held 5% or more of the investment portfolio: 
 

2024 2023
Issuer

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 10.27% 6.65%
Federal Home Loan Bank 47.38% 48.81%
Federal Farm Credit Bank 0.00% 11.16%
Federal National Mortgage Association 18.20% 8.21%
Treasury bills 8.02% 11.77%
Commercial paper 7.91% 10.20%

 
d. Interest Rate Risk – The Policy limits interest rate risk by requiring the matching of known cash needs and 
anticipated net cash outflow requirements; following historical spread relationships between different security 
types and issuers; and evaluating both interest rate forecasts and maturity dates to consider short-term market 
expectations. The Policy requires that investments made with current operating funds shall maintain a weighted 
average of no longer than one year. Investments for bond reserves, construction funds, and other nonoperating 
funds shall have a term appropriate to the need for funds and in accordance with debt covenants. The Policy limits 
the maturity of an investment to a maximum of five years. 
 
As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, the County had the following investments with the respective weighted 
average maturity in years: 
 

2024 2023
Investment Type

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 0.074 0.425
Federal Home Loan Bank 0.112 0.263
Federal Farm Credit Bank 0.129 0.096
Federal National Mortgage Association 0.052 0.184
Treasury bills 0.115 0.049
Commercial paper 0.085 0.137
Money market 0.003 0.003

 
e. Foreign Currency Risk – The Policy limits the Aviation Department’s foreign currency risk by excluding foreign 
investments as an investment option. 
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Note 3—Cash, cash equivalents, and investments (continued) 
 
f. Fair Value Measurement – The Aviation Department categorizes its investments according to the fair value 
hierarchy established by U.S. GAAP. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair 
value of the assets. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are 
significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. Level 1 assets are valued 
using quoted prices in an active market for identical assets that can be readily obtained, and Level 2 assets are 
valued using a matrix pricing technique of quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets. 
Money market funds are reported at amortized cost which approximates fair value. 
 
At September 30, 2024, the carrying value of cash equivalents and investments included the following 
(in thousands): 
 
Investments at Fair Value Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 155,608$      -$                 155,608$      -$                 
Federal Home Loan Bank 718,049        -                   718,049        -                   
Federal Farm Credit Bank 68,547          -                   68,547          -                   
Federal National Mortgage Association 275,811        -                   275,811        -                   
Treasury bills 121,612        121,612        -                   -                   
Commercial paper 119,869        -                   119,869        -                   

Total investments at fair value 1,459,496     121,612$      1,337,884$    -$                 

Money market at amortized cost 56,035          

Total investments and cash equivalents 1,515,531$    

 
At September 30, 2023, the carrying value of cash equivalents and investments included the following 
(in thousands): 
 
Investments at Fair Value Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 101,902$      -$                 101,902$      -$                 
Federal Home Loan Bank 748,108        -                   748,108        -                   
Federal Farm Credit Bank 171,043        -                   171,043        -                   
Federal National Mortgage Association 125,819        -                   125,819        -                   
Treasury bills 180,358        180,358        -                   -                   
Commercial paper 156,378        -                   156,378        -                   

Total investments at fair value 1,483,608     180,358$      1,303,250$    -$                 

Money market at amortized cost 48,953          

Total investments and cash equivalents 1,532,561$    
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Note 4—Accounts receivable and payable 
 
a. Receivables – Accounts receivable as of September 30, 2024 and 2023 are as follows (in thousands):  
 

2024 2023

Accounts receivable - trade 42,120$            36,756$            
Accounts receivable - management companies 3,839               2,570               
Due from government agencies 588                  638                  
Other receivables -                      31                    

46,547             39,995             
Allowance for doubtful accounts (3,553)              (3,643)              

Total accounts receivable, net 42,994$            36,352$            

 
As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, 99% and 98%, respectively, of accounts receivable, net of allowance for 
doubtful accounts, are due from customers (tenants, carriers, and business partners) and 1% and 2%, 
respectively, are due from government agencies.  
 
b. Payables – Accounts payable, contracts payable and accrued liabilities as of September 30, 2024 and 2023 
are as follows (in thousands):  
 

2024 2023

Accounts payable and accrued expenses - trade 29,031$            31,562$            
Accounts payable and accrued expenses - contracts 43,851             29,474             
Accrued expenses - management companies 4,747               5,774               
Accrued expenses - salaries and wages 7,563               5,776               
Accrued interest payable - lease and subscription liabilities 22                    27                    

Total accounts payable and accrued expenses 85,214$            72,613$            
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Note 5—Capital assets  
 
A summary of capital asset activity and changes in accumulated depreciation and amortization for the year ended 
September 30, 2024 is as follows (in thousands): 

 
Balance at Deletions/ Balance at

October 1, Additions/ Transfers and September 30,

2023 Transfers Retirements 2024
Nondepreciable capital assets:

Land 146,906$         45,619$           -$                      192,525$         

Construction in progress 110,789           178,806           (67,615)            221,980           

Total nondepreciable capital assets 257,695           224,425           (67,615)            414,505           

Depreciable capital assets:

Buildings, improvements, and systems 7,388,374        44,770             (7,024)              7,426,120        

Infrastructure 1,688,253        19,553             -                         1,707,806        

Furniture, machinery, and equipment 1,196,569        13,702             (7,120)              1,203,151        

Right-to-use lease assets:

Buildings 7,355                -                         -                         7,355                

Subscription assets 2,409                -                         -                         2,409                

Total depreciable capital at historical cost 10,282,960     78,025             (14,144)            10,346,841     

Less accumulated depreciation/amortization:

Buildings, improvements, and systems (3,370,111)      (177,785)          7,024                (3,540,872)      

Infrastructure (1,139,152)      (42,944)            -                         (1,182,096)      

Furniture, machinery, and equipment (712,955)          (61,028)            6,851                (767,132)          

Right-to-use lease assets:

Buildings (1,188)              (595)                  -                         (1,783)              

Subscription assets (505)                  (505)                  -                         (1,010)              

Total accumulated depreciation/amortization (5,223,911)      (282,857)          13,875             (5,492,893)      

Depreciable capital assets, net 5,059,049        (204,832)          (269)                  4,853,948        

Total capital assets, net 5,316,744$     19,593$           (67,884)$          5,268,453$     
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Note 5—Capital assets (continued) 
 
A summary of capital asset activity and changes in accumulated depreciation and amortization for the year ended 
September 30, 2023 is as follows (in thousands): 
 

Balance at Deletions/ Balance at

October 1, Additions/ Transfers and September 30,

2022 Transfers Retirements 2023
Nondepreciable capital assets:

Land 146,906$         -$                      -$                      146,906$         

Construction in progress 124,539           89,871             (103,621)          110,789           

Total nondepreciable capital assets 271,445           89,871             (103,621)          257,695           

Depreciable capital assets:

Buildings, improvements, and systems 7,387,188        4,160                (2,974)              7,388,374        

Infrastructure 1,595,406        92,847             -                         1,688,253        

Furniture, machinery, and equipment 1,164,622        35,345             (3,398)              1,196,569        

Right-to-use lease assets:

Buildings 7,355                -                         -                         7,355                

Subscription assets -                         2,409                -                         2,409                

Total depreciable capital at historical cost 10,154,571     134,761           (6,372)              10,282,960     

Less accumulated depreciation/amortization:

Buildings, improvements, and systems (3,195,977)      (177,108)          2,974                (3,370,111)      

Infrastructure (1,095,804)      (43,348)            -                         (1,139,152)      

Furniture, machinery, and equipment (654,442)          (61,803)            3,290                (712,955)          

Right-to-use lease assets:

Buildings (594)                  (594)                  -                         (1,188)              

Subscription assets -                         (505)                  -                         (505)                  

Total accumulated depreciation/amortization (4,946,817)      (283,358)          6,264                (5,223,911)      

Depreciable capital assets, net 5,207,754        (148,597)          (108)                  5,059,049        

Total capital assets, net 5,479,199$     (58,726)$          (103,729)$       5,316,744$     

 
 
For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Aviation Department reported depreciation and 
amortization expense of approximately $282.9 million and $283.4 million, respectively. 
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Note 6—Long-term Liabilities 
 
a. Long-Term Liabilities – The following is a summary of changes in long-term liabilities as of September 30, 2024 
and 2023 (in thousands): 
 

Balance at Total at

October 1, September 30, Due Within

2023 Additions Reductions 2024 One Year

Bonds payable:

Revenue bonds 4,951,305$   918,185$      (1,155,395)$  4,714,095$   165,200$      

General obligation bonds 174,670         -                      (6,655)            168,015         6,985             

Premium/discount on issuance 251,965         82,488           (72,911)          261,542         -                      

Total bonds payable 5,377,940     1,000,673     (1,234,961)    5,143,652     172,185         

Other liabilities:

Commercial paper notes 40,000           370,000         (290,000)       120,000         -                      

Environmental remediation 42,180           -                      (6,000)            36,180           4,530             

Compensated absences 36,355           16,536           (14,376)          38,515           12,367           

Rent advances 41,016           2,645             (3,734)            39,927           2,645             

Other postemployment benefits 28,480           13,860           (22,950)          19,390           1,163             

Net pension liability:

FRS 93,507           1,979             (7,224)            88,262           -                      

HIS 31,067           -                      (3,133)            27,934           -                      

Lease and subscription liabilities:

Lease liabilities 6,586             -                      (418)               6,168             458                 

Subscription liabilities 1,905             -                      (480)               1,425             504                 

Financed purchase liability 54,879           -                      (5,016)            49,863           5,357             

Total other liabilities 375,975         405,020         (353,331)       427,664         27,024           

Total long-term liabilities 5,753,915$   1,405,693$   (1,588,292)$  5,571,316$   199,209$      
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Note 6—Long-term Liabilities (continued) 
 

Balance at Total at

October 1, September 30, Due Within

2022 Additions Reductions 2023 One Year

Bonds payable:

Revenue bonds 5,075,880$   -$                    (124,575)$     4,951,305$   158,785$      

General obligation bonds 175,670         -                      (1,000)            174,670         6,655             

Premium/discount on issuance 276,360         -                      (24,395)          251,965         -                      

Total bonds payable 5,527,910     -                      (149,970)       5,377,940     165,440         

Other liabilities:

Commercial paper notes 30,064           250,000         (240,064)       40,000           -                      

Environmental remediation 46,080           -                      (3,900)            42,180           8,600             

Compensated absences 39,617           11,025           (14,287)          36,355           11,179           

Rent advances 24,249           24,694           (7,927)            41,016           3,294             

Postemployment benefits 26,153           5,378             (3,051)            28,480           697                 

Net pension liability:

FRS 85,376           8,994             (863)               93,507           -                      

HIS 20,367           11,276           (576)               31,067           -                      

Other long-term liabilities:

Lease liabilities 6,968             -                      (382)               6,586             418                 

Subscription liabilities -                      2,409             (504)               1,905             480                 

Financed purchase liability 59,569           -                      (4,690)            54,879           5,016             

Total other liabilities 338,443         313,776         (276,244)       375,975         29,684           

Total long-term liabilities 5,866,353$   313,776$      (426,214)$     5,753,915$   195,124$      

 
b. Aviation Revenue Bonds – Aviation Revenue Bonds are issued to finance the construction of facilities at the 
Airports pursuant to the Trust Agreement and are payable solely from and are collateralized by a pledge of net 
revenue, as defined in the Trust Agreement. The Aviation Revenue Bonds do not constitute a debt of the County or 
a pledge of the full faith and credit of the County. 
 
Pursuant to Section 802 of the Trust Agreement, events of default resulting in finance related consequences in 
respect to the Aviation Revenue Bonds include: 1) failure to pay principal when due and payable; 2) payment of 
interest installment not being made within 10 days after interest is due and payable; 3) if the amount deposited in 
any fiscal year in the Redemption Account and Reserve accounts do not meet the requirements of the Trust 
Agreement; 4) if the County is rendered incapable of fulfilling its obligations; 5) if final judgment for the payment 
of money shall be rendered against the County as a result of owning and controlling Port Authority Properties and 
the judgment is not discharged within 60 days from entry or an appeal is not taken; 6) if an order or decree is 
entered with or without the consent of the County, appointing a receiver or receivers of the Port Authority 
Properties or of the Revenue thereof, and the order shall not be vacated or discharged or stayed on appeal within 
60 days after entry; 7) if any proceeding is instituted resulting from creditor claims that are payable out of Revenues 
as defined by the Trust Agreement, with consent or acquiescence of the County, affecting a composition between 
the County and its creditors, or adjusted creditor claims, pursuant to any federal or state statute now or hereafter 
enacted; 8) if the County defaults in the performance of any covenants, conditions, agreements, and provisions 
contained in the bonds or Trust Agreement, and such default continues 30 days after written notice is provided to 
the County by the Trustee. 
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Note 6—Long-term Liabilities (continued) 
 
Pursuant to Section 803 of the Trust Agreement, the finance related consequences resulting from events of default 
specified in Section 802, is the acceleration of bond maturities. In each case of default, the Trustee may, and upon 
written request of not less than 20% of the bond holders, by a notice in writing to the County, declare the principal 
of all the bonds then Outstanding to be due and payable immediately. The Trust Agreement or Aviation Revenue 
Bond agreements do not call for termination events or subjective acceleration clauses; other than the acceleration 
clause mentioned above resulting from events of default.  
 
On August 1, 2024, the Aviation Department issued $779.7 million and $138.5 million of Aviation Refunding 
Bonds, at a premium of $65.5 million and $17.0 million, respectively (Series 2024A and Series 2024B).  
The Series 2024A and 2014B refunding bonds bear stated interest of 5.00%, which is payable semiannually on 
April 1 and October 1 each year. The net proceeds were placed in an irrevocable trust account to partially refund 
$261.7 million of the Revenue Bond Series 2014 outstanding principal, fully refund $580.1 million of the Revenue 
Bond Series 2014A outstanding principal, fully refund $154.8 million of the Revenue Bond Series 2014B 
outstanding principal. The Series 2014, 2014A, and 2014B bonds will mature on October 30, 2024, and as of 
September 30, 2024, the Irrevocable Escrow Account for the refunding had approximately $1.0 billion.   
 
At August 1, 2024, the Aviation Department recognized a deferred gain on refunding totaling $42.1 million, 
resulting from the difference between the net carrying amount of the refunded debt and the reacquisition price. 
The amount is being amortized over the life of the new bond using the weighted-average method and for the fiscal 
year ended September 30, 2024, the Aviation Department reported a deferred gain on refunding of approximately 
$41.3 million, included in deferred inflow of resources on the accompanying statements of net position. The 
refunding also resulted in a net present value savings of approximately $83.7 million. 
 
The County has defeased Aviation Revenue Bond Series 2014, 2014A and 2014B by placing the proceeds of the 
new bond issues in an irrevocable trust account to provide for all future debt service payments of the defeased 
debt. Such proceeds are invested in direct obligations of the U.S. government and will provide for all future debt 
service payments on the old bonds. Accordingly, the related assets and liabilities for the portion of the refunded 
series are not included in the Aviation Department’s financial statements. 
 

Principal
Date of Final Amount

Revenue Bonds Refunding Call Date Maturity Date Defeased
Series:

2014 August 1, 2024 10/30/2024 October 1, 2034 261,715            
2014A August 1, 2024 10/30/2024 October 1, 2036 580,105            
2014B August 1, 2024 10/30/2024 October 1, 2037 154,790            

Total 996,610$          

Miami-Dade County Aviation Department Defeased Debt (In Thousands)
September 30, 2024
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Note 6—Long Term Liabilities (continued) 
 
A summary of the Aviation Revenue Bonds outstanding as of September 30, 2024 and 2023 is as follows (in 
thousands): 
 

Revenue Bonds Issue Date Rate Maturity 2024 2023

Serial bonds:

2015A July 2015 5.000% 2025-2034 22,760$          24,485$            

2002A December 2002 5.050% 2037 15                     15                      

22,775$          24,500$            

Term bonds:

2019A May 2019 4.000%-5.000% 2044-2050 282,180$        282,180$         

2015A July 2015 4.250%-5.000% 2037–2046 45,595             45,595              

2008A June 2008 5.500% 2042 15                     15                      

327,790$        327,790$         

Miami-Dade County Aviation Department Debt Outstanding
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Note 6—Long Term Liabilities (continued) 
 

Revenue Bonds Issue Date Rate Maturity 2024 2023

Serial bonds:

2024B August 2024 5.000% 2026-2038 138,455$        -$                       

2024A August 2024 5.000% 2028-2037 779,730          -                         

2020B December 2020 1.229%-2.857% 2026-2036 78,645             78,645              

2020A December 2020 4.000%-5.000% 2025-2042 270,595          301,760            

2019E August 2019 2.046%-2.649% 2025-2033 343,010          347,580            

2019B May 2019 2.805%-3.555% 2025-2035 196,180          197,675            

2018C August 2018 3.405%-4.162% 2025–2034 259,170          273,220            

2018A August 2018 5.000% 2039–2042 9,830               9,830                

2017D August 2017 2.769%-3.554% 2025–2033 88,015             89,490              

2017B August 2017 5.000%    2038 1,060               1,060                

2016B August 2016 2.504%-3.756% 2025–2037 253,695          290,255            

2016A August 2016 5.000% 2025–2037 159,105          173,495            

2015B July 2015 5.000% 2026–2028 38,500             38,500              

2015A July 2015 5.000% 2025–2034 23,530             23,530              

2014B December 2014 5.000% 2026–2035 -                        72,540              

2014A December 2014 4.000%-5.000% 2026–2037 -                        580,105            

2014 March 2014 4.375%-5.000% 2024–2035 2,040               265,700            

2012B December 2012 3.000%-5.000% 2025–2030 21,685             33,040              

2012A December 2012 5.000%    2025 42,050             82,105              

2,705,295       2,858,530        

Term bonds:

2020B December 2020 3.270% 2042 35,325             35,325              

2018C August 2018 4.280% 2042 480,340          480,340            

2017D August 2017 3.732%-3.982% 2038-2042 180,550          180,550            

2017B August 2017 5.000% 2041 302,485          302,485            

2017A March 2017 4.000% 2041 145,800          145,800            

2016B August 2016 3.856% 2042 52,560             52,560              

2016A August 2016 5.000% 2042 136,190          136,190            

2015A July 2015 4.250%-5.000% 2035–2039 324,985          324,985            

2014B December 2014 5.000% 2038 -                        82,250              

1,658,235       1,740,485        

Grand total 4,714,095$     4,951,305$    

Miami-Dade County Aviation Department Debt Outstanding (Refunding)
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Note 6—Long-term Liabilities (continued) 
 
c. Maturities of Bonds Payable – The annual debt service requirements are as follows (in thousands): 
 

Aviation
Revenue

Bonds
Years Ending September 30, Principal Interest

2025 165,200$          187,580$          
2026 167,575            194,475            
2027 180,380            189,136            
2028 175,440            183,117            
2029 183,460            177,015            
2030-2034 1,069,070         774,914            
2035-2039 1,424,100         509,997            
2040-2044 1,118,420         165,304            
2045-2049 189,000            38,639             
2050 41,450             2,073               

4,714,095         2,422,250$       

Plus unamortized premium 250,114            

4,964,209$       

 
Bond premium is added, and bond discount is deducted from the face amount of bonds payable. Deferred gain 
or loss on defeased debt is shown separately as a deferred inflow or deferred outflow in the statement of net 
position. Bond premium and discount are amortized as additional interest expense using the effective interest 
method. Amortization of bond discount or premium for Aviation Revenue Bonds and Double-Barreled Aviation 
Bonds was approximately $22.5 million and $24.4 million for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively, and is included in interest expense in the accompanying statement of revenue, expenses, and 
changes in net position. 
 
d. Double-Barreled Aviation Bond – On October 22, 2020, the Aviation Department issued approximately 
$177.7 million of Double-Barreled Aviation Refunding Bond (“General Obligation”), Series 2020, at a premium of 
approximately $22.2 million. The Series 2020 Refunding Bonds, which fully refunded the Series 2010  
Double-Barreled Aviation General Obligation Bond, are a General Obligation of the County, secured by the full 
faith, credit, and taxing power of the County. The Series 2020 Refunding Bonds are payable from ad valorem 
taxes levied on all taxable property in the County, without limitation as to rate or amount, to the extent Net Available 
Airport Revenues are insufficient to pay debt services on the Series 2020 Bonds. “Net Available Airport Revenues” 
is defined to mean any unencumbered funds held for the credit of the Improvement Fund created under the Trust 
Agreement after the payment of all obligations of the County pertaining to the County airports which are payable 
pursuant to, and subject to, the restrictions of (i) the Trust Agreement, (ii) any Airline Use Agreement then in effect, 
or (iii) any other indenture, trust agreement, or contract.  
 
Sections 11.01 and 11.02 of the County Resolution 1364-09, provides events of default and remedies to the 
events of default in respect to the Series 2010 Bonds; however, there are no finance related consequences that 
result from an event of default. The Resolution does not call for termination events or subjective acceleration 
clauses. 
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Note 6—Long-term Liabilities (continued) 
 
The Series 2020 Refunding Bonds, of which approximately $168.0 million remains outstanding as of 
September 30, 2024, will provide long-term financing for certain capital improvement comprising a part of the 
Capital Improvement Program for the Aviation Department. The proceeds will be used for financing or reimbursing 
the County for costs of the acquisition, construction, improvement, and/or installation by the Aviation Department 
of its MIA Mover Program and a portion of its North Terminal Program. The Series 2020 refunding bonds bear 
stated interest ranging from 2.25% to 5.00%, with principal payments due July 1, 2025 to 2041. 
 

Issue Date Rate Maturity 2024 2023

Refunding serial:

2020 October 2020 2.250%-5.000% 2025-2041 168,015$          174,670$           

Miami-Dade County Aviation Department Debt Outstanding (In Thousands)

 
e. Maturities of Double-Barreled Aviation Bonds Payable – The annual debt service requirements are as follows: 
(in thousands): 
 

General
Obligation

Bonds
Years Ending September 30, Principal Interest
2025 6,985$             5,785$             
2026 7,335               5,435               
2027 7,705               5,068               
2028 8,090               4,683               
2029 8,490               4,279               
2030-2034 48,375             15,480             
2035-2039 56,405             7,453               
2040-2041 24,630             912                  

168,015            49,095$            

Plus unamortized premium 11,428             

179,443$          

 
f. Lease Liabilities – The Aviation Department extended their 5-year industrial warehouse building lease 
agreement for an additional 10 years through 2034. The agreement has fixed monthly payments over the lease 
term and does not contain variable payments or guaranteed residual values. The lease liability was measured at 
the present value of expected future lease payments. For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, 
the Aviation Department reported a lease liability of approximately $6.2 million and $6.6 million, respectively, 
included in lease and subscription liabilities on the accompanying statement of net position. In addition, for the 
years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Aviation Department reported interest expense of approximately 
$0.3 million and $0.3 million, respectively. 
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Note 6—Long-term Liabilities (continued) 
 
The future minimum principal and interest payments under this agreement as of September 30, 2024 are as 
follows (in thousands): 
 
Years Ending September 30, Principal Interest Total

2025 458$                251$                709$                
2026 499                  232                  731                  
2027 543                  210                  753                  
2028 589                  186                  775                  
2029 639                  160                  799                  
2030-2034 3,440               341                  3,781               

6,168$             1,380$             7,548$             

 
g. Subscription Liabilities - The Aviation Department entered into subscription agreements, whereby the Aviation 
Department has the right to use and control vendors’ information technology software, alone or in combination 
with other assets. The agreements, with terms expiring in fiscal years 2026 and 2027, include no options to extend, 
and provide for fixed annual or monthly payments over the lease term, with no variable payments. The subscription 
liability was measured at the present value of expected future payments. For the fiscal years ended September 
30, 2024 and 2023, the Aviation Department reported subscription liabilities of approximately $1.4 million and  
$1.9 million, respectively, included in lease and subscription liabilities on the accompanying statement of net 
position. In addition, for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Aviation Department reported interest 
expense of approximately $69,319 and $88,869, respectively. 
 
The future minimum principal and interest payments for subscription liabilities as of September 30, 2024, are as 
follows (in thousands): 
 
Years Ending September 30, Principal Interest Total

2025 504$                53$                  557$                

2026 529                  31                    560                  

2027 392                  8                     400                  

1,425$             92$                  1,517$             

 
h. Financed Purchase – The Aviation Department has entered into various agreements with banks to provide 
capital to finance the lease/purchase of certain energy improvement equipment. These arrangements are not 
reported as leases, as the equipment are owned by the Aviation Department and capitalized at cost. The 
capitalized cost related to these financed purchases is $79.4 million, with a carrying value at September 30, 2024 
and 2023 of $51.3 million and $56.1 million, respectively, net of accumulated depreciation of $28.1 million and 
$23.3 million, respectively.  
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Note 6—Long-term Liabilities (continued) 
 
The future minimum payments for principal and interest under these agreements are as follows (in thousands): 
 
Years Ending September 30, Principal Interest

2025 5,357$             1,448$             
2026 5,599               1,292               
2027 5,736               1,131               
2028 6,110               965                  
2029 6,501               787                  
2030-2034 20,560             1,569               

49,863$            7,192$             

 
i. Rent Advances – The Aviation Department has entered into several development lease agreements 
permitting tenants of airside facilities to construct some buildings with private financing or funding. Accordingly, 
certain hangars and cargo facilities, including those for Federal Express, UPS, LATAM Airlines Group, and 
Centurion Air Cargo, have been constructed with private financing. Ownership to such improvements is retained 
in the tenant’s name and reverts to the Aviation Department after a stated period or at the end of the lease term, 
at which time the tenant is obligated to pay building rent in addition to ground rent. Depending on the condition of 
the improvements, the Aviation Department reserves the right to require the tenant to demolish the facilities. 
 
In fiscal year 2023, LATAM Airlines Group S.A. and Aero Miami I, LLC (Aero Miami), extended their 25-year 
development lease agreement for an additional 10 years through August 15, 2036, and Aero Miami prepaid the 
improvement building rent totaling approximately $21.4 million, that is due on the facility from August 16, 2026 to 
the lease expiration date in 2036.  
 
Similarly, in fiscal year 2022, Federal Express Corporation and Aero Miami FX, LLC (Aero Miami), extended their 
25-year development lease term for an additional 21 years through August 2050, and prepaid building rent totaling 
approximately $15.4 million, that is due on the facility from March 26, 2029 to the lease expiration date in 2050.  
 
These agreements are reported as regulated leases, and as of September 30, 2024 and 2023, liabilities related 
to rent advances were approximately $39.9 million and $41.0 million, respectively, including approximately $2.6 
million and $3.3 million, respectively of rent paid in September 2024 and 2023, but due in October 2024 and 2023. 
 
j. Commercial Paper Notes – As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, the County had $120.0 million and  
$40.0 million, respectively, outstanding of Commercial Paper Notes (“Notes”) plus accrued interest of $367,183 
and $88,794, respectively.  
 
The proceeds of the Notes were used to finance certain Airport and Airport related improvements. The Notes and 
accrued interest are payable solely from proceeds of future Revenue Bonds and any unencumbered monies in 
the Improvement Fund. The Notes are secured and payable under an irrevocable transferrable direct-pay letter 
of credit. The letter of credit, in the amount of $200.0 million, was approved for the purpose of making funds readily 
available for the payment of principal and interest on the Notes. As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, there was 
$80.0 million and $160.0 million, respectively, available on the letter of credit. The letter of credit was scheduled 
to expire on March 17, 2022, subject to earlier termination as provided therein and to extension or renewal as 
provided therein. On October 18, 2021, an amendment to the letter of credit agreement was executed, extending 
the expiration date to October 18, 2024. On May 24, 2024, a second amendment to the letter of credit was 
executed, extending the expiration date to March 18, 2026. 
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Note 6—Long-term Liabilities (continued) 
 
Pursuant to Section 6.01 of the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement securing the Notes, events of 
default resulting in finance related consequences include: 1) if the County provides materially false or misleading 
information in respect to the agreement and its compliance; 2) if the County fails to pay principal and interest on 
any Drawing when due; 3) the County fails to pay amount due to the Bank 10 days after receipt of invoice from 
the Bank; 4) the County fails to perform or observe any term or covenant or agreement contained in this 
Agreement; 5) if a final, non-appealable judgment for the payment of money in excess of $10.0 million in excess 
of applicable insurance coverage and the same is not satisfied per requirements of such judgment; 6) an 
occurrence of an event of default under the Trust Agreement; 7) if any material provision of any Related Document 
shall cease to be valid, be declared null and void, or the County contest its validity and enforceability; 8) if a 
voluntary or involuntary case or proceeding of bankruptcy, insolvency, or other relief against the County with 
respect to itself or its debts; 9) if a receiver, liquidator, custodian is appointed in an involuntary case or proceeding 
against the County, and the appointee takes change of a substantial part of its properties and such action is not 
promptly stayed, discharged, or vacated; 10) if the County fails to pay its debts when due or declares a moratorium 
with respect to its debts; 11) if the long-term credit rating for any Aviation Revenue Bonds is withdrawn, 
suspended, or downgraded by any Rating Agency below Baa3, or BBB- (or the equivalent). 
 
Pursuant to Section 6.02 of the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement securing the Notes, the finance 
related consequences resulting from events of default specified in Section 6.01 include: delivering a No-Issuance 
Notice to the Paying Agent; and all Unpaid drawings and other amounts owed to the Bank, plus an amount equal 
to the principal amount of all outstanding CP Notes plus interest will become immediately due and payable. 
 
In accordance with Section 2.02(d) of the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement securing the Notes, if 
the letter of credit is terminated or the amount is permanently reduced prior to one year from the closing date, the 
County will be required to pay the bank an early termination fee equal to the Letter of Credit Fee, that would have 
been paid on the portion that was terminated or permanently reduced. The Letter of Credit and Reimbursement 
Agreement does not call for subjective acceleration clauses other than the acceleration clause stated in 
Section 6.02, resulting from the events of default under Section 6.01. 
 
Note 7—Restricted assets 
 
A summary of restricted assets at September 30, 2024 and 2023 is as follows (in thousands): 
 

2024 2023

Construction account 364,958$          369,882$          
Bond service and reserve account 470,858            481,759            
Reserve maintenance 178,590            145,809            

1,014,406$       997,450$          
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Note 8—Public-private and public-public partnerships and availability payment arrangements 
 
a. Public-Private Partnership – In May 2023, the Aviation Department entered into a 20-year noncancelable 
agreement with a private firm to provide services and amenities for VIP passengers security screening, 
processing, and transfer to and from commercial airlines. The agreement expires April 30, 2043, and the developer 
is required to invest a minimum of $15 million to design, construct, and renovate Building 874 infrastructure by 
April 2026. The Aviation Department exercises no control over rates charged to third parties and all fees collected 
are maintained by the operator. The agreement provides for fixed rental payments based on square footage and 
the greater of a minimum annual guarantee (“MAG”) or a percentage of gross revenue. Rent and MAG charged 
are increased by fair market value (“FMV”) and consumer price index (“CPI”), respectively, and rates are not 
adjusted if changes in FMV or CPI falls below zero. 
 
During the year ended September 30, 2024, the Aviation Department entered into a 50-year noncancelable 
agreement with a private firm, whereby the developer is required to design, build, finance, operate, and maintain  
an onsite hotel. The agreement expires July 31, 2073, and provides for fixed rental payments based on square 
footage and the greater of a MAG or a percentage of gross revenue. Rent and MAG charged are increased by 
FMV and consumer price index for all urban consumers (“CPI-U”), respectively, and rates are not adjusted if 
changes in FMV or CPI-U falls below zero. The operator will be entitled to all fees during the term of the agreement.  
 
At September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Aviation Department recorded a receivable of approximately $52.4 million 
and $8.0 million, respectively, and deferred inflow of resources of $50.8 million and $7.8 million respectively. For 
fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Aviation Department recognized interest revenue of 
approximately $2.6 million and $0.1 million, respectively.  
 
The expected future payments included in the measurement of the PPP receivable as of September 30, 2024 are 
as follows (in thousands): 
 
Years Ending September 30, Principal Interest Total

2025 -$                    402$                402$                

2026 -                      453                  453                  

2027 -                      525                  525                  

2028 -                      724                  724                  

2029 -                      2,668               2,668               

2030-2034 2,399               15,109             17,508             

2035-2039 3,000               14,508             17,508             

2040-2044 2,576               13,833             16,409             

2045-2049 3,580               10,047             13,627             

2050-2054 5,526               8,102               13,628             

2055-2059 6,828               6,800               13,628             

2060-2064 8,434               5,194               13,628             

2065-2069 10,425             3,202               13,627             

2070-2073 9,628               820                  10,448             

52,396$            82,387$            134,783$          
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Note 8—Public-private and public-public partnerships and availability payment arrangements 
(continued) 
 
b. Availability Payment Arrangements – The Aviation Department has entered into agreements with nationally 
recognized private firms, with expertise in their field of service, to manage, operate and maintain the public parking, 
fuel farm, and hotel facilities at MIA, as well as the employee shuttle buses. The agreement terms range from 
5 to 10 years, including options to extend, and terminate no later than fiscal year 2029. The Aviation Department 
receives all revenue, and the agreements provide for reimbursement of approved budgeted operating expenses 
and a fixed management fee. While the Aviation Department generally looks toward the management companies 
for recommendations relative to operation of the facilities, the Aviation Department does exercise complete 
budgetary control and establishes standards, guidelines, and goals for growth and performance. Such actions are 
taken within the rights reserved to the Aviation Department under these agreements to control all aspects of the 
businesses. These include such matters as pricing, staffing, employee benefits, operating hours, facilities 
maintenance requirements, service levels, market selections, personnel policies, and marketing strategies. The 
management firms do not act as general agents on behalf of the County and, therefore, cannot obligate or commit 
the Aviation Department beyond the scope of what is required to run the day-to-day operations of managed 
properties as established by the budget approved by the Aviation Department.  
 
Note 9—Lessor Leases 
 
The Aviation Department leases terminal space, aircraft maintenance and overhaul facilities, cargo facilities, 
hangars and other building facilities, and ancillary land facilities to air carriers and other third-party tenants under 
various cancelable and noncancelable agreements. The agreements, as summarized below, provide for fixed 
and/or variable rental payments and are designed to allow the Aviation Department to meet its debt service 
requirements and fund operating expenses.  
 
a. Concession Agreements – The Aviation Department has entered into concession agreements with retail stores 
and newsstands, duty-free merchandise shops, food and beverage facilities, various rent-a-car companies, and 
aeronautical and other passenger service companies. The lease terms range from 3 to 21 years and include 
options to extend that are deemed to be reasonably certain by the Aviation Department based on all available 
information and past experience. The agreements, the majority of which are noncancelable, provide for rent and/or 
a MAG and a concession fee based on a percentage of the gross revenue, whichever is greater. The MAG is 
either fixed, adjusted annually by the CPI, or increased by 3% each year during the term and any extensions. The 
rents, which are adjusted annually in accordance with the policies and formulas approved by the Board of County 
Commissioners (“Board”), is deemed not fixed in substance and is excluded from the measurement of the lease 
receivable. 
 
b. Building and Land Lease Agreements – The leasing operations of the Aviation Department consist principally 
of the rental of land, pavement, buildings, and office space. The terms of these agreements range up to 55 years 
and terminate no later than fiscal year 2084. The agreements provide for fixed rental payments based on square 
footage, and rates charged are increased either by CPI, FMV or 3% each year during the lease term. Rental rates 
are not adjusted if CPI or FMV decreases.  
 
The Aviation Department as a lessor, recognized a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources related to 
these long-term noncancelable concessions, building and land lease agreements. The discount rate used to 
measure the lease receivable was the Aviation Department’s  weighted average incremental borrowing rate, and 
the lease receivable was measured at the present value of the lease payments expected to be received during 
the lease term. The variable components, such as usage-based payments, rental income not based on CPI or 
other market indices, and payments based on a percentage of the lessee’s gross revenue, are not included in the 
lease receivable calculation.  
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Note 9—Lessor Leases (continued) 
 
At September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Aviation Department recorded a lease receivable related to these 
concessions, building and land leases of approximately $163.0 million and $163.5 million, respectively, and a 
deferred inflow of resources of approximately $155.3 million and $158.1 million, respectively. For fiscal years 
ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Aviation Department recognized lease interest revenue of 
approximately $7.0 million and $7.0 million, respectively. The Aviation Department also recognized variable lease 
revenue of approximately $156.5 million and $142.4 million during fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 
2023, respectively, for payments excluded from the measurement of the lease receivable. 
 
The expected future lease payments included in the measurement of the lease receivable as of September 30, 
2024 are as follows (in thousands): 
 
Years Ending September 30, Principal Interest Total

2025 5,325$             6,781$             12,106$            
2026 3,701               6,578               10,279             
2027 3,606               6,428               10,034             
2028 3,777               6,290               10,067             
2029 3,875               6,111               9,986               
2030-2034 19,105             28,099             47,204             
2035-2039 6,599               25,256             31,855             
2040-2044 5,620               24,155             29,775             
2045-2049 6,953               22,822             29,775             
2050-2054 8,583               21,192             29,775             
2055-2059 10,596             19,179             29,775             
2060-2064 13,071             16,704             29,775             
2065-2069 16,148             13,628             29,776             
2070-2074 19,890             9,844               29,734             
2075-2079 24,520             5,185               29,705             
2080-2084 11,675             1,096               12,771             

163,044$          219,348$          382,392$          

 
c. Regulated Leases – Regulated leases at the Aviation Department include agreements with passenger and 
cargo airlines, mail/shipping carriers, maintenance repair and overhaul companies, fixed based operators, general 
aeronautical services permittees, as well as companies providing services such as aircraft fueling, baggage 
handling, aircraft and flight support maintenance, flight communication and training, aircraft storage and tie-down, 
etc. The agreements, the terms of which expire 2025 through 2079, provide for fixed and/or variable rental 
payments and are designed to allow the Aviation Department to meet its debt service requirements and fund 
operating expenses. Rental rates are adjusted annually, and the majority of these agreements, including the 
Airline Use Agreement (“AUA”), are short-term, as they are cancelable by either party at any time with less than 
12 months’ notice. 
 
The AUA, which expires in 2033, establishes an airport system residual landing fee and defines the rights, 
services, and privileges granted to airlines while using the Airport and its facilities, including preferential gate 
assignments and usage. As of September 30, 2024, 88 of the 135 gates were subject to preferential use and 
664,804 square feet of the 1,022,237 square feet of hold-room and circulation space was subject to exclusive use. 
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Note 9—Lessor Leases (continued) 
 
The Aviation Department has entered into long-term noncancelable agreements with cargo companies, fixed base 
operators and maintenance repair and overhaul companies. The terms of these agreements range up to 55 years 
and terminate no later than fiscal year 2079. The agreements provide for fixed rental payments based on square 
footage, and rates charges are adjusted annually as approved by the Board. 
 
For fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Aviation Department recognized fixed revenue related 
to such long-term noncancelable regulated leases of approximately $44.9 million and $39.1 million, respectively, 
and minimum future rental receipts under such agreements as of September 30, 2024 are as follows 
(in thousands); 
 
Years Ending September 30,
2025 48,492$            
2026 47,382             
2027 40,983             
2028 35,061             
2029 34,069             
2030-2034 148,964            
2035-2039 101,201            
2040-2044 59,656             
2045-2049 42,166             
2050-2054 21,263             
2055-2059 13,751             
2060-2064 12,248             
2065-2069 12,248             
2070-2074 12,200             
2075-2079 10,789             

640,473$          

 
Under its regulated leases, the Aviation Department recognized variable lease revenue not previously included in 
the future expected payments of approximately $500.3 million and $511.9 million, respectively, for the years ended 
September 30, 2024 and 2023. Due to the variable nature of the revenue from year-to-year, expected future 
receipts are undeterminable. 
 
Note 10—Insurance 
 
The Aviation Department, along with most other County departments, participates in the self-insurance program 
of the County for workers’ compensation, automobile, and general liability insurance covering employees and 
officials of the County. The program is administered by the Risk Management Division of the Internal Services 
Department. Allocations of the self-insurance programs are based on the Aviation Department’s claims history 
and administrative costs to adjudicate the claims. The long-term estimated liability for claims payable, including 
incurred but not reported, is recorded and retained at the County level. Therefore, such long-term liability is not 
included in the accompanying financial statements. The Aviation Department’s long-term liability for workers’ 
compensation, general liability, and automobile liability is estimated to be approximately $7.6 million and  
$8.6 million as of September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, based on an independent actuarial valuation. The 
short-term liability for claims payable in the amount of approximately $1.2 million and $1.1 million as of 
September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, is included in due to County Agencies in the accompanying statement 
of net position. 
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Note 10—Insurance (continued) 
 
The Aviation Department also pays premiums to commercial insurance carriers for airport liability insurance and 
property insurance. The airport liability coverage provides comprehensive general liability, contractual liability, and 
personal injury liability at all airports. The limit of liability is $1 billion with a self-insured retention of $50,000 per 
occurrence and an annual aggregate retention of $500,000. The limit for personal injury is $25 million per occurrence. 
 
The property of the Aviation Department is insured under a County-wide master program that covers most County 
properties. The Aviation Department allocation is based on the value of the property of the Aviation Department 
as a percentage of the total value of the property insured. The limit is $350 million countywide with a $5 million 
deductible per occurrence for most perils and a $200 million deductible for Named Storms. The sublimit for flood 
is $50 million. Terrorism is included in the program with a limit of $195 million. The Business Interruption limit for 
the Aviation Department is $17.9 million. 
 
There were no significant reductions in coverage in 2024. The amounts of insurance settlements during the past 
three fiscal years have not exceeded the Aviation Department’s insurance coverage. 
 
Note 11—Retirement benefits 
 
Miami Dade County provides retirement benefits to its employees through the FRS and a Deferred Retirement 
Option Program (the “DROP”), as well as state approved OPEB in the form of subsidized health insurance 
premiums. 
 
Florida Retirement System Overview – The County participates in the FRS. The FRS was created in Chapter 121, 
Florida Statutes, to provide a defined benefit pension plan for participating public employees. The FRS was 
amended in 1998 to add the DROP under the defined benefit plan and amended in 2000 to provide a defined 
contribution plan alternative to the defined benefit plan for FRS members effective October 1, 2002. This 
integrated, defined contribution pension plan is the FRS Investment Plan. Chapter 112, Florida Statutes, 
established the Retiree HIS Program, a cost-sharing, multiple-employer, defined benefit pension plan, to assist 
retired members of any state-administered retirement system in paying the costs of health insurance. 
 
Essentially all regular employees of the County are eligible to enroll as members of the state-administered FRS. 
Provisions relating to the FRS are established by Chapters 121 and 122, Florida Statutes; Chapter 112, Part IV, 
Florida Statutes; Chapter 238, Florida Statutes; and FRS Rules, Chapter 60S, Florida Administrative Code; 
wherein eligibility, contributions, and benefits are defined and described in detail. Such provisions may be 
amended at any time by further action from the Florida Legislature.  
 
The FRS is a single retirement system administered by the Florida Department of Management Services, Division 
of Retirement, and consists of the two cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit plans and other 
nonintegrated programs. An annual comprehensive financial report of the FRS, which includes its financial 
statements, required supplementary information, actuarial report, and other relevant information, is available 
from the Florida Department of Management Services’ Website (http://www.dms.myflorida.com/workforce_opera
tions/retirement/publications).  
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Note 11—Retirement benefits (continued) 
 
FRS Pension Plan 
 
Plan Description – The FRS Pension Plan (the “FRS Plan”) is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit 
pension plan, with DROP for eligible employees. The general classes of membership are as follows: 
 

 Regular Class – Members of the FRS who do not qualify for membership in the other classes. 
 

 Elected County Officers Class – Members who hold specified elective offices in local government. 
 

 Senior Management Service Class (SMSC) – Members in senior management level positions. 
 

 Special Risk Class – Members who are employed as law enforcement officers and meet the criteria to 
qualify for this class. 

 
Employees enrolled in the FRS Plan prior to July 1, 2011 vest at six years of creditable service and employees 
enrolled in the FRS Plan on or after July 1, 2011 vest at eight years of creditable service. All vested members, 
enrolled prior to July 1, 2011, are eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 62 or at any age after 30 years of 
service (except for members classified as special risk who are eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 55 or 
at any age after 25 years of service). All members enrolled in the FRS Plan on or after July 1, 2011, once vested, 
are eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 65 or any time after 33 years of creditable service (except for 
members classified as special risk who are eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 60 or at any age after 
30 years of service). Members of the FRS Plan may include up to four years of credit for military service toward 
creditable service. 
 
The FRS Plan also includes an early retirement provision; however, there is a 5% benefit reduction for each year 
a member retires before his or her normal retirement date. The FRS Plan provides retirement, disability, death 
benefits, and annual cost-of-living adjustments to eligible participants. 
 
DROP, subject to provisions of Section 121.091, Florida Statutes, permits employees eligible for normal retirement 
under the FRS Plan to defer receipt of monthly benefit payments while continuing employment for up to 60 calendar 
months with an FRS employer, or 96 months for certain instructional personnel. The election to participate in the 
DROP must have been made within 12 months of the employee’s normal retirement date, unless the employee 
was eligible to defer the election. Senate Bill 7024 (SB 7024) modified these provisions and as of June 5, 2023, 
all eligible employees in a regularly established position can now elect to participate in DROP for a period not to 
exceed a maximum of 96 calendar months, at any time after an employee reached his or her normal retirement 
date. During the period of DROP participation, deferred monthly benefits are held in the FRS Trust Fund and 
accrue interest. The net pension liability does not include amounts for DROP participants, as these members are 
considered retired and are not accruing additional pension benefits. 
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Note 11—Retirement benefits (continued) 
 
Benefits Provided – Benefits under the FRS Plan are computed on the basis of age and/or years of service, 
average final compensation, and service credit. Credit for each year of service is expressed as a percentage of 
the average final compensation. For members initially enrolled before July 1, 2011, the average final 
compensation is the average of the five highest fiscal years’ earnings; for members initially enrolled on or after 
July 1, 2011, the average final compensation is the average of the eight highest fiscal years’ earnings. The total 
percentage value of the benefit received is determined by calculating the total value of all service, which is based 
on the retirement class to which the member belonged when the service credit was earned. Members are eligible 
for in-line-of-duty or regular disability and survivors’ benefits. The following chart shows the percentage value for 
each year of service credit earned: 
 
Class, Initial Enrollment, and Retirement Age/Years of Service % Value 

Regular Class members initially enrolled before July 1, 2011 
Retirement up to age 62 or up to 30 years of service 1.60 
Retirement at age 63 or with 31 years of service 1.63 
Retirement at age 64 or with 32 years of service 1.65 
Retirement at age 65 or with 33 or more years of service 1.68 

Regular Class members initially enrolled on or after July 1, 2011 
Retirement up to age 65 or up to 33 years of service 1.60 
Retirement at age 66 or with 34 years of service 1.63 
Retirement at age 67 or with 35 years of service 1.65 
Retirement at age 68 or with 36 or more years of service 1.68 

Elected County Officers 
Service as Supreme Court Justice, district court of appeal judge, 

circuit court judge, or county judge 3.33 
Service as Governor, Lt. Governor, Cabinet Officer, Legislator, 

state attorney, public defender, elected county official, or 
elected official of a city or special district that chose EOC 
membership for its elected officials 3.00 

Senior Management Service Class 2.00 

Special Risk Regular 
Service from December 1, 1970 through September 30, 1974 2.00 
Service on and after October 1, 1974 3.00 

 
As provided in Section 121.101, Florida Statutes, if the member is initially enrolled in the FRS before July 1, 2011, 
and all service credit was accrued before July 1, 2011, the annual cost-of-living adjustment is 3% per year. If the 
member is initially enrolled before July 1, 2011, and has service credit on or after July 1, 2011, there is an individually 
calculated cost-of-living adjustment. The annual cost-of-living adjustment is a proportion of 3% determined by 
dividing the sum of the pre-July 2011 service credit by the total service credit at retirement multiplied by 3%. FRS 
Plan members initially enrolled on or after July 1, 2011 will not have a cost-of-living adjustment after retirement. 
 
Miami-Dade County Allocation – The County allocated the FRS Plan amounts to the different departments based 
on their proportionate share of contributions to total contributions made by the County to the FRS during fiscal 
years 2024 and 2023, (October 2022 through September 2024). The Aviation Department’s proportionate share 
of the contributions was 2.86% and 2.90% of the total contributions made by the County to the FRS during fiscal 
years 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
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Note 11—Retirement benefits (continued) 
 
Contributions – The Florida Legislature establishes contribution rates for participating employers and employees. 
Contribution rates in effect from July 1, 2022, through June 30, 2023, were as follows: 
 

Percent of Gross Salary

Class Employee Employer(1)

FRS, Regular 3.00% 11.91%
FRS, Elected County Officers 3.00% 57.00%
FRS, Senior Management Service 3.00% 31.57%
FRS, Special Risk Regular 3.00% 27.83%
DROP – Applicable to:

Members from all of the above classes 0.00% 18.60%
 

(1) Employer rates include 1.66% for the postemployment health insurance subsidy. Also, employer rates, other than for 
DROP participants, include 0.06% for administrative costs of the Investment Plan. 

 
Contribution rates in effect from July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2024 and July 1, 2024 through September 30, 2024 
were as follows: 
 

July 1, 2023 - June 30, 2024 July 1, 2024 - Sept 30, 2024
Percent of Gross Salary Percent of Gross Salary

Class Employee Employer(1) Employee Employer(1)

FRS, Regular 3.00% 13.57% 3.00% 13.63%
FRS, Elected County Officers 3.00% 58.68% 3.00% 58.68%
FRS, Senior Management Service 3.00% 34.52% 3.00% 34.52%
FRS, Special Risk Regular 3.00% 32.67% 3.00% 32.79%
DROP – Applicable to:

Members from all of the above classes 0.00% 21.13% 0.00% 21.13%
 

(1) Employer rates include 2.00% for the postemployment health insurance subsidy. SB 7024 increased the HIS contribution 
rate to 2.00% of employer payroll, effective July 1, 2023. Also, employer rates, other than for DROP participants, include 
0.06% for administrative costs of the Investment Plan.  

 
The Aviation Department’s contributions for FRS totaled $13.9 million and $12.0 million and employee 
contributions totaled $2.4 million and $2.3 million for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Related to Pensions – At September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Aviation Department reported a liability of 
$88.3 million and $93.5 million, respectively, for its proportionate share of the FRS Plan’s net pension liability. The 
net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2024, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net 
pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2024. The Aviation Department’s 
proportionate share of the net pension liability was based on the Aviation Department’s 2023-2024 fiscal year 
contributions relative to the 2023-2024 fiscal year contributions of all participating members of the FRS Plan.  
At June 30, 2024, the Aviation Department’s proportionate share was 0.2282%, which was a decrease of 0.0065% 
from its proportionate share of 0.2347% measured at June 30, 2023. 
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Note 11—Retirement benefits (continued) 
 
For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Aviation Department recognized pension expense 
of $13.5 million and $19.8 million, respectively, related to the FRS Plan. In addition, for the years ended 
September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Aviation Department reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources (in thousands): 

 

Deferred Deferred
Outflows Inflows

Description of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 8,917$             -$                    
Change of assumptions 12,097             -                      
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on FRS 

pension plan investments -                      5,866               
Changes in proportion and differences between Aviation Department

FRS contributions and proportionate share of contributions 1,121               1,096               
Aviation Department FRS contributions subsequent to 

the measurement date 3,150               -                      

25,285$            6,962$             

September 30, 2024

 
 

Deferred Deferred
Outflows Inflows

Description of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 8,779$             -$                    
Change of assumptions 6,096               -                      
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on FRS 

pension plan investments 3,905               -                      
Changes in proportion and differences between Aviation Department

FRS contributions and proportionate share of contributions 1,635               411                  
Aviation Department FRS contributions subsequent to 

the measurement date 2,891               -                      

Total 23,306$            411$                

September 30, 2023
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Note 11—Retirement benefits (continued) 
 
The deferred outflows of resources related to pensions, totaling $3.2 million, resulting from Aviation Department’s 
contributions to the FRS Plan subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized as a reduction of the net 
pension liability in the fiscal year ending September 30, 2025. Changes in the net pension liability arising from 
experience gains/losses, assumption changes, and differences between projected and actual earnings on 
investments must be recognized in expense over a period of years. Those amounts that are not recognized in 
expense during the current reporting period, are accounted for as deferred outflows and inflows of resources. 
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 
will be recognized in pension expense as follows (in thousands): 
 

Deferred
Outflows 

Fiscal Years Ending September 30, (Inflows), Net

2025 (1,280)$            
2026 14,654             
2027 1,147               
2028 (89)                   
2029 741                  

15,173$            

 
Actuarial Assumptions – The FRS pension actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial 
assumptions, as of July 1, 2024, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 

Inflation  2.40% 

Salary Increases  3.50%, average, including inflation 

Investment rate of return  6.70%, net of pension plan investment 
expense, including inflation 

Discount rate  6.70% 

 
Mortality rates were based on the PUB2010 base tables (varies by member category and sex). Projected 
generationally with scale MP-2018 details. 
 
The actuarial assumptions that determined the total pension liability as of June 30, 2024 were based on the results 
of an actuarial experience study for the period July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2023. 
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Note 11—Retirement benefits (continued) 
 
Long-Term Expected Rate of Return – The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was 
not based on historical returns, but instead is based on a forward-looking capital market economic model. The 
allocation policy’s description of each asset class was used to map the target allocation to the asset classes shown 
below. Each asset class assumption is based on a consistent set of underlying assumptions and includes an 
adjustment for the inflation assumption. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic and geometric real 
rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table: 
 

Compound
Annual Annual 

Target Arithmetic (Geometric) Standard 
Asset Class Allocation (1) Return Return Deviation

Cash 1.00% 3.30% 3.30% 1.10%
Fixed income 29.00% 5.70% 5.60% 3.90%
Global equity 45.00% 8.60% 7.00% 18.20%
Real estate (property) 12.00% 8.10% 6.80% 16.60%
Private equity 11.00% 12.40% 8.80% 28.40%
Strategic investments 2.00% 6.60% 6.20% 8.70%

100.00%

Assumed inflation - mean 2.40% 1.50%

Note: (1) As outlined in the plan's investment policy.
 

Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.70%. The projection of cash 
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee contributions will be made at the current 
contribution rate and that contributions will be made at the statutorily required rates. The FRS Plan’s fiduciary net 
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive 
employees. Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the total pension liability is equal to the long-term expected 
rate of return. The FRS Actuarial Assumption Conference is responsible for setting the assumptions used in the 
valuations of the defined benefit pension plans pursuant to Section 216.136(10), Florida Statutes. The 6.70% rate 
of return assumption used in the June 30, 2024 calculations was determined by the FRS Plan’s consulting actuary 
to be reasonable and appropriate per Actuarial Standard of Practice No. 27 (ASOP 27) for accounting purposes 
which differs from the rate used for funding purposes which is used to establish the contribution rates for the 
FRS Plan. 
 
Sensitivity of the Aviation Department’s Proportionate Share of the Net Position Liability to Changes in the Discount 
Rate – The following presents the Aviation Department’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated 
using the discount rate of 6.70%, as well as what the Aviation Department’s proportionate share of the net pension 
(asset) liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (5.70%) or 
one percentage point higher (7.70%) than the current rate (in thousands): 

 
1% Current 1%

Decrease Discount Rate Increase
(5.70%) (6.70%) (7.70%)

Aviation Department's proportionate share of

the net pension liability 155,250$        88,262$            32,146$            
 

 
 



MIAMI-DADE COUNTY AVIATION DEPARTMENT 
AN ENTERPRISE FUND OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 AND 2023 
 
 

58 

Note 11—Retirement benefits (continued) 
 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position – Detailed information about the Plan’s fiduciary net position is available in 
the separately issued FRS Pension Plan and Other State Administered Systems Annual Comprehensive Financial 
Report. 
 
Payables to the Pension Plan – At September 30, 2024, the Aviation Department reported no payables for the 
outstanding amount of contributions to the FRS Plan. 
 
The Retiree HIS Program 
 
Plan Description – The Retiree Health Insurance Subsidy Program (the “HIS Plan”) is a non-qualified cost-sharing, 
multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan established under Section 112.363, Florida Statutes, and may be 
amended by the Florida Legislature at any time. The benefit is a monthly payment to assist retirees of the 
state-administered retirement systems in paying their health insurance costs and is administered by the Division of 
Retirement within the Florida Department of Management Services. 
 
Benefits Provided – For the period October 1, 2022 to June 30, 2023, eligible retirees and beneficiaries received 
a monthly HIS payment of $5.00 for each year of creditable service completed at the time of retirement, with a 
minimum HIS payment of $30.00 and a maximum HIS payment of $150.00 per month, pursuant to 
Section 112.363, Florida Statutes. Effective July 1, 2023, SB 7024 modified the benefit levels and statutory 
contribution rate of the program. The legislation increased the level of monthly benefits from $5.00 times years of 
service to $7.50, with an increased minimum of $45.00 and maximum of $225.00 per month. The change applied 
to all years of service for both members currently in pay and members not yet in pay. To be eligible to receive a 
HIS Plan benefit, a retiree under a state-administered retirement system must provide proof of health insurance 
coverage, which may include Medicare. 
 
Miami-Dade County Allocation – The County allocated the HIS Plan amounts to the different departments based 
on their proportionate share of contributions to total contributions made by the County to the FRS during fiscal 
years 2024 and 2023, (October 2022 through September 2024). The Aviation Department’s proportionate share 
of the contributions was 2.86% and 2.90 % of the total contributions made by the County to the FRS during fiscal 
years 2024 and 2023, respectively.  
 
Contributions – The HIS Plan is funded by required contributions from FRS participating employers as set by the 
Florida Legislature. Employer contributions are a percentage of gross compensation for all active FRS members. 
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, the HIS contribution for the period July 1, 2023 through  
June 30, 2024 and from July 1, 2024 through September 30, 2024 was 2.00%. For the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2023, the HIS contribution for the period July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023 and from July 1, 2023 
through September 30, 2023 was 1.66% and 2.00%, respectively. SB 7024 increased the HIS contribution rate 
from 1.66% to 2.00% of employer payroll, effective July 1, 2023. The Aviation Department contributed 100% of its 
statutorily required contributions for the current fiscal year. The HIS Plan contributions are deposited in a separate 
trust fund from which payments are authorized. The HIS Plan benefits are not guaranteed and are subject to 
annual legislative appropriation. In the event the legislative appropriation or available funds fail to provide full 
subsidy benefits to all participants, benefits may be reduced or canceled. 
 
The Aviation Department’s contributions to the HIS Plan totaled $1.6 million and $1.3 million for the fiscal years 
ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
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Note 11—Retirement benefits (continued) 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Related to Pensions – At September 30, 2024, the Aviation Department reported a net pension liability of 
$27.9 million for its proportionate share of the HIS Plan’s net pension liability. The total pension liability used to 
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2024. The Aviation 
Department’s proportionate share of the net pension liability was based on the Aviation Department’s 2023-2024 
fiscal year contributions relative to the total 2023-2024 fiscal year contributions of all participating members of the 
HIS Plan. At June 30, 2024, the Aviation Department’s proportionate share was 0.1862%, which was a decrease 
of 0.0094% from its proportionate share of 0.1956% measured as of June 30, 2023.  
 
For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Aviation Department recognized pension expense 
of $1.2 million and $12.0 million, respectively, related to the HIS Plan. In addition, for the years ended 
September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Aviation Department reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources (in thousands): 
 

Deferred Deferred
Outflows Inflows

Description of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 269$                54$                  
Change of assumptions 494                  3,307               
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on HIS pension 

plan investments -                      10                    
Changes in proportion and differences between Aviation Department

HIS contributions and proportionate share of HIS contributions 690                  973                  
Aviation Department contributions subsequent to the 

measurement date 384                  -                      

1,837$             4,344$             

September 30, 2024

 
 

Deferred Deferred
Outflows Inflows

Description of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 455$                73$                  
Change of assumptions 818                  2,692               
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on HIS pension 

plan investments 16                    -                      
Changes in proportion and differences between Aviation Department

HIS contributions and proportionate share of HIS contributions 988                  50                    
Aviation Department contributions subsequent to the 

measurement date 351                  -                      

Total 2,628$             2,815$             

September 30, 2023
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Note 11—Retirement benefits (continued) 
 
The deferred outflows of resources related to pensions, totaling $0.4 million, resulting from the Aviation 
Department’s contributions to the HIS Plan subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction 
of the net pension liability in the fiscal year ended September 30, 2025. Other amounts reported as deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense 
as follows (in thousands): 
 

Deferred
Outflows 

Fiscal Years Ending September 30, (Inflows), Net

2025 (369)$               
2026 (496)                 
2027 (791)                 
2028 (645)                 
2029 (456)                 
Thereafter (134)                 

(2,891)$            

 
Actuarial Assumptions – The HIS pension as of July 1, 2024 actuarial valuation was determined using the following 
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 

Inflation  2.40% 

Salary Increases  3.50%, average, including inflation 

Discount Rate  3.93% 

 
Mortality rates were based on the Generational PUB-2010 with Projection Scale MP-2018. 
 
The actuarial assumptions used that determined the total pension liability as of June 30, 2024, were based on the 
results of an actuarial experience study for the period July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2023. 
 
Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 3.93%. In general, the discount 
rate for calculating the total pension liability is equal to the single rate equivalent to discounting at the long-term 
expected rate of return for benefit payments prior to the projected depletion date. Because the HIS benefit is 
essentially funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, the depletion date is considered to be immediate, and the single 
equivalent discount rate is equal to the municipal bond rate selected by the HIS Plan sponsor. The Bond Buyer 
General Obligation 20-Bond Municipal Bond Index was adopted as the applicable municipal bond index. 
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Note 11—Retirement benefits (continued) 
 
Sensitivity of the Aviation Department’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount 
Rate – The following presents the Aviation Department’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated 
using the discount rate of 3.93%, as well as what the Aviation Department’s proportionate share of the net pension 
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (2.93%) or one 
percentage point higher (4.93%) than the current rate (in thousands): 
 

1% Current 1%
Decrease Discount Rate Increase

(2.93%) (3.93%) (4.93%)
Aviation Department's proportionate share of

the net pension liability 31,799$          27,934$            24,725$            

 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position – Detailed information about the HIS Plan’s fiduciary net position is available 
in the separately issued FRS Pension Plan and Other State Administered Systems Annual Comprehensive 
Financial Report. 
 
Payables to the Pension Plan – At September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Aviation Department reported no payables 
for the outstanding amount of contributions to the HIS Plan. 
 
Aggregate Amount of Pension Expenses – The aggregate amount of net pension liabilities, related deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflow of resources, and pension expense for the Aviation Department FRS 
and HIS pension plans are summarized below (in thousands): 
 

Deferred Deferred
Net Pension Outflows Inflows Pension

Pension Plans Liability of Resources of Resources Expense

FRS Pension Plan 88,262$        25,285$        6,962$          (672)$            
HIS Plan 27,934          1,837            4,344            (815)             

116,196$      27,122$        11,306$        (1,487)$         

 
FRS – Defined Contribution Pension Plan 
 
The County contributes to the FRS Defined Contribution Investment Plan (the “Investment Plan”). The Investment 
Plan is administered by the State Board of Administration (“SBA”) and is reported in the SBA’s annual financial 
statements and in the state of Florida Annual Comprehensive Financial Report. 
 
As provided in Section 121.4501, Florida Statutes, eligible FRS members may elect to participate in the 
Investment Plan in lieu of the FRS defined-benefit plan. County employees participating in the DROP are not 
eligible to participate in the Investment Plan. Employer and employee contributions, including amounts contributed 
to individual member’s accounts, are defined by law, but the ultimate benefit depends in part on the performance 
of investment funds. Benefit terms, including contribution requirements, for the Investment Plan are established 
and may be amended by the Florida Legislature. The Investment Plan is funded with the same employer and 
employee contribution rates that are based on salary and membership class (Regular Class, Elected County 
Officers, etc.) as the FRS defined benefit plan. Contributions are directed to individual member accounts, and the 
individual members allocate contributions and account balances among various approved investment choices. 
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Note 11—Retirement benefits (continued) 
 
Allocations to the investment members’ accounts, as established by Section 121.72, Florida Statutes, during the 
2023-2024 fiscal year were as follows: 
 

Percent of 
Gross

Membership Class Compensation

FRS, Regular 11.30%
FRS, Elected County Officers 16.34%
FRS, Senior Management Service 12.67%
FRS, Special Risk Regular 19.00%

 
For all membership classes, employees are immediately vested in their own contributions and are vested after 
one year of service for employer contributions and investment earnings. If an accumulated benefit obligation for 
service credit originally earned under the FRS Pension Plan is transferred to the Investment Plan, the member 
must have the years of service required for FRS Pension Plan vesting (including the service credit represented by 
the transferred funds) to be vested for these funds and the earnings on the funds. Nonvested employer 
contributions are placed in a suspense account for up to five years. If the employee returns to FRS-covered 
employment within the five-year period, the employee will regain control over their account. If the employee does 
not return within the five-year period, the employee will forfeit the accumulated account balance. Costs of 
administering the Investment Plan, including the FRS Financial Guidance Program, are funded through an 
employer contribution of 0.06% from July 1, 2022 through September 30, 2024 and by forfeited benefits of 
Investment Plan members. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, the information for the amount of 
forfeitures was unavailable from the SBA; however, management believes these amounts, if any, would be 
immaterial to the County. 
 
After termination and applying to receive benefits, the member may rollover vested funds to another qualified plan, 
structure a periodic payment under the Investment Plan, receive a lump-sum distribution, leave the funds invested 
for future distribution, or any combination of these options. Disability coverage is provided under the Investment 
Plan if the member becomes permanently and totally disabled. The member must transfer the account balance to 
the FRS Trust Fund when approved for disability retirement to receive guaranteed lifetime monthly benefits under 
the FRS Pension Plan. 
 
The Aviation Department’s Investment Plan pension contributions totaled approximately $2.5 million and 
$1.8 million and employee contributions totaled approximately $0.9 million and $0.8 million for the fiscal years 
ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
Note 12—Commitments and contingencies 
 
a. Environmental Matters – In August 1993, the Aviation Department and the Dade County Department of 
Environmental Resources Management (“DERM”) entered into a Consent Order. Under the Consent Order, the 
Aviation Department was required to correct environmental violations resulting from various tenants’ failure to 
comply with their environmental obligations at the airport including those facilities previously occupied by Eastern 
Airlines (“Eastern”) and Pan Am Airlines (“Pan Am”). In addition, the Aviation Department had a preliminary study 
performed by an independent engineering firm to estimate the cost to correct the environmental violations noted 
in the Consent Order. This study was used as a basis to record the environmental remediation liability as of 
September 30, 1993. 
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Note 12—Commitments and contingencies (continued) 
 
In each subsequent year, the Aviation Department has received an updated study performed by an independent 
engineering firm to further update the estimated costs to correct the environmental violations noted in the Consent 
Order based on additional information and further refinement of estimated costs to be incurred. 
 
As a result of the updated study and costs incurred in fiscal year 2024, the total cumulative estimate to correct 
such violations was approximately $203.5 million. This estimate allows for uncertainties as to the nature and extent 
of environmental reparations and the methods, which must be employed for the remediation. The total cumulative 
environmental expenditures spent through September 30, 2024, was approximately $167.3 million. The Aviation 
Department has also spent approximately $56.3 million in other environmental-related projects not part of any 
Consent Order. 
 
During fiscal year 1998, a Consent Order (“FDEP Consent Order”) was signed with the state of Florida Department 
of Environmental Protection (“FDEP”). The FDEP Consent Order encompasses and replaces the DERM 
agreement and includes additional locations. The FDEP Consent Order includes all locations at MIA that are 
contaminated as well as additional sites where contamination is suspected. The Aviation Department included 
other sites where contamination is suspected in the FDEP Consent Order under a Protective Filing. If 
contamination is documented at these sites, the State would be required to incur the costs of remediation. 
Because the State will be required to pay for remediation of sites filed in the Protective Filing and because the 
contamination at the sites is unknown, an accrual amount is not reflected in the Opinion of Cost report or in the 
accompanying financial statements. 
 
Currently, the County has several pending lawsuits in State Court against the Potentially Responsible Parties 
(“PRP”) and insurers to address recovery of past and future damages associated with the County’s liability under 
the FDEP Consent Order. As of September 30, 2024, the Aviation Department has received approximately 
$60.4 million from the State, insurance companies, and PRPs. 
 
The outstanding liability amount at September 30, 2024 and 2023 was approximately $36.2 million and 
$42.2 million, respectively, representing the unexpended environmental remediation costs based on the 
Opinion of Cost performed by an independent engineering firm. At September 30, 2024 and 2023, the long-term 
liability was approximately $31.7 million and $33.6 million, respectively, and the short-term liability was 
approximately $4.5 million and $8.6 million, respectively. Management has allocated a portion of bond proceeds 
to fund this obligation and believes the remaining amount can be funded from recoveries and the operations of 
the Aviation Department. The liability recorded by the Aviation Department does not include an estimate of any 
environmental violations at the three general aviation airports or at the two training airports. Management is not 
aware of any such liabilities, and the occurrence of any would not be material to the financial statements. 
 
In addition to the studies conducted to determine the environmental damage to the sites occupied by Eastern and 
Pan Am, the Aviation Department caused studies to be performed to determine the amount required to remove or 
otherwise contain the asbestos in certain buildings occupied by the airlines. The Aviation Department has also 
estimated the amount required to remove or otherwise contain the asbestos in buildings other than those formerly 
occupied by Eastern and Pan Am. The studies that estimate the cost to correct such damage related to all 
buildings were assessed at approximately $4.5 million. The Aviation Department has no intention of correcting all 
assessed damage related to asbestos in the near future as they pose no imminent danger to the public. Specific 
issues will be addressed when and if the Aviation Department decides to renovate or demolish related buildings. 
At such time, the Aviation Department will obligate itself to the cleanup or asbestos abatement. As emergencies 
or containment issues may arise from this condition, they will be isolated and handled on a case-by-case basis as 
repair and maintenance. Such amounts do not represent a liability of the Aviation Department until such time as 
a decision is made by the Aviation Department’s management to make certain modifications to the buildings, 
which would require the Aviation Department to correct such matters. As such, no amounts are recorded as of 
September 30, 2024.  



MIAMI-DADE COUNTY AVIATION DEPARTMENT 
AN ENTERPRISE FUND OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 AND 2023 
 
 

64 

Note 12—Commitments and contingencies (continued) 
 
The nature of ground and groundwater contamination at MIA can be divided into two categories: petroleum-related 
contamination and hazardous/nonhazardous contamination. The Opinion of Cost is divided in three large areas: 
the Inland Protection Trust Fund (“IPTF”), which was created by the state of Florida to deal with contamination 
related to petroleum products in sites that qualified for that program; the non-IPTF contamination relates to other 
sites that might include petroleum as well as hazardous/nonhazardous-related contamination; and the 
non-consent items, which can be either of the two above but were not specifically listed in the Consent Order. 
 
The table below summarizes the remediation liability by nature of contaminant as of September 30, 2024: 
 
Nature of Contamination IPTF Non-IPTF Nonconsent Totals

Petroleum 3,375,000$       -$                    -$                    3,375,000$   

Hazardous/nonhazardous -                      29,350,000       3,455,000         32,805,000   

3,375,000$       29,350,000$     3,455,000$       36,180,000$ 

 
The table below summarizes the remediation liability by nature of contaminant as of September 30, 2023: 
 
Nature of Contamination IPTF Non-IPTF Nonconsent Totals
Petroleum 3,375,000$       -$                    -$                    3,375,000$   
Hazardous/nonhazardous -                      35,350,000       3,455,000         38,805,000   

Total 3,375,000$       35,350,000$     3,455,000$       42,180,000$ 

 
b. Other Commitments and Contingencies – As of September 30, 2024, the Aviation Department had 
approximately $383.3 million of construction commitments outstanding. 
 
A number of claims and lawsuits are pending against the County relating to the Aviation Department resulting 
from the normal course of conducting its operations. However, in the opinion of management and the County 
Attorney, the ultimate outcome of such actions will not have a material, adverse effect on the financial position of 
the Aviation Department. 
 
The Aviation Department receives grants from federal and state financial assistance programs, which are subject 
to audit and adjustment by the grantor agencies. It is the opinion of management that no material liabilities will 
result to the Aviation Department from any such audit. 
 
In a quitclaim deed dated December 20, 2011, the Rental Car Facility (“RCF”) at the Miami Intermodal Center 
(MIC) adjacent to the airport was conveyed to the County through its Aviation Department by FDOT. The 
conveyance was recorded in the amount of approximately $393.3 million ($42.0 million for the land and 
$351.3 million for the building and improvements), which represented the acquisition value at the date of the 
conveyance. The quitclaim deed requires the RCF to be used as a rental car facility. In the event it ceases to be 
used as such, all property rights in it revert to FDOT.  
 
The RCF was designed and constructed by FDOT, which borrowed $270 million from the United States 
Department of Transportation (USDOT) under the TIFIA loan program. The loan will be repaid through the 
collection of Customer Facility Charges (“CFC”) and contingent rent, if needed, from car rental company 
customers using the RCF. The car rental companies remit these funds directly to the Fiscal Agent servicing the 
loan; the CFCs are not revenue of the Aviation Department. The County and the Aviation Department do not own, 
nor do they have access to accounts held by the Fiscal Agent. The repayment of the TIFIA loan is not secured by 
any Aviation Department revenue and in no event will the Aviation Department be required to use any airport 
revenue for the payment of debt service on the RCF portion of the TIFIA loan or any additional RCF financing. 
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Note 13—Postemployment benefits other than pensions 
 
a. Plan Description – The County administers a single-employer defined-benefit healthcare plan (the Plan) that 
provides postretirement medical, hospital, pharmacy, and dental coverage to retirees as well as their eligible 
spouses and dependents. Benefits are provided through the County’s group health insurance plan, which covers 
both active and retired members. Benefits are established and may be amended by the Miami-Dade County Board 
of County Commissioners (the “BCC”), who’s powers derive from F.S. 125.01(3)(a). The Plan does not issue a 
publicly available financial report. 
 
Participation in the Plan consisted of the following at September 30, 2024: 
 

Actives 30,913$               
Retirees under age 65 2,444                   
Eligible spouses under age 65 553                     
Retirees age 65 and over 1,178                   
Eligible spouses age 65 and over 257                     

35,345$               

 
Eligibility: To be eligible to receive retiree medical and dental benefits, participants must be eligible for retirement 
benefits under FRS and pay required contributions. 
 

 Regular Class Employees (all employees not identified as members of the Special Risk Class) hired prior 
to July 1, 2011 are eligible for postemployment benefits at age 62 with six years of service, or with 30 years 
of service at any age. Eligibility for reduced retirement is six years of service at any age. Those hired after 
July 1, 2011 are eligible at age 65 with eight years of service, or 33 years of service at any age. 
 

 Special Risk Employees (Police Officers, Firefighters, and Corrections Officers) that were hired prior to 
July 1, 2011 are eligible for postemployment benefits at age 55 with six years of service, or with 25 years 
of service at any age. Eligibility for reduced retirement is six years of service at any age. Those hired after 
July 1, 2011 are eligible at age 60 with eight years of service, or 30 years of service at any age. 

 
Benefits: 
 
Eligible pre-Medicare retirees receive healthcare coverage through one of the four self-funded medical plans: 
 

 AvMed POS 
 AvMed HMO High 
 AvMed HMO Select 
 Jackson First HMO 

 
Retirees may continue coverage beyond Medicare eligibility by enrolling in one of the County-sponsored, 
self-insured Medicare Supplemental plans provided by AvMed. The County only contributes to post-65 retirees 
electing one of these plans. 
 

 AvMed Medicare Supplement Low Option with RX 
 AvMed Medicare Supplement High Option with RX 
 AvMed Medicare Supplement High Option without RX 
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Note 13—Postemployment benefits other than pensions (continued) 
 
b. Funding Policy – The County contributes to both the pre-65 and post-65 retiree medical coverage. Medical 
contributions vary based on plan and tier. Retirees pay the full cost of dental coverage. The postretirement medical 
is currently funded on a pay-as-you go basis (i.e., Miami-Dade County funds on a cash basis as benefits are paid). 
The County’s contribution is the actual pay-as-you-go postemployment benefit payments less participant 
contributions for the period October 1, 2023 to September 30, 2024. No assets have been segregated and 
restricted to provide postretirement benefits. 
 
Contributions are required for both retiree and dependent coverage. Retirees contribute a portion of the full active 
premium equivalent rates for health coverage. The full monthly premiums, retiree contribution amounts, and the 
County subsidies effective January 1, 2024 through December 31, 2024 and January 1, 2023 through 
December 31, 2023 are provided in the tables on the next page. The County subsidy is assumed to remain flat. 
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Note 13—Postemployment benefits other than pensions (continued) 
 

PRE MEDICARE PREMIUM EQUIVALENT RATES

AvMed HMO High Full Premium County Subsidy
Retiree 

Contribution Full Premium County Subsidy
Retiree 

Contribution

Retiree Only 965.71$          204.36$          761.35$          896.50$          204.36$          692.14$          
Retiree + Spouse 2,033.70         360.38            1,673.32         1,881.58         360.38            1,521.20         
Retiree + Child(ren) 1,883.16         339.47            1,543.69         1,742.82         339.47            1,403.35         
Retiree + Family 2,482.35         418.43            2,063.92         2,294.72         418.43            1,876.29         

AvMed POS Full Premium County Subsidy
Retiree 

Contribution
Full Premium County Subsidy

Retiree 
Contribution

Retiree Only 1,888.74$       177.80$          1,710.94$       1,733.20$       177.80$          1,555.40$       
Retiree + Spouse 3,599.40         302.75            3,296.65         3,299.70         302.75            2,996.95         
Retiree + Child(ren) 3,308.87         175.12            3,133.75         3,023.97         175.12            2,848.85         
Retiree + Family 4,855.65         711.37            4,144.28         4,478.91         711.37            3,767.54         

AvMed Select HMO Full Premium County Subsidy
Retiree 

Contribution Full Premium County Subsidy
Retiree 

Contribution

Retiree Only 896.65$          204.36$          692.29$          833.71$          204.36$          629.35$          
Retiree + Spouse 1,888.86         360.38            1,528.48         1,749.91         360.38            1,389.53         
Retiree + Child(ren) 1,748.93         339.47            1,409.46         1,620.80         339.47            1,281.33         
Retiree + Family 2,305.68         418.43            1,887.25         2,134.10         418.43            1,715.67         

Jackson First HMO Full Premium County Subsidy
Retiree 

Contribution Full Premium County Subsidy
Retiree 

Contribution

Retiree Only 759.07$          204.36$          554.71$          708.65$          204.36$          504.29$          
Retiree + Spouse 1,600.13         360.38            1,239.75         1,487.42         360.38            1,127.04         
Retiree + Child(ren) 1,481.50         339.47            1,142.03         1,377.68         339.47            1,038.21         
Retiree + Family 1,953.53         418.43            1,535.10         1,813.98         418.43            1,395.55         

MEDICARE RETIREE PREMIUM EQUIVALENT RATES

Retiree Only 994.13$          233.58$          760.55$          994.13$          233.58$          760.55$          
Retiree + Spouse 65+ 1,703.11         260.15            1,442.96         1,703.11         260.15            1,442.96         

Med Supp High No Rx Full Premium County Subsidy
Retiree 

Contribution Full Premium County Subsidy
Retiree 

Contribution

Retiree Only 432.12$          101.53$          330.59$          432.12$          101.53$          330.59$          
Retiree + Spouse 65+ 740.31            113.08            627.23            740.31            113.08            627.23            

National Medicare* Full Premium County Subsidy
Retiree 

Contribution Full Premium County Subsidy
Retiree 

Contribution

Per Covered Member 377.09$          -$               377.09$          377.09$          -$               377.09$          

Local Medicare* Full Premium County Subsidy
Retiree 

Contribution
Full Premium County Subsidy

Retiree 
Contribution

Per Covered Member -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               

* 
The National and Local Medicare Plans are fully insured and retirees pay the full cost of coverage: there is no employer liability associated with those who 

  have elected these plans.

January 1  through December 31, 2024

January 1  through December 31, 2024

Med Supp High Full Premium County Subsidy
Retiree 

Contribution

January 1  through December 31, 2023

January 1  through December 31, 2023

Full Premium County Subsidy
Retiree 

Contribution
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Note 13—Postemployment benefits other than pensions (continued) 
 
c. Total OPEB Liability – The Aviation Department’s total OPEB liability of approximately $19.4 million and  
$28.5 million was measured as of September 30, 2024 and 2023, and was determined by an actuarial valuation 
as of that date. 
 
d. Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs – The total OPEB liability in the September 30, 2024 actuarial 
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods 
included in the measurement unless otherwise specified: 
 
Valuation date September 30, 2024
Measurement date September 30, 2024
Discount rate 3.81% per annum
Salary increases rate 3.0% per annum

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal based on level percentage of projected salary.
Amortization method 14.5 years
Healthcare cost trend rates Medical/Rx 7.75% select to 4.0% ultimate 
Retirees' share of benefit-related costs 24.62%
Mortality tables Pub-2010, headcount weighted base mortality table, 'projected

generationally using Scale MP-2021, 'applied on a gender-
specific and job class basis '(teacher, safety, or general, as
applicable).

 
The total OPEB liability in the September 30, 2023 actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial 
assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement unless otherwise specified: 
 
Valuation date September 30, 2022
Measurement Date September 30, 2023
Discount rate 4.09% per annum
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal based on level percentage of projected salary.

Amortization method 14.4 years

Healthcare cost trend rates Medical/Rx 7.0% select to 4.0% ultimate

Retirees' share of benefit-related costs 22.93%

Mortality tables Pub-2010, headcount weighted base mortality table, 'projected
generationally using Scale MP-2021, 'applied on a gender-
specific and job class basis '(teacher, safety, or general, as
applicable).

 
The discount rate was based on the Bond Buyer 20-Bond GO index. 
 
The actuarial assumptions used in the September 30, 2024 valuation were based on FRS’s valuation assumptions 
as of July 1, 2024, and the County’s claim experience as of June 2024. The actuarial assumptions used in the 
September 30, 2023 roll-forward actuarial valuation were based on FRS’s valuation assumptions as of July 1, 
2021 and the County’s claim experience as of June 2022.  
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Note 13—Postemployment benefits other than pensions (continued) 
 
e. Changes in Total OPEB Liability – Changes in the Aviation Department’s total OPEB liability for the year ended 
September 30, 2024 are as follows (in thousands): 
 
Balance at September 30, 2023 28,480$               

Charges for the year:

Service cost (9,848)                  

Interest (8,885)                  

Change in assumptions or other inputs (2,267)                  

Difference between expected and actual experience (1,950)                  

Change in benefit terms 3,919                   

Benefits payments 9,941                   

Balance at September 30, 2024 19,390$               

 
Changes in the Aviation Department’s total OPEB liability for the year ended September 30, 2023 are as follows 
(in thousands): 
 
Balance at September 30, 2022 26,153$               

Charges for the year:

Service cost 2,914                   

Interest 2,464                   
Change in assumptions or other inputs (360)                    

Difference between expected and actual experience -                          

Change in benefit terms -                          
Benefits payments (2,691)                  

Balance at September 30, 2023 28,480$               

 
The decrease in total OPEB liability for the year ended September 30, 2024 is mostly due to a reduction in the 
service and interest costs, whereas the increase in the total OPEB liability for the year ended September 30, 2023 
is mostly due to changes in actuarial assumptions. 
 
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate – The following presents the total OPEB 
liability of the Aviation Department, as well as what the Aviation Department’s total OPEB liability would be if it 
were calculated using a discount rate that are one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the 
current discount rate (in thousands): 
 

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

(2.81%) (3.81%) (4.81%)

Total OPEB liability 21,468$               19,390$               17,571$               
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Note 13—Postemployment benefits other than pensions (continued) 
 
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend – The following presents the total 
OPEB liability of the Aviation Department, as well as what the Aviation Department’s total OPEB liability would be 
if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are one percentage point lower or one percentage point 
higher than the current healthcare trend rates (in thousands): 
 

1% Decrease Current Trend 1% Increase
(6.75% initial to 3.0%) (7.75% initial to 4.0%) (8.75% initial to 5.0%)

Total OPEB liability 17,562$               19,390$               21,577$               

 
f. OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources – For the year ended 
September 30, 2024, the Aviation Department recognized OPEB expense of $2.0 million. At September 30, 2024, 
the Aviation Department reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
OPEB from the following sources (in thousands): 
 

Deferred Deferred
Outflows Inflows

Description of Resources of Resources

Changes in assumptions or other inputs 826$                    423$                    
Differences between expected and actual experience 2,966                   1,704                   

3,792$                 2,127$                 

 
For the year ended September 30, 2023, the Aviation Department recognized OPEB expense of $3.1 million.  
At September 30, 2023, the Aviation Department reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to OPEB from the following sources (in thousands): 
 

Deferred Deferred
Outflows Inflows

Description of Resources of Resources
Changes in assumptions or other inputs 4,943$                 2,899$                 

Differences between expected and actual experience 1,110                   745                     

Total 6,053$                 3,644$                 
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Note 13—Postemployment benefits other than pensions (continued) 
 
Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be 
recognized in OPEB expense as follows (in thousands): 
 

Deferred
Outflows 

(Inflows), Net

2025 277$                    
2026 277                     
2027 277                     
2028 277                     
2029 315                     
Thereafter 242                     

1,665$                 
 

 



 

  

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
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2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Contractually required FRS contribution 13,888$      11,978$      10,843$      9,520$       8,008$       6,978$       6,363$       5,846$       5,609$       5,229$       
FRS contribution in relation to the contractually 

 required contribution 13,888       11,978       10,843       9,520         8,008         6,978         6,363         5,846         5,609         5,229         

FRS contribution deficiency (excess) -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              

Miami-Dade County Aviation Department's covered payroll 121,692$    112,670$    106,509$    101,513$    101,453$    93,698$      90,624$      89,272$      87,034$      81,844$      

FRS contribution as a percentage of covered payroll 11.41% 10.63% 10.18% 9.38% 7.89% 7.45% 7.02% 6.55% 6.44% 6.39%

Note:  The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the fiscal year-end date, September 30th.

Unaudited - see accompanying report of independent auditor.  
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2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Miami-Dade County Aviation Department's proportion of
the FRS net pension liability 0.2282% 0.2347% 0.2295% 0.2188% 0.2173% 0.2041% 0.2028% 0.2201% 0.2198% 0.2145%

Miami-Dade County Aviation Department’s proportionate
share of the FRS net pension liability 88,262$      93,507$      85,376$      16,525$      94,175$      70,292$      61,090$      65,109$      55,498$      27,704$      

Miami-Dade County Aviation Department's covered payroll 118,620$    115,251$    105,136$    101,172$    99,876$      92,633$      90,784$      86,951$      83,925$      81,195$      

Miami-Dade County Aviation Department's proportionate
share of the net pension liability as a percentage of its 

covered payroll 74.41% 81.13% 81.21% 16.33% 94.29% 75.88% 67.29% 74.88% 66.13% 34.12%

FRS Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total pension liability 83.70% 82.38% 82.89% 96.40% 78.85% 82.61% 84.26% 83.89% 84.88% 92.00%

Unaudited - see accompanying report of independent auditor.

Note:  The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the measurement date, June 30th.
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2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Contractually required HIS contribution 1,636$       1,318$       1,171$       1,093$       1,010$       913$          891$          948$          928$          682$          

HIS contribution in relation to the contractually
required contribution 1,636         1,318         1,171         1,093         1,010         913            891            948            928            682            

HIS contribution deficiency (excess) -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              

Miami-Dade County Aviation Department's covered payroll 92,185$      86,492$      82,344$      78,589$      80,273$      74,646$      71,907$      70,477$      68,821$      65,131$      

HIS contribution as a percentage of covered payroll 1.77% 1.52% 1.42% 1.39% 1.26% 1.22% 1.24% 1.35% 1.35% 1.05%

Note:  The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the fiscal year-end date, September 30th.

Unaudited - see accompanying report of independent auditor.  
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2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Miami-Dade County Aviation Department proportion of
the HIS net pension liability 0.1862% 0.1956% 0.1923% 0.1824% 0.1732% 0.1634% 0.1631% 0.1756% 0.1769% 0.1784%

Miami-Dade County Aviation Department’s 
proportionate share of the HIS net pension liability 27,934$      31,067$      20,367$      22,368$      21,149$      18,284$      17,261$      18,776$      20,618$      18,194$      

Miami-Dade County Aviation Department's  covered payroll 90,098$      88,897$      81,192$      78,675$      79,234$      73,746$      72,088$      68,481$      66,497$      64,806$      

Miami-Dade County Aviation Department's proportionate 
share of the net pension liability as a percentage of its 
covered payroll 31.00% 34.95% 25.08% 28.43% 24.79% 24.79% 23.94% 27.42% 31.01% 28.07%

HIS Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total pension liability 4.80% 4.12% 4.81% 3.56% 3.00% 2.63% 2.15% 1.64% 0.97% 0.50%

Note:  The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the measurement date, June 30th.

Unaudited - see accompanying report of independent auditor  
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2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
Total OPEB Liability:

Service cost (9,848)$       2,914$        17,291$      56$             452$           417$           454$           
Interest (8,885)         2,464          9,270          29              678             884             909             
Change of assumptions or other inputs (2,267)         (360)            (35,893)       (6)               5,860          3,272          (1,361)         
Difference between expected and actual experience (1,950)         -                 18,561        -                 (1,325)         -                 -                 
Change in benefit terms 3,919          -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Benefit payments 9,941          (2,691)         (14,690)       (61)             (1,169)         (1,390)         (1,365)         

Net Change in Total OPEB Liability (9,090)         2,327          (5,461)         18              4,496          3,183          (1,363)         

Total OPEB liability - beginning 28,480        26,153        31,614        31,596        27,100        23,917        25,280        

Total OPEB Liability - Ending 19,390$      28,480$      26,153$      31,614$      31,596$      27,100$      23,917$      

Covered-employee payroll 116,247$     102,944$     99,463$      98,494$      95,625$      102,283$     85,430$      

Total OPEB Liability as a Percentage of
Covered-Employee Payroll 16.68% 27.67% 26.29% 32.10% 33.04% 26.50% 28.00%

There are no assets accumulated in a trust to pay related benefits.

Note:  Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as they become available.

Unaudited - see accompanying report of independent auditor.  
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Overview 
 

 

 

 

The Statistical Section is divided into five areas: financial trend data; revenue capacity data; operating information; 

demographic and economic information; and debt capacity data.  The source of all non-accounting data presented in 

the statistical section is Miami-Dade Aviation Department (Aviation Department) unless otherwise stated. 

 

Financial Trend data shows changes in the Aviation Department’s financial position: 

Aviation Department Schedules of Revenues and Expenses 

Aviation Department Statements of Net Position 

Aviation Department Changes in Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Aviation Department’s Largest Sources of Revenue 

 

Revenue Capacity data shows MIA’s major revenue sources and changes in key rates and charges: 

Key Usage Fees and Charges 

Concession Revenue per Enplaned Passenger 

Parking Revenue per Enplaned Passenger 

Rental Car Revenue per Enplaned Passenger 

Terminal Rent Revenue per Enplaned Passenger 

Food and Beverage Revenues per Enplaned Passenger 

 

Operating Information shows how the Airport has performed on an annual basis and within the airport market sector: 

Aviation Department Employee Strength 

Aircraft Operations 

Aircraft Landed Weight 

Passenger Enplanements 

Passenger Deplanements  

Enplanement Market Share by Airline by Fiscal Year 

Air Cargo Activity 

 

Demographic and Economic Information shows the major drivers of usage and how the Airport service area is 

performing compared to the region and the nation:  
Miami-Dade County Population and Per Capita Personal Income 

Principal Employers in Miami-Dade County 

 

Debt Capacity Information shows how the Airport is meeting its debt obligations and the relative level of debt: 

Revenue Bond Debt Service Coverage 

Outstanding Debt  

Long Term Debt per Enplaned Passenger 

Capital Assets 
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2015 2016 2017 2018(1) 2019 2020 2021 2022(2) 2023(3) 2024

OPERATING REVENUES:

Aviation Fees $381,872 $395,586 $372,977 $384,989 $390,299 $233,166 $309,109 $443,330 $430,709 $422,271

Rentals 133,394 140,482 144,046 149,111 147,198 144,074 152,794 172,591 179,876 187,429

Commercial Operations:

Management Agreements 79,925 78,010 73,624 73,595 72,147 41,409 46,830 84,568 94,822 97,455

Concessions 191,236 187,187 196,698 202,555 199,955 120,663 126,495 180,029 205,808 232,032

Other 4,850 16,128 12,229 11,259 10,963 14,450 9,217 12,753 12,569 9,753

Other - Environmental Remediation 3,106 13,310 5,150 -              -              -                5,200 7,195 3,900 6,000

Total Operating Revenue 794,383 830,703 804,724 821,509 820,562 553,762 649,645 900,466 927,684 954,940 

OPERATING EXPENSES:

Salaries and wages 149,132 161,087 174,320 176,089 195,015 208,565 158,822 179,989 200,730 189,480 

Contractual services 44,762 47,979 55,827 61,294 61,591 65,359 93,072 102,385 104,779 116,250 

Services provided by other County

departments 73,345 72,891 78,539 82,618 92,857 86,660 83,986 105,389 96,319 115,618 

Maintenance and repairs 65,438 53,900 51,070 57,990 63,555 59,007 55,852 59,860 85,540 122,356 

Utilities 50,272 48,488 50,226 48,038 62,203 45,718 51,324 59,335 69,051 62,283 

Materials and supplies 20,146 17,908 14,857 19,952 21,767 13,717 8,503 11,260 12,526 12,549 

Insurance 8,621 8,187 7,683 7,426 7,978 8,494 7,938 8,967 10,624 12,114 

Other 14,263 2,356 4,836 20,941 (4,603) 22,668 21,305 6,869 7,873 12,224 

Depreciation and Amortization 261,801 259,523 259,280 262,821 264,935 270,973 277,391 280,175 283,358 282,857 

Total Operating Expenses 687,780 672,319 696,638 737,169 765,298 781,161 758,193 814,229 870,800 925,731 

Operating Income (Loss) 106,603       158,384      108,086       84,340         55,264         (227,399)       (108,548)     86,237           56,884          29,209        

NON-OPERATING REVENUES

(EXPENSES):

Interest Expense (302,642)      (279,178)     (268,118)      (259,857)      (246,046)      (241,319)       (219,658)     (211,442)        (205,847)       (199,980)     

Investment Income:

Current Investments 1,936           2,213          2,318           5,735           8,781           2,456            54              3,553             28,467          29,233        

Restricted Investments 3,807           3,684          3,478           8,526           20,356         4,725            124             (1,204)            36,343          37,180        

Lease and PPP interest income -              -             -              -              -              -                -             6,412             7,116            9,542         

Passenger Facility Charges 79,799         77,431        88,914         82,242         96,785         52,655          63,719        100,363          110,336         120,511      

Environmental Cost Recovery -              -             175              21               22               12                 -             -                 -                -             

Federal relief grant receipts -              -             -              -              -              184,099         58,085        34,588           130,159         -             

Other Revenue 3,180           7,556          2,314           2,935           3,040           4,983            4,572          1,410             3,888            3,085         

Total Non-operating (Expenses) Revenues (213,920) (188,294) (170,919) (160,398) (117,062) 7,611 (93,104) (66,320) 110,462 (429)

Income (Loss) before Capital

Contribution (107,317)    (29,910)      (62,833)      (76,058)      (61,798)      (219,788)      (201,652)   19,917          167,346       28,780      

Capital Contributions 91,444         44,022        48,525         372,822       61,550         31,425          34,802        44,191           24,667          50,853        

Change in Net Position ($15,873) $14,112 ($14,308) $296,764 ($248) ($188,363) (166,850)   64,108          192,013       79,633      

(1) 
Amounts prior to fiscal year 2018 do not reflect the adoption of GASB Statement No. 75.

(2) 
Amounts prior to fiscal year 2022 do not reflect the adoption of GASB Statement No. 87.

(3) 
Amounts prior to fiscal year 2023 do not reflect the adoption of GASB Statement No. 94 and 96.

Aviation Department Schedules of Revenues and Expenses
Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2015 to 2024

(In Thousands)

(Unaudited)
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2015 2016 2017     2018(1)
2019 2020 2021      2022(2)       2023(3)

2024

Current Assets $641,876 $653,195 $667,853 $701,811 $715,962 $666,838 $605,480 $759,200 $988,971 $976,634

Noncurrent assets:

 Restricted assets 629,950 602,259 632,401 693,395 846,203 746,894 637,398 641,847 674,646 689,032

Capital assets, net 6,420,564 6,327,890 6,178,268 6,062,007 5,952,697 5,811,183 5,650,701 5,479,199 5,316,744 5,268,453

Lease receivable, net of current portion -               -               -           -              -               -               -               163,527 159,212 157,719

PPP receivable -               -               -           -              -               -               -               -               7,975 52,396

Other assets 34,567 19,466 7,372 4,692 2,762 1,198 -              -              -              -              

Total assets 7,726,957 7,602,810 7,485,894 7,461,905 7,517,624 7,226,113 6,893,579 7,043,773 7,147,548 7,144,234

Deferred outflows of resources:

Deferred outflows pension 7,703 27,710 33,835 30,706 28,365 33,211 21,003 27,373 25,934 27,122

Deferred outflows other post-employment benefit -               -               -           -              3,327 8,605 7,661 6,512 6,053 3,792

Deferred loss on debt refundings 45,860 119,042 125,275 150,009 142,097 125,735 109,837 97,180 87,126 68,207

Total deferred outflows of resources 53,563 146,752 159,110 180,715 173,789 167,551 138,501 131,065 119,113 99,121

Current liabilities 89,178 80,850 88,462 85,073 85,774 94,367 91,856 99,776 103,673 98,551

Current liabilities payable from restricted assets 249,627 248,820 265,193 271,612 278,052 301,464 241,670 258,145 302,144 303,025

Noncurrent liabilities 6,477,934 6,449,246 6,332,650 6,048,480 6,092,420 5,954,166 5,763,953 5,707,378 5,558,791 5,372,107

Total liabilities 6,816,739 6,778,916 6,686,305 6,405,165 6,456,246 6,349,997 6,097,479 6,065,299 5,964,608 5,773,683

Deferred inflows of resources:

Deferred inflows pension 10,136 2,889 5,250 7,648 5,744 1,462 59,376 3,872 3,226 11,306

Deferred inflows other post-employment benefit -              -              -          1,241 1,105 2,250 2,120 3,687 3,644 2,127

Deferred inflows leases -               -               -           -              -               -               -               164,767 158,133 155,304

Deferred inflow PPP -               -               -           -              -               -               -               -               7,824 50,825

Gain on debt refundings -               -               -           -              -               -               -               -               -               41,251

Total deferred inflows of resources 10,136         2,889          5,250       8,889          6,849          3,712          61,496         172,326       172,827       260,813       

Net Position:

Net investment in capital assets 181,930 32,462 65,879 327,993 250,623 212,137 132,468 24,800 (28,766) (58,456)

Restricted 614,006 750,114 683,147 719,116 806,979 733,121 648,436 717,754 812,072 916,323

Unrestricted 157,709 185,181 204,423 181,457 170,716 94,697 92,201 194,659 345,920 350,992

Total net Position $953,645 $967,757 $953,449 $1,228,566 $1,228,318 $1,039,955 $873,105 $937,213 $1,129,226 $1,208,859

(1) 
Amounts prior to fiscal year 2018 do not reflect the adoption of GASB Statement No. 75.

(2) 
Amounts prior to fiscal year 2022 do not reflect the adoption of GASB Statement No. 87.

(3) 
Amounts prior to fiscal year 2023 do not reflect the adoption of GASB Statement No. 94 and 96.

Aviation Department Statements of Net Position
Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2015 to 2024

(In Thousands)

(Unaudited)
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2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from customers and tenants $825,000 $819,150 $805,628 $814,284 $823,610 $537,584 $667,806 $901,354 $948,374 $943,383

Cash paid to suppliers for goods and services (301,459)     (289,935)    (301,698)    (332,063)    (351,427)    (320,496)      (349,206)      (372,558)      (395,258)    (468,374)    

Cash paid to employees for services (113,317)     (119,920)    (125,350)    (130,011)    (137,054)    (143,815)      (146,884)      (157,028)      (164,714)    (177,718)    

Net cash provided by operating activities $410,224 $409,295 $378,580 $352,210 $335,129 $73,273 $171,716 $371,768 $388,402 $297,291

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:

Proceeds from bonds issues and commercial paper 1,424,188   849,023     1,097,858  1,368,311  1,397,861  -                 695,159       210,000       250,000     1,370,673  

Principal paid on bonds, loans, and commercial paper (1,417,092)  (864,907)    (1,157,755) (1,372,429) (1,332,549) (140,520)      (826,930)      (292,775)      (365,575)    (1,450,761) 

Interest paid on bonds, loans, and commercial paper (328,150)     (371,986)    (297,890)    (315,369)    (258,317)    (240,862)      (235,103)      (225,971)      (222,443)    (234,251)    

Bond issuance costs -                -                -                -                -                -                 -                 -                 -                (5,352)        

Purchase and construction of capital assets, net (98,453)      (156,494)    (98,040)      (141,693)    (165,185)    (122,293)      (115,904)      (101,648)      (113,198)    (229,510)    

Proceeds from sale of property -                3,400         72              1,099         1,155         38               21               18               -                432            

Capital contributed by federal and state governments 40,914        20,438       40,448       35,408       52,614       55,507         35,834         43,257         28,461       42,130       

Passenger facility charges 82,593        82,353       81,145       85,373       96,673       56,203         56,155         97,580         109,146     125,935     

Lease and PPP interest received -                -                -                -                -                -                 -                 5,774          7,109         7,412         

Principal paid on lease and subscription liabilities -                -                -                -                -                -                 -                 (387)            (886)           (898)           

Interest paid on lease and subscription liabilities -                -                -                -                -                -                 -                 (289)            (360)           (344)           

Proceeds from environmental reimbursements -                -                175            21              22              12               -                 -                 -                -                

Financed purchase (payments) proceeds (2,199)        (1,535)        (5,882)        47,602       (3,490)        (8,252)         (4,994)         (4,378)         (4,690)        (5,016)        

Net cash (used in) provided by capital and related

financing activities (298,199)     (439,708)    (339,869)    (291,677)    (211,216)    (400,167)      (395,762)      (268,819)      (312,436)    (379,550)    

Cash flows from non capital financing activities: 

Reimbursements received from federal relief grants -             -            -            -            -            184,099       58,085         34,588         130,159     -            

Reimbursements received from government grants 3,180         1,317         2,314         2,935         3,040         4,983          4,572          1,711          4,263         3,424         

Net cash provided by non capital financing activities 3,180         1,317         2,314         2,935         3,040         189,082       62,657         36,299         134,422     3,424         

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of investments (1,492,564)  (1,596,087) (1,419,627) (1,152,098) (1,579,213) (1,905,926)   (1,610,071)   (1,171,452)   (1,665,441) (1,750,371) 

Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 1,495,548   1,494,721  1,436,653  1,252,064  1,729,974  1,848,497    1,671,978    1,057,614    1,661,881  2,067,248  

Interest and dividends on investments 5,743         4,605         6,872         12,999       21,685       15,585         1,816          2,741          34,998       60,859       

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 8,727         (96,761)      23,898       112,965     172,446     (41,844)       63,723         (111,097)      31,438       377,736     

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 123,932      (125,857)    64,923       176,433     299,399     (179,656)      (97,666)       28,151         241,826     298,901     

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year $647,265 $771,197 645,340     710,263     886,696     1,186,095    1,006,439    908,773       $936,924 $1,178,750

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $771,197 645,340     $710,263 $886,696 $1,186,095 $1,006,439 $908,773 $936,924 $1,178,750 $1,477,651

Aviation Department Changes in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2015 to 2024

(In Thousands)

(Unaudited)
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Tenant/Management Company Revenue Rank

Percentage 

of Total 

Operating 

Revenue Revenue Rank

Percentage 

of Total 

Operating 

Revenue

American Airlines Inc. 315,848,712$  1 33.1% 301,972,927$  1 38.0%

Airport Parking Associates 66,336,598     2 6.9% 49,926,040      2 6.3%

Delta Air Lines Inc. 31,114,225     3 3.3% 27,558,470      4 3.5%

Duty Free Americas Miami, LLC 28,798,015     4 3.0% 31,500,414      3 4.0%

LATAM 24,352,322     5 2.5%

Allied Aviation Services 21,486,695     6 2.3% 19,614,717      5 2.5%

MDIA Hospitality Management, LLC 17,806,651     7 1.9%

Spirit Airlines 16,900,564     8 1.8%

United Airlines 16,662,624     9 1.7%

Avianca 13,429,320     10 1.4%

Envoy 1 17,909,684      6 2.2%

US Airways 2 16,801,545      7 2.1%

H I Development Corp 3 14,794,403      8 1.9%

Alamo Rental (US) Inc 14,711,937      9 1.8%

TAM 4 11,904,002      10 1.5%

Total 552,735,726$  57.9% 506,694,139$  63.8%

Total Operating Revenue 954,939,611$  794,383,007$  

1  
Previously Executive Airlines dba American Eagle Airlines Inc

2  
American Airlines merged with US Airways in October 2015

3  
Agreement terminated May 2018

4  
TAM merged with Lan Chile and now operates as LATAM

Aviation Department's Largest Sources of Revenue 
Ten Largest Sources of Revenue 

Current Fiscal Year and Nine Years Previous

(Unaudited)

2024 2015
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Fiscal 

Year

Landing 

Fees/ 

1,000 lbs.

Percent 

Change

Terminal 

Rental 

Rates 

(average 

cost per 

sq. foot) 

(Class III)

Percent 

Change

Concourse 

Use Fee

Percent 

Change

Int'l 

Facilities 

Fee

Percent 

Change

Domestic 

Baggage 

Claim 

Charge

Percent 

Change

Outbound 

Baggage 

Makeup 

Charge

Percent 

Change

Security 

Screening 

Fee

Percent 

Change

2015 $1.58 -9.7% $83.05 3.9% $4.32 0.0% $  1.87 -1.6% $1.47 0.0% $1.13 0.0% $0.46 -6.1%

2016 $1.68 6.3% $84.90 2.2% $4.27 -1.2% $  2.20 17.6% $1.49 1.4% $1.06 -6.2% $0.43 -6.5%

2017 $1.63 -3.0% $86.94 2.4% $4.09 -4.2% $  2.16 -1.8% $1.42 -4.7% $1.13 6.6% $0.43 0.0%

2018 $1.67 2.5% $88.18 1.4% $4.18 2.2% $  2.16 0.0% $1.53 7.7% $1.18 4.4% $0.47 9.3%

2019 $1.62 -3.0% $89.88 1.9% $4.26 1.9% $  2.36 9.3% $1.56 2.0% $1.20 1.7% $0.49 4.3%

2020 $1.62 0.0% $95.00 5.7% $2.40 -43.7% $10.66 351.7% $0.87 -44.2% $1.15 -4.2% $0.85 73.5%

2021 $1.62 0.0% $88.75 -6.6% $4.91 104.6% $12.43 16.6% $0.92 5.7% $1.75 52.2% $1.44 69.4%

2022 $1.62 0.0% $85.16 -4.0% $4.91 0.0% $12.77 2.7% $1.00 8.7% $1.83 4.6% $1.57 9.0%

2023 $1.62 0.0% $89.80 5.4% $4.17 -15.1% $12.51 -2.0% $0.61 -39.0% $1.44 -21.3% $1.23 -21.7%

2024 $1.62 0.0% $89.80 0.0% $4.05 -2.9% $10.31 -17.6% $0.55 -9.8% $1.29 -10.4% $1.17 -4.9%

Key Usage Fees and Charges

(Unaudited)

Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2015 to 2024
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Landing Fee Rate

(per 1,000 lbs.) 
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Revenue per Enplaned 

Fiscal           Passenger

Year Amount % Change Number % Change Amount % Change

2015 $191,235,889 1.9% 21,375,095 5.7% $8.95 -3.6%

2016 $187,186,622 -2.1% 22,154,289 3.6% $8.45 -5.6%

2017 $196,698,037 5.1% 21,602,794 -2.5% $9.11 7.8%

2018 $202,555,196 3.0% 22,220,423 2.9% $9.12 0.1%

2019 $199,955,318 -1.3% 22,685,074 2.1% $8.81 -3.4%

2020 $120,663,237 -39.7% 12,649,609 -44.2% $9.54 8.3%

2021 $126,495,311 4.8% 15,136,208 19.7% $8.36 -12.4%

2022 $180,028,303 42.3% 24,937,982 64.8% $7.22 -13.6%

2023 $205,808,428 14.3% 25,751,310 3.3% $7.99 10.7%

2024 $232,031,718 12.7% 27,884,707 8.3% $8.32 4.1%

Concession Revenue Enplaned Passengers

Concession Revenue per Enplaned Passenger
Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2015 to 2024

(Unaudited)
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Fiscal 

Year Amount % Change Number % Change Amount % Change

2015 $47,263,378 -0.6% 21,375,095 5.7% $2.21 -6.0%

2016 $48,024,900 1.6% 22,154,289 3.6% $2.17 -1.8%

2017 $44,783,394 -6.7% 21,602,794 -2.5% $2.07 -4.6%

2018 $43,607,001 -2.6% 22,220,423 2.9% $1.96 -5.3%

2019 $43,317,243 -0.7% 22,685,074 2.1% $1.91 -2.6%

2020 $22,558,052 -47.9% 12,649,609 -44.2% $1.78 -6.8%

2021 $25,670,873 13.8% 15,136,208 19.7% $1.70 -4.5%

2022 $49,496,342 92.8% 24,937,982 64.8% $1.98 16.5%

2023 $62,054,618 25.4% 25,751,310 3.3% $2.41 21.7%

2024 $62,779,429 1.2% 27,884,707 8.3% $2.25 -6.6%

Enplaned Passengers

(Unaudited)

Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2015 to 2024

Parking Revenue per Enplaned Passenger

Passenger

Revenue per Enplaned

Parking Revenue
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Fiscal

Year Amount % Change Number % Change Amount % Change

2015 $49,978,275 0.4% 21,375,095 5.7% $2.34 -4.9%

2016 $51,642,482 3.3% 22,154,289 3.6% $2.33 -0.4%

2017 $51,630,646 0.0% 21,602,794 -2.5% $2.39 2.6%

2018 $49,883,484 -3.4% 22,220,423 2.9% $2.24 -6.3%

2019 $47,866,708 -4.0% 22,685,074 2.1% $2.11 -5.8%

2020 $28,930,370 -39.6% 12,649,609 -44.2% $2.29 8.5%

2021 $42,147,792 45.7% 15,136,208 19.7% $2.78 21.4%

2022 $57,075,745 35.4% 24,937,982 64.8% $2.29 -17.6%

2023 $54,459,763 -4.6% 25,751,310 3.3% $2.11 -7.9%

2024 $52,177,818 -4.2% 27,884,707 8.3% $1.87 -11.4%

(Unaudited)

Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2015 to 2024

Rental Car Revenue per Enplaned Passenger

Revenue per Enplaned

Enplaned PassengersRental Car Revenue Passenger
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Fiscal Terminal Rent Revenue Enplaned Passengers Revenue per Enplaned Passenger

Year Amount % Change Number % Change Amount % Change

2015 $64,398,023 7.1% 21,375,095 5.7% $3.01 1.3%

2016 $67,843,941 5.3% 22,154,289 3.6% $3.06 1.6%

2017 $70,705,323 4.2% 21,602,794 -2.5% $3.27 6.9%

2018 $71,249,445 0.8% 22,220,423 2.9% $3.21 -1.8%

2019 $71,433,297 0.3% 22,685,074 2.1% $3.15 -1.9%

2020 $68,868,294 -3.6% 12,649,609 -44.2% $5.44 72.7%

2021 $75,987,856 10.3% 15,136,208 19.7% $5.02 -7.7%

2022 $82,943,444 9.2% 24,937,982 64.8% $3.33 -33.7%

2023 $83,899,812 1.2% 25,751,310 3.3% $3.26 -2.1%

2024 $82,208,269 -2.0% 27,884,707 8.3% $2.95 -9.5%

Terminal Rent Revenue per Enplaned Passenger 
Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2015 to 2024

(Unaudited)
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Fiscal

Year Amount % Change Number % Change Amount % Change

2015 $28,181,765 7.7% 21,375,095 5.7% $1.32 2.3%

2016 $22,551,928 -19.9% 22,154,289 3.6% $1.02 -22.7%

2017 $26,090,995 15.6% 21,602,794 -2.5% $1.21 18.6%

2018 $27,698,314 6.2% 22,220,423 2.9% $1.25 3.3%

2019 $27,675,420 -0.1% 22,685,074 2.1% $1.22 -2.4%

2020 $14,731,503 -46.8% 12,649,609 -44.2% $1.16 -4.9%

2021 $15,346,844 4.2% 15,136,208 19.7% $1.01 -12.9%

2022 $20,372,610 32.7% 24,937,982 64.8% $0.82 -18.8%

2023 $27,718,245 36.1% 25,751,310 3.3% $1.08 31.7%

2024 $31,171,755 12.5% 27,884,707 8.3% $1.12 3.7%

Food and Beverage Revenues per Enplaned Passenger
Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2015 to 2024

(Unaudited)

Enplaned Passengers Enplaned Passenger

Revenue per

Food & Beverage Revenues
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Enplaned 

Fiscal   FTEs as of Enplaned Passengers per

Year September 30 % Change Passengers FTEs

2015 1,192                   0.7% 21,375,095       17,932                    

2016 1,196                   0.3% 22,154,289       18,524                    

2017 1,255                   4.9% 21,602,794       17,213                    

2018 1,285                   2.4% 22,220,423       17,292                    

2019 1,318                   2.6% 22,685,074       17,212                    

2020 1,318                   0.0% 12,649,609       9,598                      

2021 1,280                   -2.9% 15,136,208       11,825                    

2022 1,305                   2.0% 24,937,982       19,110                    

2023 1,333                   2.1% 25,751,310       19,318                    

2024 1,377                   3.3% 27,884,707       20,250                    

Aviation Department Employee Strength
Full-Time Equivalent Employees (FTE)

Fiscal Years 2015 to 2024

(Unaudited)
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Fiscal Domestic International Total

Year Operations % Change Operations % Change Operations % Change

2015 214,609 3.2% 191,287 1.1% 405,896 2.2%

2016 217,950 1.5% 195,451 2.1% 413,401 1.8%

2017 215,928 -0.9% 191,232 -2.1% 407,160 -1.5%

2018 223,070 3.3% 192,711 0.8% 415,781 2.1%

2019 221,436 -0.7% 193,596 0.5% 415,032 -0.2%

2020 165,508 -25.3% 123,246 -36.3% 288,754 -30.4%

2021 195,347 18.0% 141,975 15.2% 337,322 16.8%

2022 265,716 36.0% 191,438 34.8% 457,154 35.5%

2023 246,562 -7.2% 206,505 7.9% 453,067 -0.9%

2024 263,166 6.7% 217,084 5.1% 480,250 6.0%

(Unaudited)

Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2015 to 2024
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Fiscal Domestic International Total

Year 1,000 lbs. % Change 1,000 lbs. % Change 1,000 lbs. % Change

2015 13,886,215 5.7% 22,835,492 3.1% 36,721,707 4.0%

2016 14,683,385 5.7% 23,243,509 1.7% 37,926,894 3.2%

2017 14,266,146 -2.8% 22,723,364 -2.2% 36,989,510 -2.5%

2018 14,549,871 2.0% 22,907,237 0.8% 37,457,108 1.3%

2019 14,710,443 1.1% 23,147,790 1.1% 37,858,233 1.1%

2020 11,546,694 -21.5% 16,135,051 -30.3% 27,681,745 -26.9%

2021 15,619,024 35.3% 16,840,869 4.4% 32,459,893 17.3%

2022 20,029,017 28.2% 21,865,186 29.8% 41,894,203 29.1%

2023 18,576,212 -7.3% 23,645,239 8.1% 42,221,451 0.8%

2024 20,101,457 8.2% 24,989,845 5.7% 45,091,302 6.8%

Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2015 to 2024

(Unaudited)

Aircraft Landed Weight 
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Fiscal

Year Passengers % Change Passengers % Change Passengers % Change

2015 11,197,406 8.3% 10,177,689 3.0% 21,375,095 5.7%

2016 11,774,663 5.1% 10,379,626 1.9% 22,154,289 3.6%

2017 11,132,819 -5.4% 10,469,975 0.8% 21,602,794 -2.5%

2018 11,571,473 3.9% 10,648,950 1.7% 22,220,423 2.9%

2019 11,680,797 0.9% 11,004,277 3.3% 22,685,074 2.1%

2020 7,175,682 -38.6% 5,473,927 -50.3% 12,649,609 -44.2%

2021 9,792,146 36.5% 5,344,062 -2.4% 15,136,208 19.7%

2022 14,842,208 51.6% 10,095,774 88.9% 24,937,982 64.8%

2023 14,314,324 -3.6% 11,436,986 13.3% 25,751,310 3.3%

2024 15,419,237 7.7% 12,465,470 9.0% 27,884,707 8.3%

Domestic International Total

Passenger Enplanements 

(Unaudited)

Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2015 to 2024
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Fiscal

Year Passengers % Change Passengers % Change Passengers % Change

2015 11,234,660 8.2% 10,737,374 4.9% 21,972,034 6.5%

2016 11,802,705 5.0% 10,944,759 1.9% 22,747,464 3.5%

2017 11,190,241 -5.1% 10,965,374 0.1% 22,155,615 -2.6%

2018 11,596,475 3.6% 11,121,588 1.4% 22,718,063 2.5%

2019 11,679,065 0.7% 11,447,444 2.9% 23,126,509 1.8%

2020 7,166,336 -38.6% 5,566,439 -51.4% 12,732,775 -44.9%

2021 9,857,569 37.6% 5,225,311 -6.1% 15,082,880 18.5%

2022 14,852,008 50.7% 9,943,352 90.3% 24,795,360 64.4%

2023 14,350,885 -3.4% 11,460,849 15.3% 25,811,734 4.1%

2024 15,334,523 6.9% 12,483,752 8.9% 27,818,275 7.8%

Domestic International Total

Passenger Deplanements
Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2015 to 2024

(Unaudited)
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Airline 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

American Airlines Inc. 12,951.4    13,433.0    12,902.7    13,254.5    13,571.2    7,599.3    9,110.5    14,406.9  14,458.8  15,580.1  

Delta Air Lines Inc. 1,238.8      1,341.9      1,360.9      1,333.5      1,348.2      757.2       1,020.6    1,363.2    1,546.1    1,852.1    

Envoy (Previously American Eagle) 1,113.4      1,239.3      1,349.0      1,570.2      1,604.8      834.6       1,016.9    1,376.3    1,082.3    1,196.3    

Spirit Airlines -            -            -            -            -            -          -          1,159.1    1,192.5    1,046.2    

United Airlines, Inc. 451.4         561.0         672.5         679.7         632.1         454.9       607.6       689.2       746.1       871.8       

LATAM Airlines 165.5         192.5         191.7         175.7         170.7         94.2         207.3       466.7       695.3       821.7       

Southwest Airlines -            -            -            -            -            -          543.7       848.2       797.7       782.9       

Frontier Airlines 245.3         301.0         232.1         361.9         193.9         313.9       688.8       671.5       591.6       675.6       

Avianca 328.3         329.9         338.9         294.1         403.9         186.3       203.8       301.7       455.5       543.8       

COPA Airlines 245.3         243.9         259.3         279.8         299.5         154.9       271.3       331.4       378.1       417.7       

All Others 4,635.7      4,511.8      4,295.7      4,271.0      4,460.8      2,254.3    1,465.7    3,323.7    3,807.3    4,096.5    

21,375.1    22,154.3    21,602.8    22,220.4    22,685.1    12,649.6  15,136.2  24,937.9  25,751.3  27,884.7  

Enplanement Market Share by Airline by Fiscal Year
Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2015 to 2024

(In Thousands)

(Unaudited)
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Fiscal

Year Mail Freight Total % Change

2015 35,482 2,170,825 2,206,307 0.9%

2016 41,005 2,178,601 2,219,606 0.6%

2017 37,928 2,209,986 2,247,914 1.2%

2018 42,717 2,325,899 2,368,616 5.4%

2019 37,013 2,309,228 2,346,241 -0.9%

2020 32,402 2,268,649 2,301,051 -1.9%

2021 31,230 2,614,726 2,645,956 15.0%

2022 30,132 2,777,008 2,807,140 6.1%

2023 26,583 2,744,398 2,770,981 -1.3%

2024 23,850 2,893,243 2,917,093 5.3%

(Unaudited)

Air Cargo Activity
Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2015 to 2024
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Year Population

Total Personal 

Income                

(In Thousands)

Per Capita 

Personal 

Income

Average 

Unemployment 

Rate

Civilian Labor 

Force 

 Median 

Age 

2015 2,653,934      $116,553,169 $43,917 6.2% 1,321,033      40

2016 2,696,353      $123,276,064 $45,440 5.8% 1,334,404      40

2017 2,743,095      $132,712,999 $49,166 5.0% 1,375,376      40

2018 2,779,322      $143,041,608 $51,009 3.7% 1,354,012      40

2019 2,812,130      $149,596,954 $55,424 2.9% 1,380,967      40

2020 2,701,767      $151,937,700 $56,363 8.2% 1,280,601      40

2021 2,731,939      $173,671,361 $65,052 5.5% 1,323,692      40

2022 2,757,592      $188,443,548 $70,497 2.6% 1,371,121      41

2023 2,768,954      $202,003,477 $75,182 1.8% 1,385,768      41

2024 2,774,841              (1)      (1) 2.2% 1,394,304      41

Source:  U.S Bureau of Labor Statistics

U.S. Census Bureau

Florida Legislature, Office of Economic and Demographic Research

Legend: (1) Information unavailable as of the date of this report.

Miami-Dade County Population and 
Per Capita Personal Income

Last Ten Calendar Years

(Unaudited)
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2024 2015

Employer Employees Rank

Percentage of 

Total County 

Employment Employees Rank

Percentage of 

Total County 

Employment

Miami-Dade County Public Schools 35,497      1 2.55% 31,000          1 2.35%

Miami-Dade County  29,495      2 2.12% 24,692          2 1.87%

University of Miami 22,566      3 1.62% 13,864          5 1.05%

Jackson Health System 14,249      4 1.02% 8,163           8 0.62%

Publix Super Markets 14,146      5 1.01%

American Airlines 11,297      6 0.81% 11,773          7 0.89%

Amazon Airlines 7,383        7 0.53%

Walmart 7,373        8 0.53%

Florida International University 6,597        9 0.47% 4,951           9 0.37%

Miami-Dade College 5,958        10 0.43%

City of Miami 3,820           10 0.29%

Baptist Health South Florida 13,369          6 1.01%

U.S. Federal Government 19,300          3 1.46%

Florida State Government 19,200          4 1.45%

154,561 11.09% 150,132 11.36%

Source: Florida Department of Commerce (FloridaCommerce), Bureau of Workforce Statistics & Economic Research

           The Beacon Council, Miami, Florida, Miami Business Profile

Principal Employers in Miami-Dade County
Current Year and Nine Years Previous 

(Unaudited)
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2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Pledged Revenues $892,846 $925,548 $913,151 $931,800 $947,457 $721,677 $775,605 $952,706 $1,154,803 $1,114,966

Expenses 402,831  415,554  429,974  454,871  480,910  452,022  471,836  514,331  547,863     604,572     

Net Revenues 490,015  509,994  483,177  476,929  466,547  269,655  303,769  438,375  606,940     510,394     

Reserve Maintenance Fund Deposit 17,000   25,000   30,000   20,000   15,000   15,000   15,000   15,000   20,000      30,000      

Net Revenues after Deposits 473,015  484,994  453,177  456,929  451,547  254,655  288,769  423,375  586,940     480,394     

Principal & Interest Requirement 307,028  307,386  300,068  301,326  304,940  174,602  145,108  230,333  270,009     259,320     

Debt Service Coverage Ratio (x) 1.54       1.58       1.51       1.52       1.48       1.46       1.99       1.84       2.17          1.85          

(Unaudited)

Revenue Bond Debt Service Coverage
Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2015 to 2024

(In Thousands)
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Debt Service Coverage Ratio (X)
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Miami-Dade Aviation Department 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

  Number of airports 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5

  Number of runways

Miami International 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Opa-Locka 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Tamiami 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Homestead 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Training & Transition Airport 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Capital Assets
Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2015 to 2024

(Unaudited)
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